

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2011

HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR INNATE IMMUNE

RESPONSES

Jérôme Lugrin

(author) (year) (title)

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive. http://serval.unil.ch

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur **et/ou de l'éditeur** avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.

Unil

UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Département de Médecine Interne, Service des Maladies Infectieuses

HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Jérôme LUGRIN

Biologiste Master de l'Université de Lausanne

Jury

Prof. François Spertini, Président PD, Dr. Thierry Roger, Directeur de thèse Prof. Thierry Calandra, Co-directeur Prof. Regine Landmann, Experte Prof. Jacques-Antoine Haefliger, Expert

Lausanne 2011

Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Ecole Doctorale

Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président	Monsieur	Prof. François Spertini
Directeur de thèse	Monsieur	Dr Thierry Roger
Co-directeur de thèse	Monsieur	Prof. Thierry Calandra
Experts	Madame	Prof. Regina Landmann
	Monsieur	Dr Jacques-Antoine Haefliger

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Monsieur Jérôme Lugrin

Master of Science Université de Lausanne

intitulée

HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR **INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES**

Lausanne, le 30 septembre 2011

pour Le Doyen de la Faculté de Biologie et de Médecine

Mu Kin

Prof. François Spertin

SUMMARY

The innate immune system plays a central role in host defenses against invading pathogens. Innate immune cells sense the presence of pathogens through pattern recognition receptors that trigger intracellular signaling, leading to the production of pro-inflammatory mediators like cytokines, which shape innate and adaptive immune responses. Both by excess and by default inflammation may be detrimental to the host. Indeed, severe sepsis and septic shock are lethal complications of infections characterized by a dysregulated inflammatory response.

In recent years, members of the superfamily of histone deacetylases have been the focus of great interest. In mammals, histone deacetylases are broadly classified into two main subfamilies comprising histone deacetylases 1-11 (HDAC1-11) and sirtuins 1-7 (SIRT1-7). These enzymes influence gene expression by deacetylating histones and numerous non-histone proteins. Histone deacetylases have been involved in the development of oncologic, metabolic, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative and autoimmune diseases. Pharmacological modulators of histone deacetylase activity, principally inhibitors, have been developed for the treatment of cancer and metabolic diseases. When we initiated this project, several studies suggested that inhibitors of HDAC1-11 have anti-inflammatory activity. Yet, their influence on innate immune responses was largely uncharacterized. The present study was initiated to fill in this gap.

In the first part of this work, we report the first comprehensive study of the effects of HDAC1-11 inhibitors on innate immune responses *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Strikingly, expression studies revealed that HDAC1-11 inhibitors act essentially as negative regulators of basal and microbial productinduced expression of critical immune receptors and antimicrobial products by mouse and human innate immune cells like macrophages and dendritic cells. Furthermore, we describe a new molecular mechanism whereby HDAC1-11 inhibitors repress pro-inflammatory cytokine expression through the induction of the expression and the activity of the transcriptional repressor Mi-2 β . HDAC1-11 inhibitors also impair the potential of macrophages to engulf and kill bacteria. Finally, mice treated with an HDAC inhibitor are more susceptible to non-severe bacterial and fungal infection, but are protected against toxic and septic shock. Altogether these data support the concept that HDAC1-11 inhibitors have potent anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays a central role in innate immune responses, cell proliferation and oncogenesis. In the second part of this manuscript, we demonstrate that HDAC1-11 inhibitors inhibit MIF expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* and describe a novel molecular mechanism accounting for these effects. We propose that inhibition of MIF expression by HDAC1-11 inhibitors may contribute to the antitumorigenic and anti-inflammatory effects of these drugs.

 NAD^+ is an essential cofactor of sirtuins activity and one of the major sources of energy within the cells. Therefore, sirtuins link deacetylation to NAD^+ metabolism and energy status. In the last part of this thesis, we report preliminary results indicating that a pharmacological inhibitor of SIRT1-2 drastically decreases pro-inflammatory cytokine production (RNA and protein) and interferes with MAP kinase intracellular signal transduction pathway in macrophages. Moreover, administration of the SIRT1-2 inhibitor protects mice from lethal endotoxic shock and septic shock.

Overall, our studies demonstrate that inhibitors of HDAC1-11 and sirtuins are powerful antiinflammatory molecules. Given their profound negative impact on the host antimicrobial defence response, these inhibitors might increase the susceptibility to opportunistic infections, especially in immunocompromised cancer patients. Yet, these inhibitors might be useful to control the inflammatory response in severely ill septic patients or in patients suffering from chronic inflammatory diseases.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to express my gratitude to the members of the jury, Professor François Spertini, president of the jury, Doctor Thierry Roger, thesis director, Professor Thierry Calandra, thesis co-director, Professor Regine Landmann and Professor Jacques-Antoine Haefliger both external experts.

I am grateful to Dr. Thierry Roger for giving me the opportunity to work on the hot topic that is the role of histone deacetylase inhibitors as modulator of innate immune responses. It was a great chance for me at that time to find a challenging work in a stimulating environment. I thank him for daring to hire a plant molecular biologist with a small baggage in immunology. It is appreciable being leaded by someone with a great knowledge in immunology. Thierry moreover possesses a great team spirit and natural joyousness that renders work easier.

I also would like to thank Prof. Thierry Calandra. He is always of good advice and is able to detect the problems that could be encountered with an astonishing accuracy. I thank him for the fruitful and stimulating discussions shared during the lab meetings. I am thankful to him for hosting me as young researcher in his service.

I thank all the lab members for their support. I express my best thanks to Dr. Didier Le Roy who performed the animal experiments. His friendship, good mood and his ability to listen make him precious teammate. I thank Anne-Laure Chanson and Marlies Knaup for the experiments they performed and for their friendship. I would like to express a special thank to Ivana Rubino, Julie Delaloye, Arnold Probst and Amiel Olivos with whom I share(d) daily pains and joys of being PhD students. I thank the other members of the laboratory, Laurence Guignard, Jacqueline Andrighetto, Eric Gianonni and all the members from the laboratories of Pierre-Yves Bochud and Andrej Trampuz for their support and the good advice they share during lab meetings.

Finally my family and especially my wife Isabelle have to be thanked for her patience and the strength she gives me each and every day. She is always present in my mind and my heart and is the best support that I can dream of.

ABBREVIATIONS

Ad	Adenovirus					
AKT	AKR mouse T-cell lymphoma (serine/threonine protein kinase)					
BMDC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell					
BMDM	Bone marrow-derived macrophage					
CARD	Caspase-recruiting domain					
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation					
CLP	Cecal ligation and puncture					
CLR	C-type lectin receptor					
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase 2					
CpG	Cytosine-phosphate-guanosine					
CRE	cAMP responsive element					
CREB	CRE-binding protein					
DAMP	Danger associated molecular pattern					
DC	Dendritic cell					
DDT	D-dopachrome tautomerase					
dsRNA	Double-stranded ribonucleic acid					
DUSP	Dual-specific phosphatase					
ELISA	Enzyme-linked imunosorbent assay					
ERK	Extracelluar signal regulated kinase					
ETS	E26 transformation specific					
FOXO	Forkhead-containing protein type O					
HAT	Histone acetyl-transferase					
HDAC	Histone deacetylase					
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration					
IFN	Interferon					
ІкВ	Inhibitor of KB					
IL	Interleukin					
IL-1R	Interleukin-1 receptor					
IRAK	IL-1 receptor associated kinase					
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor					
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal Kinase					
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology 2					
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide					
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat					
MAL	MyD88 adaptor-like protein (also named TIRAP)					
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase					
MD-2	Myeloid differentiation-2					
MHC-II	Major histocompatibility complex class II molecule					
MIF	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor					

MKP	MAPK phosphatase
moDC	Monocyte-derived debdritic cell
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
NaB	Sodium butyrate
NAD ⁺ /NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (oxidized/reduced)
NALP	NACHT domain-, leucine-rich repeat-, and PYD-containing protein
Nam	Nicotinamide
NAMPT	Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase/PBEF/Visfatin
NBD	Nucleotide-binding domain
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-KB
NLR	NOD-like receptor
p38	p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase
Pam ₃ CSK ₄	Palmitoyl-cys ((RS)-2, 3-di (palmitoyloxy)-propyl)-Ser-Lys-Lys-Lys-OH
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I
RLR	RIG-like receptor
RT-PCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
SIRT	Sirtuin (mammalian homolog of SIR2)
SIR2	Silent information regulator 2
ssRNA	Single-stranded ribonucleic acid
TIR	Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor
TIRAP	Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor domain containing adaptor (also named MAL)
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAF	Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adaptor inducing interferon β
TSA	Trichostatin A
SAHA	Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
VPA	Valproic acid

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	8
	1.1	Innate immunity	
	1.2	Toll-like receptors	9
	1.3	Signaling through Toll-like receptors	10
	1.4	RIG-like receptors, NOD-like receptors and C-type lectin receptors	12
	1.5	Innate Immunity, sepsis and septic shock	13
	1.6	Chromatin dynamics and modifications	14
	1.6.1	Histone proteins and nucleosomes	15
	1.6.2	Chromatin modifications	16
	1.6.3	Regulation of transcription through histone modifications	16
	1.6.4	Acetylation of histone proteins	17
	1.6.5	Histone deacetylases (HDACs)	17
	1.6.6	Physiology of class I, II and IV HDACs	19
	1.6.7	Non-histone targets of HDACs	20
	1.7	Histone deacetylase inhibitors	21
	1.7.1	Discovery and mechanisms of action	21
	1.7.2	HDAC inhibitors as potential therapies for inflammatory	
		and autoimmune disorders	23
	1.8	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor	25
	1.8.1	MIF gene	25
	1.8.2	Regulation of <i>MIF</i> gene expression	26
	1.8.3	MIF protein	
	1.8.4	MIF function	
	1.8.5	MIF as a link between inflammation and cancer	
	1.9	Aim of the study	
	1.10	References	
2	HIS	TONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR INNATE IMMUNE	
	RES	SPONSES TO TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR AGONISTS AND INFECTION	
	2.1	Summary	
2	шс	τονε δελσετνί λεε ινηιρίτορς ιμαλία αντιρλωτεριλί	
3	DF	FINCES OF MACROPHAGES	55
	3.1	Abstract	55
	3.2	Introduction	57
	3.3	Material and Methods	
	3.3.1	Cells and reagents	59
	332	Assay for bacterial untake and bacterial killing	59
	3.3.3	RNA analysis by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	
	3.3.4	Flow cvtometric analysis	
	3.3.5	Analysis of oxidative burst using the dichlorofluorescein	
	5.010	diacetate fluorescence assay	61
	3.3.6	Western blot analysis	
	3.3.7	Nitrite/nitrate measurements	
	3.3.8	Statistics	
	3.4	Results	62
	3.4.1	HDACi inhibit bacterial phagocytosis by macrophages	62

	3.4.2	HDACi impair the expression of phagocytic receptors	
	3.4.3	HDACI inhibit bacterial Killing	
	3.4.4	HDACI inhibit nitric oxide production and <i>iNes</i> gone expression	
	3.4.5	Discussion	60 68
	3.5	Discussion Rafarancas	00 71
	5.0	References	
4	HIS	TONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS REPRESS MACROPHAGE MIGRATION FOR THE CENE	ON
		IDITORI FACTOR (MIF) EXPRESSION DI TARGETING MIF GENE	76
	1 KA	INSURIPTION THROUGH A LOCAL CHROMATIN DEACETYLATION Summany	
	4.1	Summary	
5	EPI	GENETIC CONTROL OF MIF EXPRESSION	
	5.1	Abstract	89
	5.2	Epigenetics	90
	5.3	DNA Methylation	90
	5.4	Post-transcriptional modifications by histone deacetylases	91
	5.5	MIF gene structure, expression and transcriptional regulation	93
	5.5.1	MIF gene structure and expression	
	5.5.2	MIF gene transcriptional regulation	94
	5.6	Epigenetic control of MIF expression	96
	5.6.1	The MIF promoter is not methylated	96
	5.6.2	Inhibition of DNA methyl transferases (DNMTs)	
		does not affect <i>MIF</i> gene expression	96
	5.6.3	Inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) impairs <i>MIF</i> gene expression	97
	5.6.4	Mechanisms by which HDAC inhibitors inhibit <i>MIF</i> gene expression	98
	5.7	Conclusions	99
	5.8	References	100
6	CAN	ARINOL AN INHIRITOR OF SIDTIIN1 AND SIDTIIN2 DEACETVI ASES	
U		IDINOL, AN INIIIDITOR OF SIRTOINT AND SIRTOINZ DEACETTEASES. IDITC INNATE IMMIINE DECONNEES	, 106
	INП 6 1	IDIIS INNAIE IMMUNE REFUNSES	100
	611	Sirtuing the class III HDACs	107
	612	Targets of sirtuins	108
	613	Sirtuins longevity and cancer and age related diseases	100
	614	Sirtuins and inflammatory disorders	111
	615	Small molecules inhibitors of Sirtuin activities	113
	6.1.6	Rational for the use of sirtuin inhibitors as anti-inflammatory agents	114
	6.2	Material and Methods	115
	6.2.1	Ethics statement	115
	6.2.2	Mice, cells and reagents	115
	6.2.3	RNA analyses by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	115
	6.2.4	Cytokine measurements	116
	6.2.5	Nitric oxide assay	116
	6.2.6	Flow cytometry	117
	6.2.7	Western blot analyses	117
	6.2.8	Cell viability assay	118
	6.2.9	In vitro microbial growth	118
	6.2.1	וווייס <i>In vivo</i> models	118
	6.2.1	1 Statistical analysis	118

6.3	Results	119
6.3.1	Cambinol inhibits cytokine secretion by BMDMs stimulated	
	with microbial products	119
6.3.2	Cambinol inhibits Tnf, Il6 and Il12b mRNA synthesis in BMDMs	120
6.3.3	Cambinol inhibits IL-1 β production by BMDMs	121
6.3.4	Cambinol inhibits NO production by BMDMs	
6.3.5	Cambinol inhibits CD40 expression by BMDMs	122
6.3.6	Cambinol does not impact on the expression of macrophage	
	differentiation markers	123
6.3.7	Modulation of TLR and Nalp3 expression by cambinol	124
6.3.8	Cambinol does not increase overall histone H3 acetylation	125
6.3.9	Cambinol does not impair NF-кВ p65 translocation,	
	but inhibits MAPK phosphorylation	126
6.3.10	O Cambinol impairs cytokine production by splenocytes,	
	whole blood and PBMCs	127
6.3.12	1 Cambinol protects mice from lethal endotoxemia	129
6.3.12	2 Cambinol confers protection to severe sepsis	130
6.4	Discussion	
6.5	References	136

7 (CONCLUDING REMARKS & PERSPECTIVES	143	3
-----	-----------------------------------	-----	---

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Innate immunity

The innate immune system plays a crucial role in host defenses against invading microorganisms. The innate immune system is activated as soon as a pathogen crosses the host external defense barriers, lasts for a few hours, and usually results in the elimination of the invading microorganism. Detection of microbial pathogens is first carried out by phagocytic sentinel cells located in tissues in direct contact with the host's natural environment (monocytes/macrophages and immature dendritic cells) or that are rapidly recruited to the site of infection (neutrophils). This process involves coordinated actions of soluble and cellular molecules comprising components of the complement system, acute phase proteins such as the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding protein (LBP), extracellular or intracellular pattern-recognition types of molecules including the Toll-like receptors (TLRs), the nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and scavenger receptors. Recognition of invasive pathogens by immune cells relies on their capacity to detect microbial molecular motifs (*i.e.* microbial- or pathogen-associated molecular patterns, PAMPs) via microbial- or pathogen-recognition receptors/molecules (PRRs) (Figure 1.1) (1-3).



Figure 1.1. Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). In response to microbial products, distinct families of receptors trigger intracellular signaling cascades that lead to immune responses planned to eradicate invading pathogens. Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLR), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) recognize molecular patterns derived from bacteria, viruses, protozoa and fungi.

1.2 Toll-like receptors

TLRs recognize a broad spectrum of microbial products (**Table 1.1**). Thirteen members of the TLR family (TLR1-13) have been identified within human and mouse genomes, but only TLR1-10 are expressed in human. TLR4 was the first discovered and remains the most studied TLR. TLR4 is involved in the sensing of LPS, a pro-inflammatory component of the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria. TLR4 forms a complex with MD-2 on the cell surface and both of these proteins are necessary in the recognition of the lipid chains of LPS. The plasmatic LPS-binding protein (LBP) binds to the lipid A moiety of LPS and transfers LPS to CD14. CD14 is a glycophosphatidylinositol-anchored protein expressed on the surface of myeloid cells that binds to LBP and delivers the LBP-LPS complex to the TLR4-MD-2 complex. Finally, TLR4 provides the signal transduction of the LPS receptor complex.

TLR2 is involved in the sensing of a broad array of microbial products among which bacterial lipopetides and peptidoglycan sub-components and fungal mannans and glucans. TLR2 forms homodimers and heterodimers with TLR1 and TLR6. Homodimers of TLR2 recognize, for example, peptidoglycan, lipoteichoic acid (LTA) from Gram-positive bacteria. The TLR1/2 heterodimer is involved in the recognition of triacyl lipopeptides (Pam₃CSK₄) from Gram-positive bacteria and mycobacteria and the TLR2/6 heterodimer recognizes diacyl lipopetides from mycoplasma, LTA from *Streptococcus* and zymosan from *Saccharomyces* (4,5)). The recognition of certain microbial products by TLR2 involves the participation of co-receptors such as CD14, CD36 and Dectin-1 (5).

TLR5 is implicated in the detection of flagellin, a constituent of flagella from bacteria. The last TLR expressed on cell surface is TLR11. TLR11 is involved in the recognition of uropathogenic bacteria and profilin-like molecules in mice. Of note, TLR11 is thought to be non-functional in human due to a stop codon in its sequence. TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 reside in the intracellular vesicles (endoplasmic reticulum (ER), endosomes, lysosomes and endolysosomes) and are responsible for the recognition of microbial nucleic acids. TLR3 recognizes both viral single- and double-stranded RNA. TLR7 and TLR8 recognize viral single-stranded RNA. TLR9 detects viral double-stranded DNA, sequence specific unmethylated CpG motifs expressed in DNA from bacteria and viruses and also hemozoin from *Plasmodium* (5). TLR12 and TLR13 are expressed in mouse but their function remains

TLR	Location	PAMPs recognized	Origin of ligands	Signaling adaptors
TLR1/2	Plasma membrane	Triacyl-lipopeptide	Bacteria, Mycobacteria	MAL/TIRAP, MyD88
TLR2	Plasma membrane	Peptidoglycan Lipoteichoic acid Zymosan	Gram-positive bacteria Fungi	MAL/TIRAP, MyD88
TLR3	Endosome	ssRNA and dsRNA Poly(I:C)	Viruses Synthetic	TRIF
TLR4	Plasma membrane	LPS Mannan Glycoinosiolphospholipids F-protein Envelope	Gram-negative bacteria Candida Trypanosoma RSV, MMTV	MAL/TIRAP, MyD88, TRAM and TRIF
TLR5	Plasma membrane	Flagellin	Flagelated bacteria	MyD88
TLR6/2	Plasma membrane	Diacyl lipopeptides LTA Zymosan	Mycoplasma, bacteria Gram-positive bacteria Saccharomyces	MAL/TIRAP, MyD88
TLR7	Endosome	ssRNA Imidazoquinolines (imiquimod, R848) and nucleosides analogues	Viruses Synthetic compounds	MyD88
TLR8	Endosome	ssRNA Imidazoquinolines (R848)	Viruses Synthetic compounds	MyD88
TLR9	Endosome	Unmethylated CpG DNA	Bacteria, fungi, virus	MyD88
TLR11 (mouse)	Plasma membrane	Profilin, Uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> Chromatin Ig-G complexes	Bacteria , yeasts, viruses Host	MyD88

Table 1.1. Toll-like receptors, their ligands and adaptor molecules. Adapted from *Kumar et al., Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2009* (5).

1.3 Signaling through Toll-like receptors

The N-terminal extracellular domain of TLRs, which is composed 16-28 leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), is responsible for the recognition of PAMPs. The intracellular domain triggers downstream signaling and is composed of a Toll/IL-1 receptor domain (TIR). TIR domain is responsible for the recruitment of adaptor molecules that in turn will initiate intracellular signaling cascades (**Figure 1.2**). All TLRs excepted TLR3 interact with the adaptor myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88 (MyD88) (**Table 1.1**). TLR1, TLR2, TLR4 and TLR6 recruit in addition to MyD88 the linker protein TIR domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP also known as MAL) that bridges TIR

domains from TLRs and MyD88. Ligand binding by TLR3 and TLR4 recruits TIR domain-containing adaptor inducing interferon- β (TRIF also named TICAM-1). TLR4 recruits TRIF trough TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM or TICAM-2) that bridges between TIR domains of TLRs and TRIF. MyD88 activates the IL-1 receptor associated kinase (IRAK) family that leads to the activation of TNF receptor-associated factor (TRAF) 6. TRAF6 promotes activation of TGF-beta-activated kinase (TAK) 1 that in turn activates inhibitor of κ B (I κ B) kinase (IKK) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) which lead to the activation of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factors, respectively (5). Activation of IRAK-1 via TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 leads to phosphorylation and subsequent activation of interferon (IFN) regulatory factor (IRF) 1, IRF5 and IRF7. TLR3 and TLR4 signal leads in the production of type I IFNs. TRIF activates TRAF3 that serves as a linker to TBK1, which phosphorylates and activates the transcription factor IRF3. IRF3 is responsible for the induction of type I IFNs. TRIF can also activate the NF- κ B and MAPK pathways via interaction with RIP1 that activates TAK1 (**Figure 1.2**) (2,5).



Figure 1.2. Toll-like receptor signaling. TLR1, 2, 4, 5, 6 and 11 are located on cell surface. TLR3, 7, 8 and 9 are located in endosomes. All TLRs, except TLR3, recruit the adaptor protein MyD88 through their TIR-domain. TLR3 and TLR4 also recruit TRIF.

AP-1, NF-κB and IRF transcription factors promote the rapid expression of numerous immune-related genes leading to the production and release of cytokines, among which tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukins (IL)-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12 and IL-18, chemokines and IFNs, together with the up-regulation of cell surface molecules, such as major histocompatibility class II (MHC II), adhesins, selectins, integrins and co-stimulatory molecules. All these events are involved in the development of an inflammatory response, which is essential to coordinate the cellular and humoral responses intended to contain or eradicate invasive microorganisms (6).

1.4 **RIG-like receptors, NOD-like receptors and C-type lectin receptors**

RLRs are specialized in the recognition of viral RNA present in the cytoplasm, thus triggering the transcription of type I IFNs as well as pro-inflammatory cytokine genes (**Figure 1.1**). The RLR family is composed of three members: RIG-I, melanoma differentiation associated gene 5 (MDA5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2). RIG-I binds 5'-triphosphate of ssRNAs and short dsRNAs whereas MDA5 detects longer dsRNAs and poly-IC. RIG-I have been involved in the sensing of paramyxoviruses (Sendai virus and Newcastle disease virus), orthomyxoviruses (influenza virus), rhabdoviruses (vesicular stomatitis virus) and flaviviruses (Japanese encephalitis virus and hepatitis C virus), and MDA-5 in the sensing of picornaviruses (Flaviviruses) and reoviruses are detected by both RIG-I and MDA-5. LGP2 acts as an inhibitor of RIG-I and MDA-5 by binding to their RNA binding domain, but can also act in some circumstances as a positive regulator of MDA5 in the recognition of specific viruses (2,7).

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) are located in the cytosol and detect a broad range of PAMPs and danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from both endogenous and exogenous origins. NLRs are constituted of three domains: a N-terminal protein interaction domain, a central nucleotide binding domain and a C-terminal leucine-rich repeat (LRR). Members of the NLR family are classified into subcategories according to their N-terminal protein interaction domain which are acidic transactivation domain (NLRA), baculovirus inhibitor of apoptosis protein repeat [BIR] (NLRB), CARD (NLRC), pyrin domain (NLRP) or unknown domain

(NLRX). NOD1 and NOD2 (also called NLRC1 and NLRC2, respectively) are able to recognize components of peptdioglycan (PGN). NOD1 recognizes γ -D-glutamyl-meso-diaminopimelic acid (iE-DAP) and NOD2 muramyl dipeptide (MDP), which is the main constituent of PGN motif. NOD1 and NOD2 sensing of bacterial cell wall activates signaling via MAPK and NF- κ B that results in the production of inflammatory cytokines and anti-microbial proteins (2) (**Figure 1.1**).

NLRs respond to PAMPs or DAMPs and promote the release of bioactive cleaved IL-1 β and IL-18 after the assembly of "inflammasomes". NLRs forming inflammasomes are NALP1 (NLRP1), NALP3 (NLRP3), IPAF (NLRC4) and NAIP (NLRB) (2). Signaling occurs between PYD or CARD domains of NLRP1, NLRP3 and IPAF and the PYD domain of the adaptor molecule ASC that, through its CARD domain, interacts with and activates pro-caspase-1 into caspase-1. Finally, activated caspase-1 cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18, leading to the secretion of bioactive IL-1 β and IL-18 (**Figure 1.1**).

CLRs are another class of transmembrane PRRs (**Figure 1.1**). They are involved in the recognition of a wide range of pathogens including bacteria, fungi, viruses and parasites. Some representatives of this class are dectin-1 that recognizes β -glucans and dectin-2 that recognizes mannose from yeast and bacteria. Recognition of pathogens by CLRs induces the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, promotes phagocytosis and stimulates the respiratory burst. Signaling occurs through the ITAM domain of dectins or their associated signaling partners. ITAM promotes phosphorylation of SYK that activates CARD9, which activates the NF- κ B and MAPKs signaling pathways (8).

1.5 Innate Immunity, sepsis and septic shock

The regulation of innate immune responses has to be tightly controlled in order to coordinate the cellular and humoral responses intended to contain or eradicate invasive microorganisms. If the host fails to mount a sufficient inflammatory response, microbes will proliferate, compromising host integrity. Conversely, an overwhelming inflammatory response will lead to a cascade of events leading to shock, multiple organ failure and often death (**Figure 1.3**).

Severe sepsis and septic shock are life-threatening complications of infections. Sepsis is defined as a systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) with a known or suspected source of infection. Severe sepsis is characterized by organ dysfunction, and septic shock by vasopressor-resistant hypotension (9). Mortality associated with severe sepsis and septic shock is considerable, ranging from 20-35% in the case of severe sepsis to 50-80% for septic shock (10). Severe sepsis and septic shock are the leading cause of death in non-coronary intensive care units. It is consequently of primary interest to develop treatments blocking or controlling the overwhelming inflammatory responses in order to decrease morbidity and mortality related to the early phase of sepsis (11,12). The control of the expression of cytokines is therefore a key aspect from a therapeutic point of view.



Figure 1.3. Sepsis, a dysregulated inflammatory response to infection. Host immune response to infection usually leads to pathogen elimination, tissue healing and full recovery. Sepsis is characterized in its early phase by an overwhelming inflammatory response which is involved in tissue damage, vascular collapse and multiple organ failure. Late phase of sepsis is characterized by a state of immune suppression that favors the development of secondary life-threatening infections. Adapted from *Van der Poll T & Opal SM, Lancet Infectious Diseases 2008* (11).

1.6 Chromatin dynamics and modifications

Chromatin is a highly ordered structure mainly composed of DNA and histones proteins. Condensed chromatin, also called heterochromatin, is associated with non-transcribed regions of the genome such as telomeres, centromeres and silenced genes. The condensation or packaging is a necessity in terms of space improvement within the nucleus and it allows strengthening of DNA during mitosis and meiosis (**Figure 1.4**). On the contrary, euchromatin is defined as relaxed and accessible chromatin, essentially found in transcribed regions of the genome.



Figure 1.4. Nucleosome histone core and chromatin structure. (**A**) Histone proteins H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 compose the core of the nucleosome. Histone N-terminal tails protrude through DNA wrapped around the histone core. Histone tails contain lysine residues (K) that accommodate post-translational modifications. Here are represented the lysine residues known to be acetyated in a reversible manner. (**B**) Histone octamers around which DNA is wrapped compose a dynamic structure with the ability to compact and decompact DNA.

1.6.1 Histone proteins and nucleosomes

Histones are acidic proteins forming octamers of two histone 2A (H2A), H2B, H3 and H4 subunits, around which 147 bp DNA is wrapped in 1.67 turns. The DNA-histone octamer complex is called nucleosome and is the first scaffold for DNA compaction. H3 and H4 (and H2B to a lesser extent) from adjacent nucleosomes can interact with each other through their N-terminal tails that protrude throughout DNA (13,14). These interactions are made possible by post-translational modifications predominantly on the amino-terminal tails of histones. Post-translational modifications of histones especially on lysine, arginine and serine residues of H2B, H3 and H4 tails such as acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, ADP-ribosylation, and deimination (citrullination) mediate interactions between histone tails and control the turnover of histones. These modifications are catalyzed by pairs of enzymes with opposing activities, adding or removing functional groups (15). Histone modifications were stated about ten years ago to form an epigenetic marking system called the "histone code" (16,17) where a modification or a pattern of modifications dictate the ability of other proteins to "read" the code and promote changes in the chromatin dynamics. Combinatorial modifications of histones likely reflect a given task, but efforts made to resolve a predictable code remains largely unsuccessful. Yet, this code is now commonly

accepted to influence the chromatin-associated processes under normal and pathological situations (18).

1.6.2 Chromatin modifications

Chromatin can be modified through two major ways. First, histones can be replaced, ejected or sled along DNA. Second, histones can undergo post-translational modifications. All these events may occur at the same time in a dynamic manner. It takes only few minutes for the cell to react to a stimulus and apply these mechanisms to modify the chromatin. The major functions for these processes are the interruption of contact between nucleosomes (decompaction) and the allowance for the recruitment of transcription regulators or, conversely, the compaction of nucleosomes and undocking of transcription regulators (**Figure 1.5**). This results in the partition of the genome into heterochromatin and euchromatin in order to regulate the expression of large subsets of genes. These modifications also act at the local level, particularly on the promoter of highly regulated genes, providing a supplementary level of fine-tuning of gene transcription (15).

1.6.3 Regulation of transcription through histone modifications

The main histone modifications affecting transcription rate are methylation (lysine and arginine), acetylation (lysine) and sumoylation (lysine) of H3 and H4 and ubiquitination of H2A and H2B. Distribution of histone modifications along a given gene is not arbitrary and correlates with its transcription rate as revealed by experiments of ChIP followed by gene-array expression (ChIP on chip). For example, acetylated H3 and H4 containing nucleosomes are usually located in the promoter region of actively transcribed genes. The same correlation can be found with tri-methylated H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3). On the contrary, H3K27me is associated with inactive transcription (19). Histone variants are also involved in the regulation of transcription but this topic will not be dealt with in subsequent studies. Regulation of transcription the promotion and remodeling is not restricted to the recruitment of transcription regulators. It has also been described to affect transcription initiation and elongation (19).

1.6.4 Acetylation of histone proteins

Acetylation of lysine residues on the tails of H3 and H4 histones is associated with relaxed transcriptionnally active chromatin (20,21), whereas hypo-acetylated histones are commonly associated with condensed chromatin of silent regions of the genome (22) (**Figure 1.5**). Acetylation of H3 and H4 brings negative charges that neutralize the positively charged core of histones, consequently hampering the interaction between histone tails and phosphate groups of DNA (23). The acetylation of histones is catalyzed by proteins that possess histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity, such as CREB binding protein (CREBBP or CBP), E1A binding protein p300 (EP300 or p300), P300/CBP-associated factor (PCAF), general control of amino acid synthesis protein-like 5 (GCN5/KAT2A) and 60kDa Tat-interacting protein (TIP60/KAT5) (18). CBP/p300, PCAF/GCN5, and HATs in general are regulators of DNA transcription, replication, repair and condensation (15). On the contrary, histone deacetylases (HDACs) deacetylate histones H3 and H4 on lysine residues of their N-terminal tails that make them "stick" to DNA.



Figure 1.5. Chromatin structure and transcriptional activity. Recruitment of complexes with HAT activity allows histone acetylation and thus decompaction of DNA and recruitment of transcription regulators. Recruitment of HDACs to promoter regions promotes deacetylation of histones, DNA compaction and exclusion of transcription regulators. Ac: acetylation, HAT: histone acetyltransferase, HDAC: histone deacetylase M: methylation, TF: transcription factor.

1.6.5 Histone deacetylases (HDACs)

HDACs catalyze the cleavage of acetyl groups from lysine residues of histone H3 and H4 as well as non-histone proteins. Eighteen mammalian HDACs have been identified and classified into four classes based on their homology with yeast HDACs (24) as well as their subcellular localization and their enzymatic activity (25) (**Figure 1.6**).



Figure 1.6. Classification of mammalian histone deacetylases (HDACs) according to their enzymatic activity and sub-cellular localization. Class I HDACs are localized in nucleus, class IIa and IIb in nucleus and cytoplasm and class IV predominantly in the nucleus. Class IIb HDACs possess two catalytic sites. Adapted from *Bolden et al., Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2006* (31).

Class I HDACs are homologues of yeast Rpd3 and include HDACs 1, 2, 3 and 8 and are found uniquely in the nucleus of most cell lines and tissues. Class IIa contains HDACs 4, 5, 7 and 9. Class IIb includes HDACs 6 and 10, which are closely related to class IIa enzymes, but possess two deacetylation catalytic sites (one of which is inactive in HDAC10). Classes II are related to yeast Hda1 and can be found in both the nucleus and the cytoplasm of some cell types. Classes I and II are Zn^{2+} -

dependent enzymes. Class IV, solely represented by HDAC11, has only been recently characterized (**Figure 1.6**) (26). Class III enzymes are related to the yeast Sir2p and are called sirtuins (SIRT) or sir2-like proteins (see **chapter 6**). Sirtuins are NAD⁺-dependent enzymes. Of note they are not sensitive to inhibitors of classes I, II and IV HDACs. Like other HDACs, sirtuins can deacetylate lysines of non-histone proteins (27).

1.6.6 Physiology of class I, II and IV HDACs

Class I HDACs are generally found in repressive complexes such as Sin3, NuRD, CoREST, PRC2 and N-CoR-SMRT. Class I HDACs play a critical role in development (32). Eventhough their closey related structure and function might let one anticipate functional redundancy, null-phenotype of each class I HDAC results in non-viable mice (**Table 1.2**). Class IIa HDACs possess a reduced enzymatic activity and mainly function as adaptors recruiting transcriptional regulators as well as class I HDACs. Class IIa HDACs are involved in skeletogenesis and cardiovascular growth and function, regulate muscle differentiation and control endothelial function (32). As a main tubulin deacetylase, the class IIb HDAC6 regulates cytoskeleton dynamic (33). Like class IIa HDACs, class IV HDAC11 is expressed in heart, brain and muscle; however its precise function remains to be determined.

Class	HDAC	Time of lethality	Phenotype
Class I	HDAC1	Embryon, day 10.5	Proliferation defects
	HADC2	Postnatal, day 1	Cardiac malformation
	HDAC3	Embryon, day 9.5	Gastrulation defects
	HDAC8	Postnatal, day 1	Craniofacial defects
Class IIa	HDAC4	Postnatal, day 7-14	Chondrocyte differentiation defect in growth plate
	HDAC5	Viable	Exacerbated cardiac hypertrophy after stress
	HDAC7	Embryon, day 11	Endothelial dysfunction
	HDAC9	Viable	Exacerbated cardiac hypertrophy after stress
Class IIb	HDAC6	Viable	Increased tubulin acetylation
	HDAC10	Not determined	-
Class IV	HDAC11	Not determined	-

Table 1.2. HDACs, loss of function phenotypes in mice and time point of lethality of knockouts. Adapted from Haberland *et al.* 2009 (32).

Dysregulation of HDAC expression or activity has been involved in a variety of pathological disorders such as cancer, metabolic and inflammatory diseases (28-30). As it will be discussed later, modulators of HDAC activity are of great interest as they could be used to interfere with numerous diseases. For example, small molecules inhibiting class I, II and IV HDACS are among the most promising anti-cancer drugs under development.

1.6.7 Non-histone targets of HDACs

HDACs deacetylate a wide range of non-histone proteins including transcription factors, chaperones, nuclear receptors, transcription co-regulatory proteins, cell-cycle progression and cell death proteins and this list is in constant expansion (34). In fact non-histone proteins are the major targets for HDACs. Recently, a novel nomenclature has been proposed to denominate enzymes modifying histone lysines. HATs, histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and histone demethylases (HDMs) would be renamed K-acetyltransferases (KATs), K-methyltransferases (KMTs) and K-demethylases (KDM), respectively. In order to avoid confusion, HDACs and PRMTs (protein arginine N-methyltransferases) have not been renamed (35).

Like phosphorylation, protein acetylation is recognized as playing very important roles in cellular signaling at multiple levels. Directly or indirectly, acetylation regulates protein localization, stability, enzymatic activity and DNA binding activity, protein-protein interactions, gene expression and mRNA stability (36). Of note, acetylation can have dual effects on the function of a given protein (for example increased or decreased NF- κ B p65 DNA binding, see **Table 1.3**). Altogether, these multiple levels of action situate acetylation as a master switch as important as phosphorylation (37).

Table 1.3.	Consequences	of proteins	modification	by acetylation.	Adapted	from	Spange	et	al.,	The
Internation	al Journal of Bio	chemistry &	Cell Biology, 2	009 (36).						

Biological process	Consequence of protein acetylation				
	Increase	Decrease			
Protein stability	p53, p73, Smad7, c-Myc, Runx3, AR, H2A.z, E2F1, NF-E4, ER81, SREBP1a, HNF6, BACE1	GATA1, HIF-1a, pRb, SV40 T-Ag			
DNA binding	p53, SRY, STAT3, GATA transcription factors, E2F1, p50 (NFκB), Er, p65 (NF-κB), c-Myb,	YY1, HMG-A1, HMG-N2, p65 (NF-кВ), DEK, KLF13,			
	MyoD, HNF-4, AML1, BETA2, NF-E2, KLF13, TAL1/SCL, TAF(I)68, AP endonuclease	Fen-1			
Gene expression	p53, HMG-A1, STAT3, AR, ERα (basal), GATA, EKLF, MyoD, E2F1, p65 (NFκB), GR,	Era (ligand-bound), HIF-1a, STAT1, FOXO1,			
(Transcriptional activation or inactivation)	p73, PGC1α, MEF2D, GCMa, PLAG1, PLAGL2, Bcl-6, β-catenin, KLF5, Sp1, BETA2, Cart1, RIP140, TAF(I)68	FOXO4, RIP140			
Protein interactions	STAT3, AR, EKLF, Importin A, STAT1, TFIIB, α-tubulin, actin, cortactin	p65 (RelA), Ku70, Hsp90			
Localisation	→ nucleus	→ cytosol			
	PCAF, SRY, CtBP2, POP-1, HNF-4, PCNA	c-Abl, p300, PAP			
mRNA stability	p21, Brm	Tyrosinhydrolase (Th), eNOS			
Enzymatic activity	p300, ATM	PTEN, HDAC1, Mdm2, ACS, Neil2, Polß			
Expression of viral proteins	E1A, S-HDAg, L-HDAg, HIV Tat, SV40 T-Ag				

1.7 Histone deacetylase inhibitors

1.7.1 Discovery and mechanisms of action

HDAC inhibitors from natural or synthetically origins can be classified into five groups according to their structure: hydroxamate derivatives, cyclic peptides, aliphatic acids, benzamides and ketones (**Table 1.4**). Sodium butyrate (NaB) was the first identified HDAC inhibitor (38). This aliphatic acid is a by-product of dietary fibers anaerobic fermentation. NaB suppresses deacetylation

of histones H3 and H4 and increases the sensitivity of DNA to DNase I (39). NaB inhibits the growth and promotes the differentiation and the apoptosis of cancer cells (40,41). Valproic acid (VPA) is closely related to butyrate and belongs to the same class of short-chain fatty acids HDAC inhibitors. VPA specifically inhibits the catalytic activity of class I HDACs and induces proteasomal degradation of HDAC2 (42). As NaB, VPA induces the differentiation and apoptosis of carcinoma cells. VPA inhibits cancer development and metastasis in animal models (42,43). VPA increases brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), thereby playing a neuroprotective role (44). VPA is used to treat epilepsy and bipolar disorders. Trichostatin A (TSA) is an organic compound of the hydroxamate family first isolated as an antifungal antibiotic from Streptomyces hygroscopus. TSA is a potent inhibitor of class I and class II HDACs in vitro and in vivo (39). Like NaB and VPA, TSA exhibits anti tumorigenic effects. It induces the differentiation, inhibits the growth and promotes and apoptosis of numerous tumors among which leukemia and glioblastoma (45,46). TSA has not reached the clinics owing to its toxicity. Yet, it remains extensively used in research as a prototypical powerful HDAC inhibitor. Moreover, the structure of TSA was used to synthesize suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), a hydroxamate compound which, like TSA, inhibits class I and II HDACs. The inhibitory mechanism of SAHA is similar to that of TSA: it binds directly to the Zn catalytic pocket of HDACs and mimics a lysine residue (47). SAHA has effective anticancer activity against hematologic and solid tumors. Recently, FDA has approved SAHA (vorinostat) to treat cutaneous T-cell lymphomas (48). Overall, HDAC inhibitors have shown good safety profiles in patients with solid and hematologic tumors and are amongst the most encouraging anti-cancer drugs under development (27,31,49-51). Great efforts are devoted to design novel inhibitors of HDACs with increased specificity and activity. These molecules will allow fine tuned analyses of the role of each HDAC under physiological and pathological conditions. More importantly, they will offer new therapeutic anti-cancer therapies, especially for patients with tumors resistant to conventional therapies (52).

Class	Compound	Concentration range of activity	HDAC specificity
Short-chain fatty acid	Butyrate Valproic acid (VPA)	mM mM	Class I, IIa Class I, IIa
Hydroxamate	Trichostatin A (TSA) Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid PXD101 LAQ824 LBH589 Pyroxamide Tubacin SK-7041 SK-7068	nM µM µM nM nM µM µM nM nM	Class I, II Class I, II Class I, II Class I, II Class I, II Class I (Class II unknown) Class IIb HDACs 1 and 2 HDACs 1 and 2
Benzamide	MS-275	μΜ	HDACs 1, 2, 3, 8
Cyclic tetrapeptide Miscellaneous	Depsipeptide Trapoxin A Apicidin CHAPs Depudecin	nM nM nM nM	Class I Class I, IIa HDACs 1 and 3 Class I Class I (Class II unknown)

Table 1.4. HDAC inhibitors. Adapted from Bolden et al., Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 2006 (31).

CHAP, cyclic-hydroxamic acid containing peptide.

1.7.2 HDAC inhibitors as potential therapies for inflammatory and autoimmune disorders

Recent studies suggest that HDAC inhibitors could be used as treatment therapies for inflammatory and autoimmune disorders such as lupus, rheumatoid arthritis, autoimmune encephalitis, multiple sclerosis, graft versus host disease, asthma and colitis (**Table 1.5**) (32,49). The first model of autoimmune disease in which HDAC inhibitors have shown beneficial effects is systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). This disease is characterized by a skewed Th2 response, which promotes the production of pathogenic auto-antibodies by B cells. TSA was shown to shift the response of T cells from SLE patients from a Th2 to a Th1 phenotype (53). Moreover TSA and SAHA decreased the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and disease severity in MRL-*lpr/lpr* mice that spontaneously develop an autoimmune syndrome resembling SLE (53,54). Th2 responses are characterized by the secretion of IL-4, IL-5, IL-9 and IL-13 which promote the production of allergen-specific IgE by B cells and the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the airways. Inhibition of HDAC by TSA in a mouse experimental model of asthma reduced airway hyper-responsiveness and allergic airway inflammation as well as pulmonary cytokines and IgE levels (55).

HDAC inhibitors have also been shown to impair Th1 responses. Indeed, HDAC inhibitors such as TSA, phenylbutyrate and FR901228 (depsipeptide) improved pathological scores in mouse and rat experimental models of arthritis biased for Th1 responses. The beneficial effects of HDAC inhibitors were associated with reduced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine (among which TNF) and matrix-metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3) and MMP-13 (responsible for matrix degradation), decreased synovial fibroblasts proliferation and reduced joint destruction (56-58). In mouse models of graft-versus-host disease (GVDH), SAHA and ITF2357 (two hydroxamate derivatives) decreased the production of Th1 cytokines (TNF, IL-1, IFN γ), increased the expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO, a suppressor of DC function) in DCs and reduced gastrointestinal tract destruction (59,60).

HDAC inhibitors were also studied as potential therapy for multiple sclerosis (MS), a demyelinating disease with a chronic inflammation of central nervous system white matter (61). In experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a model of MS, TSA inhibited the activation of neuronal caspases and Th1 response of splenocytes. Of great interest, TSA also decreased spinal cord inflammation, demyelination, neuronal and axonal loss and ameliorated disability in relapsing phase of EAE (62). HDACs have also been recognized as promising therapeutic targets for many human brain or central nervous system diseases such as psychiatric (schizophrenia, drug addiction, anxiety) disorders, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Rubinstein-Taybi and Rett syndromes, Friedreich's ataxia and Huntington's disease (61,63).

Considering the anti-inflammatory properties of HDAC inhibitors, one may speculate that these drugs interfere with innate immune responses. When we started our research project, very few studies had addressed that aspect. NaB was reported to inhibit IL-12 and to induce IL-10 production by human monocytes stimulated with *Staphylococcus aureus* (64). SAHA inhibited LPS-induced secretion of TNF, IL-1 β and IFN γ by human PBMCs, and cytokine-induced nitric oxide by RAW 264.7 cells. SAHA also reduced circulating levels of TNF, IL-1 β , IL-6 and IFN γ in mouse injected with LPS (65).

Diseases	Inhibitors	Effects	References
Systemic lupus	TSA, SAHA	Th1 activation	(53,54)
erythematosus		pro-inflammatory cytokines	
Asthma	TSA	↓ pulmonary pro-inflammatory cytokines and IgE	(55)
Arthritis	TSA, NaB,	↓ pro-inflammatory cytokines in joints	(56-58)
	depsipeptide	↓ MMPs in joints	
Graft-versus-host disease	SAHA, ITF2357	↓ pro-inflammatory cytokines	(59,60)
		↑ indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase	
Multiple sclerosis	TSA	↓ activation of neuronal caspases	(61)
-		↓ pro-Th1 cytokines mRNA in splenocytes	
Colitis	VPA, SAHA	↓ pro-inflammatory cytokines	(66)
		↑ apoptosis of lamina propria lymphocytes	

Table 1.5. Beneficial effects of HDAC inhibitors therapy in experimental models of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

1.8 Macrophage migration inhibitory factor

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine found to play a crucial role in the control of innate immune responses, in the pathogenesis of sepsis, autoimmune diseases and cancers (67). The name MIF was coined in the early 1960s to describe the biological activity of a mediator released by activated lymphocytes inhibiting the migration of monocytes and exudate cells *in vitro* (68,69). MIF was rediscovered in the 90s as a factor released by anterior pituitary cells stimulated by LPS (70). MIF was thus proposed to be a linking factor of endocrine and immune systems.

1.8.1 *MIF* gene

Weiser and colleagues cloned a human *MIF* cDNA in the late 80s. They isolated the cDNA from a library established from a lectin-stimulated T-cell hybridoma (71). *MIF* is localized on chromosome 22 at position 22q11.2 (72). The *MIF* gene is less than 1 kb in length and is composed of three exons of 205, 173 and 183 bp separated by two introns of 189 and 95 bp. A single transcription start site, 95 bp upstream of the ATG, is situated in GC rich region lacking a TATA box. Yet, only one transcript of about 800 nucleotides could be identified by Northern blotting in several human tissues. The *MIF* gene is constitutively expressed in all organs, with high levels in the liver, kidney, brain and placenta and lower levels in the heart, skeletal muscle and pancreas (73). The *MIF* gene is structurally related to *D-dopachrome tautomerase* (*DDT*). The *MIF* and *DDT* genes are narrowly linked on human

chromosome 22 and mouse chromosome 10 (74), suggesting that they arose by duplication of an ancestral gene.

1.8.2 Regulation of *MIF* gene expression

Numerous DNA-binding sequences for transcription factors such as AP-1, NF- κ B, E twentysix (Ets), GATA, Specificity protein 1 (Sp1) and cyclic AMP response element (CRE)-binding protein (CREB) are located in the human *MIF* gene promoter region. Two Sp1 and CRE sites in the vicinity of the human *MIF* gene transcriptional start site (designated proximal Sp1 and CRE or Sp1^P and CRE^P, respectively, **Figure 1.7A**) were shown to bind Sp1 and CREB and to positively regulate *MIF* gene basal and microbial product-stimulated transcriptional activity in several cell lines (75). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays confirmed the binding of Sp1 and CREB to the *MIF* proximal promoter *in invo* (75).

The *MIF* gene lies within a CpG island. Interestingly, methylation of cytosine residues within CpG island is a major mechanism of epigenetic silencing. Yet, the *MIF* gene is not methylated in PBMCs and monocytic, epithelial and keratinocytic cell lines expressing different levels of MIF mRNA, suggesting that methylation of CpGs does not account for the differential expression of MIF mRNA (75).



Figure 1.7. Structure of *MIF* promoter and MIF 3D view. (A) Comparison of the proximal promoters of the human and mouse *MIF* genes. The proximal Sp1 and CRE sites regulating the constitutive human and mouse *MIF* promoter activity are highlighted in black (adapted from *Roger et al., European Journal of Immunology,* 2007 (75)). (B) Crystal strucure at 2.6A of human MIF trimer showing solvent accessible channel (from *Sun et al., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1996* (76)).

1.8.3 MIF protein

The MIF protein is a 12.5 kDa polypeptide composed of 115 amino acids. MIF is highly conserved amongst mammalian genomes, and MIF homologues are found in plants, nematodes, arthropods, protozoan and cyanobacteria (74). Three-dimensional structure revealed by electronic microscopy of MIF crystals exposed no structural similarity with other cytokines or hormones. MIF was found to crystallize as a homotrimer (**Figure 1.7B**), which is commonly admitted to be the active form. The homotrimer structure was determined to form a β -strand barrel with an inner solvent-accessible channel whose surface is negatively charged (76,77). The channel is a potential binding site for small molecules like glutathione and dopachrome (76) or, by similarity with the enzyme 5-carboxy-methyl-2-hydroxymuconate isomerase (CHMI) from *E. coli*, to be a catalytic site (77).

MIF exerts tautomerase and thiol-protein oxydoreductase enzymatic activities. These activities were discovered because of the structure relationship between MIF and bacterial isomerase CHMI and DDT (78). Whether these enzymatic activities impact on MIF function *in vivo* is debatable. Nevertheless, ISO-1, a specific inhibitor of MIF tautomerase activity, was shown to block TNF release from LPS-stimulated macrophages and to increase mouse survival in models of septic shock (79). Overall, the molecular mechanisms linking the enzymatic and cytokine activities of MIF remain largely to be described.

MIF is stored in secretory granules and is released upon stimulatory conditions. Given that MIF lacks the classical N-terminal glycosylation necessary for a classical ER/golgi export to plasma membrane, MIF secretion is mediated through a non-classical secretory pathway. The ABC transporter (80) and the Golgi-associated protein p115 (81) have been reported to exert this function.

1.8.4 MIF function

MIF activity was described in the late 60's as T-cell derived factor with the ability to inhibit the migration of macrophages and monocytes, correlating with delayed type hypersensitivity (68,69). Almost 30 years later, MIF was re-discovered as cytokine secreted in a hormone-like manner by pituitary cells during endotoxemia (70). Innate immune cells, especially macrophages, are an important source of MIF. Macrophages stimulated with LPS rapidly secrete large quantities of preformed MIF. Additionally, organs containing large amounts of MIF are those commonly associated with a high macrophage content like the kidney, liver or brain (82).

Different mechanisms by which cells respond to MIF stimulation have been identified. Extracellular MIF signals through a receptor composed of CD74 (*i.e.* the invariant chain of the MHC class II), the MIF binding receptor, and CD44, the signal transducing molecule of the MIF receptor complex (83,84). MIF also interacts with the chemokine receptors CXCR2 and CXCR4, thereby triggering leukocyte recruitment (85-87). Besides signaling through a membrane receptor, intracellular MIF modulates cell activity by interacting with JAB-1, a co-activator of AP-1 transcription factor (88), and p53 (89).

Once released, MIF sustains inflammatory and immune responses, stimulating the production of inflammatory mediators by macrophages and providing a stimulus for the activation of T and B cells. Notably, MIF has been reported to up-regulate the expression of TLR4 in macrophages, allowing a quick response to Gram-negative bacteria (90). MIF also possesses the characteristic to be induced by physiological concentrations of glucocorticoids and to override the immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory properties of glucocorticoids (91,92).

MIF is considered as an integral component of the host antimicrobial alarm system and stress response that promotes pro-inflammatory functions of immune cells. Indeed, MIF is required for optimal host defenses against infection, as shown by its capacity to limit the growth of intracellular pathogens (93,94). Yet, excessive amounts of MIF produced during the acute phase of sepsis is deleterious, as shown by the fact that serum MIF levels are increased and correlate with outcome in patients with septic shock (95) and that neutralization of MIF activity improves outcome in animal sepsis models (96). Overall, MIF has been implicated in the pathogenesis of numerous inflammatory and auto-immune diseases, including sepsis, adult respiratory distress syndrome, glomerulonephritis, arthritis, colitis, pancreatitis, systemic lupus erythematosus, autoimmune uveïtis and sarcoidosis (**Table 1.6**) (67,97).

Diseases/ pathologic conditions	Associated MIF activity	Mechanism(s)
Septic Shock	↑ TNF, NO, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 ↑ LPS signaling	Up-regulation of TL4 Binding of MIF to CD74 leading to ERK1/2 pathway activation
Stress and glucocorticoid functions	Counter-regulation of glucocorticoid action	Counteracts steroid-induced upregulation of cytosolic $I\kappa B\alpha$ Counteracts glucocorticoid-induced expression of MKP-1
Inflammatory lung disorders	↑ TNF, IL-8 ↑ arachidonic acid release	Counter-regulation of glucocorticoid action ↑ arachidonic acid release by MIF
Rheumatoid arthritis	↑ MMP-1/MMP-3 in synovial fibroblasts ↑ PLA-2 / COX-2 acitvity ↑ TNF	 ↑ PKC, Ap-1 and TK by MIF ↑ MIF expression by 10⁻¹⁰-10⁻¹²M glucocorticoids in synoviocytes ↑ PLA-2/COX-2 activity by MIF
Cancer and tumorigenesis	 ↓ p53 activity ↓ Redox- and stress-induced apoptosis ↑ PI3K/Akt survival pathway ↑ Cell proliferation ↑ Tumor invasion ↑ Tumor cell metastasis and motility 	 ↓ p53 activity by MIF ↑ of ERK1/2 activity By MIF ↑ PI3K/Akt survival pathway by MIF MIF interacts with JAB1/CSN5 that interact with p53 Modulation of JNK activity by MIF

Table 1.6. MIF mechanisms of action and biological activities in pathologic conditions. Adapted from *Lue et al., Microbes and Infection, 2002* (98).

1.8.5 MIF as a link between inflammation and cancer

Recent studies strongly support an important role for MIF in the control of cell growth and tumorigenesis (**Table 1.6**). MIF stimulates cell proliferation, promotes cell survival and tumorassociated neovascularization and inhibits antitumor natural killer (NK) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses. Moreover, MIF regulates tumor cell motility and invasion (summarized in (99)). MIF promotes tumorigenesis by suppression of p53 tumor suppressor activity (89) and by sustaining ERK1/2 activation and cell proliferation (100). MIF has also been shown to increase matrix metaloproteinases (MMPs) secretion, thus favouring tumor invasion. Furthermore CD44, a partner of the MIF receptor complex, has been demonstrated to promote the motility of tumor cells and metastasis, especially in breast cancer (101). Finally, human cancer tissues, such as prostate, breast, colon, brain, skin and lung-derived tumors, have been shown to overexpress MIF (99).

1.9 Aim of the study

When we initiated this project, several studies suggested that inhibitors of class I, II and IV HDAC (HDAC1-11) have anti-inflammatory activity. Yet, their influence on innate immune responses was largely uncharacterized. Thus, the overall aim of the study was to investigate the role of HDAC1-11 inhibitors on host innate immune responses against bacterial and fungal infections. The three main objectives were to:

- examine the influence of HDAC1-11 inhibitors on macrophage and dendritic cell functions *in vitro* and to investigate the molecular basis of the inhibition of innate immune responses by these compounds (**chapter 2 and 3**).
- evaluate the impact of treatement with HDAC1-11 inhibitors on the susceptibility to bacterial and fungal sepsis in preclinical models of infection (**chapter 2**).
- determine whether, and if so by which mechanisms, HDAC1-11 inhibitors interfere with the expression of MIF (**chapter 4 and 5**).

Lately, we moved our attention towards the analysis of the influence of inhibitors of class III HDACs (*i.e.* sirtuins) on innate immune responses. This decision was motivated by the fact sirtuins and HDAC1-11 share numerous common substrates. In **chapter 6** of this manuscript, we will first introduce sirtuins and sirtuin inhibitors and then present the preliminary results we obtained *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.10 References

- 1. Beutler, B., Z. Jiang, P. Georgel, K. Crozat, B. Croker, S. Rutschmann, X. Du, and K. Hoebe.2006. Genetic analysis of host resistance: Toll-like receptor signaling and immunity at large. Annu Rev Immunol 24:353-389.
- 2. Ishii, K. J., S. Koyama, A. Nakagawa, C. Coban, and S. Akira. 2008. Host innate immune receptors and beyond: making sense of microbial infections. Cell Host Microbe 3:352-363.
- 3. Medzhitov, R. 2007. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. Nature 449:819-826.
- 4. Gay, N. J., and M. Gangloff. 2007. Structure and function of Toll receptors and their ligands. Annu Rev Biochem 76:141-165.
- 5. Kumar, H., T. Kawai, and S. Akira. 2009. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 388:621-625.
- 6. Iwasaki, A., and R. Medzhitov. 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5:987-995.
- 7. Kawai, T., and S. Akira. 2010. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol 11:373-384.
- 8. Geijtenbeek, T. B., and S. I. Gringhuis. 2009. Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 9:465-479.
- 9. Annane, D., E. Bellissant, and J. M. Cavaillon. 2005. Septic shock. Lancet 365:63-78.
- 10. Angus, D. C., and R. S. Wax. 2001. Epidemiology of sepsis: an update. Crit Care Med 29:S109-S116.
- 11. van der Poll, T., and S. M. Opal. 2008. Host--pathogen interactions in sepsis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 8:32-43.
- Roger, T., C. Froidevaux, D. Le Roy, M. K. Reymond, A. L. Chanson, D. Mauri, K. Burns, B. M. Riederer, S. Akira, and T. Calandra. 2009. Protection from lethal gram-negative bacterial sepsis by targeting Toll-like receptor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:2348-2352.
- 13. Wolffe, A. P., and J. J. Hayes. 1999. Chromatin disruption and modification. Nucleic Acids Res 27:711-720.
- 14. Hansen, J. C., C. Tse, and A. P. Wolffe. 1998. Structure and function of the core histone N-termini: more than meets the eye. Biochemistry 37:17637-17641.
- 15. Kouzarides, T. 2007. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128:693-705.
- 16. Strahl, B. D., and C. D. Allis. 2000. The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403:41-45.
- 17. Jenuwein, T., and C. D. Allis. 2001. Translating the histone code. Science 293:1074-1080.
- 18. Bhaumik, S. R., E. Smith, and A. Shilatifard. 2007. Covalent modifications of histones during development and disease pathogenesis. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14:1008-1016.
- 19. Li, B., M. Carey, and J. L. Workman. 2007. The role of chromatin during transcription. Cell 128:707-719.

- 20. Davie, J. R., and E. P. Candido. 1978. Acetylated histone H4 is preferentially associated with template-active chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:3574-3577.
- 21. Hebbes, T. R., A. W. Thorne, and C. Crane-Robinson. 1988. A direct link between core histone acetylation and transcriptionally active chromatin. EMBO J 7:1395-1402.
- 22. Braunstein, M., A. B. Rose, S. G. Holmes, C. D. Allis, and J. R. Broach. 1993. Transcriptional silencing in yeast is associated with reduced nucleosome acetylation. Genes Dev 7:592-604.
- 23. Hong, L., G. P. Schroth, H. R. Matthews, P. Yau, and E. M. Bradbury. 1993. Studies of the DNA binding properties of histone H4 amino terminus. Thermal denaturation studies reveal that acetylation markedly reduces the binding constant of the H4 "tail" to DNA. J Biol Chem 268:305-314.
- 24. de Ruijter, A. J., R. J. Meinsma, P. Bosma, S. Kemp, H. N. Caron, and A. B. van Kuilenburg. 2005. Gene expression profiling in response to the histone deacetylase inhibitor BL1521 in neuroblastoma. Exp Cell Res 309:451-467.
- 25. Yang, X. J., and E. Seto. 2008. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9:206-218.
- 26. Gao, L., M. A. Cueto, F. Asselbergs, and P. Atadja. 2002. Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family. J Biol Chem 277:25748-25755.
- 27. Lavu, S., O. Boss, P. J. Elliott, and P. D. Lambert. 2008. Sirtuins--novel therapeutic targets to treat age-associated diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:841-853.
- 28. Saunders, L. R., and E. Verdin. 2007. Sirtuins: critical regulators at the crossroads between cancer and aging. Oncogene 26:5489-5504.
- 29. Saunders, L. R., and E. Verdin. 2009. Cell biology. Stress response and aging. Science 323:1021-1022.
- 30. Finkel, T., C. X. Deng, and R. Mostoslavsky. 2009. Recent progress in the biology and physiology of sirtuins. Nature 460:587-591.
- 31. Bolden, J. E., M. J. Peart, and R. W. Johnstone. 2006. Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:769-784.
- 32. Haberland, M., R. L. Montgomery, and E. N. Olson. 2009. The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. Nat Rev Genet 10:32-42.
- 33. Schemies, J., W. Sippl, and M. Jung. 2009. Histone deacetylase inhibitors that target tubulin. Cancer Lett 280:222-232.
- 34. Glozak, M. A., N. Sengupta, X. Zhang, and E. Seto. 2005. Acetylation and deacetylation of non-histone proteins. Gene 363:15-23.
- Allis, C. D., S. L. Berger, J. Cote, S. Dent, T. Jenuwien, T. Kouzarides, L. Pillus, D. Reinberg, Y. Shi, R. Shiekhattar, A. Shilatifard, J. Workman, and Y. Zhang. 2007. New nomenclature for chromatin-modifying enzymes. Cell 131:633-636.
- 36. Spange, S., T. Wagner, T. Heinzel, and O. H. Krämer. 2009. Acetylation of non-histone proteins modulates cellular signalling at multiple levels. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 41:185-198.
- 37. Kouzarides, T. 2000. Acetylation: a regulatory modification to rival phosphorylation? EMBO J 19:1176-1179.
- 38. Boffa, L. C., G. Vidali, R. S. Mann, and V. G. Allfrey. 1978. Suppression of histone deacetylation in vivo and in vitro by sodium butyrate. J Biol Chem 253:3364-3366.
- 39. Vidali, G., L. C. Boffa, E. M. Bradbury, and V. G. Allfrey. 1978. Butyrate suppression of histone deacetylation leads to accumulation of multiacetylated forms of histones H3 and H4 and increased DNase I sensitivity of the associated DNA sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:2239-2243.
- 40. Rahmani, M., C. Yu, Y. Dai, E. Reese, W. Ahmed, P. Dent, and S. Grant. 2003. Coadministration of the heat shock protein 90 antagonist 17-allylamino- 17demethoxygeldanamycin with suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid or sodium butyrate synergistically induces apoptosis in human leukemia cells. Cancer Res 63:8420-8427.
- 41. Chen, J., F. M. Ghazawi, W. Bakkar, and Q. Li. 2006. Valproic acid and butyrate induce apoptosis in human cancer cells through inhibition of gene expression of Akt/protein kinase B. Mol Cancer 5:71.
- 42. Krämer, O. H., P. Zhu, H. P. Ostendorff, M. Golebiewski, J. Tiefenbach, M. A. Peters, B. Brill, B. Groner, I. Bach, T. Heinzel, and M. Göttlicher. 2003. The histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid selectively induces proteasomal degradation of HDAC2. EMBO J 22:3411-3420.
- Göttlicher, M., S. Minucci, P. Zhu, O. H. Krämer, A. Schimpf, S. Giavara, J. P. Sleeman, F. Lo Coco, C. Nervi, P. G. Pelicci, and T. Heinzel. 2001. Valproic acid defines a novel class of HDAC inhibitors inducing differentiation of transformed cells. EMBO J 20:6969-6978.
- 44. Jeong, M. R., R. Hashimoto, V. V. Senatorov, K. Fujimaki, M. Ren, M. S. Lee, and D. M. Chuang. 2003. Valproic acid, a mood stabilizer and anticonvulsant, protects rat cerebral cortical neurons from spontaneous cell death: a role of histone deacetylase inhibition. FEBS Lett 542:74-78.
- 45. Yoshida, M., M. Kijima, M. Akita, and T. Beppu. 1990. Potent and specific inhibition of mammalian histone deacetylase both in vivo and in vitro by trichostatin A. J Biol Chem 265:17174-17179.
- 46. Wetzel, M., D. R. Premkumar, B. Arnold, and I. F. Pollack. 2005. Effect of trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, on glioma proliferation in vitro by inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. J Neurosurg 103:549-556.
- Codd, R., N. Braich, J. Liu, C. Z. Soe, and A. A. Pakchung. 2009. Zn(II)-dependent histone deacetylase inhibitors: suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid and trichostatin A. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 41:736-739.
- 48. Marks, P. A., and R. Breslow. 2007. Dimethyl sulfoxide to vorinostat: development of this histone deacetylase inhibitor as an anticancer drug. Nat Biotechnol 25:84-90.
- 49. Minucci, S., and P. G. Pelicci. 2006. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6:38-51.
- 50. Xu, W. S., R. B. Parmigiani, and P. A. Marks. 2007. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: molecular mechanisms of action. Oncogene 26:5541-5552.
- 51. Prince, H. M., M. J. Bishton, and S. J. Harrison. 2009. Clinical studies of histone deacetylase inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res 15:3958-3969.

- 52. Carew, J. S., F. J. Giles, and S. T. Nawrocki. 2008. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: mechanisms of cell death and promise in combination cancer therapy. Cancer Lett 269:7-17.
- 53. Mishra, N., C. M. Reilly, D. R. Brown, P. Ruiz, and G. S. Gilkeson. 2003. Histone deacetylase inhibitors modulate renal disease in the MRL-lpr/lpr mouse. Journal of Clinical Investigation 111:539-552.
- Reilly, C. M., N. Mishra, J. M. Miller, D. Joshi, P. Ruiz, V. M. Richon, P. A. Marks, and G. S. Gilkeson. 2004. Modulation of renal disease in MRL/lpr mice by suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid. J Immunol 173:4171-4178.
- 55. Choi, J. H., S. W. Oh, M. S. Kang, H. J. Kwon, G. T. Oh, and D. Y. Kim. 2005. Trichostatin A attenuates airway inflammation in mouse asthma model. Clin Exp Allergy 35:89-96.
- 56. Chung, Y. L., M. Y. Lee, A. J. Wang, and L. F. Yao. 2003. A therapeutic strategy uses histone deacetylase inhibitors to modulate the expression of genes involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Mol Ther 8:707-717.
- 57. Nishida, K., T. Komiyama, S. Miyazawa, Z. N. Shen, T. Furumatsu, H. Doi, A. Yoshida, J. Yamana, M. Yamamura, Y. Ninomiya, H. Inoue, and H. Asahara. 2004. Histone deacetylase inhibitor suppression of autoantibody-mediated arthritis in mice via regulation of p16INK4a and p21(WAF1/Cip1) expression. Arthritis Rheum 50:3365-3376.
- 58. Nasu, Y., K. Nishida, S. Miyazawa, T. Komiyama, Y. Kadota, N. Abe, A. Yoshida, S. Hirohata, A. Ohtsuka, and T. Ozaki. 2008. Trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, suppresses synovial inflammation and subsequent cartilage destruction in a collagen antibody-induced arthritis mouse model. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16:723-732.
- Reddy, P., Y. Maeda, K. Hotary, C. Liu, L. L. Reznikov, C. A. Dinarello, and J. L. Ferrara. 2004. Histone deacetylase inhibitor suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid reduces acute graftversus-host disease and preserves graft-versus-leukemia effect. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:3921-3926.
- Reddy, P., Y. Sun, T. Toubai, R. Duran-Struuck, S. G. Clouthier, E. Weisiger, Y. Maeda, I. Tawara, O. Krijanovski, E. Gatza, C. Liu, C. Malter, P. Mascagni, C. A. Dinarello, and J. L. Ferrara. 2008. Histone deacetylase inhibition modulates indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-dependent DC functions and regulates experimental graft-versus-host disease in mice. J Clin Invest 118:2562-2573.
- 61. Gray, S. G., and F. Dangond. 2006. Rationale for the use of histone deacetylase inhibitors as a dual therapeutic modality in multiple sclerosis. Epigenetics 1:67-75.
- 62. Camelo, S., A. H. Iglesias, D. Hwang, B. Due, H. Ryu, K. Smith, S. G. Gray, J. Imitola, G. Duran, B. Assaf, B. Langley, S. J. Khoury, G. Stephanopoulos, U. De Girolami, R. R. Ratan, R. J. Ferrante, and F. Dangond. 2005. Transcriptional therapy with the histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 164:10-21.
- 63. Kazantsev, A. G., and L. M. Thompson. 2008. Therapeutic application of histone deacetylase inhibitors for central nervous system disorders. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:854-868.
- 64. Säemann, M. D., G. A. Böhmig, C. H. Osterreicher, H. Burtscher, O. Parolini, C. Diakos, J. Stöckl, W. H. Hörl, and G. J. Zlabinger. 2000. Anti-inflammatory effects of sodium butyrate on human monocytes: potent inhibition of IL-12 and up-regulation of IL-10 production. FASEB J 14:2380-2382.

- Chakravortty, D., N. Koide, Y. Kato, T. Sugiyama, M. M. Mu, T. Yoshida, and T. Yokochi. 2000. The inhibitory action of butyrate on lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production in RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cells. J Endotoxin Res 6:243-247.
- Glauben, R., A. Batra, I. Fedke, M. Zeitz, H. A. Lehr, F. Leoni, P. Mascagni, G. Fantuzzi, C. A. Dinarello, and B. Siegmund. 2006. Histone hyperacetylation is associated with amelioration of experimental colitis in mice. J Immunol 176:5015-5022.
- 67. Calandra, T., and T. Roger. 2003. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 3:791-800.
- 68. David, J. R. 1966. Delayed hypersensitivity in vitro: its mediation by cell-free substances formed by lymphoid cell-antigen interaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 56:72-77.
- 69. Bloom, B. R., and B. Bennett. 1966. Mechanism of a reaction in vitro associated with delayed-type hypersensitivity. Science 153:80-82.
- Bernhagen, J., T. Calandra, R. A. Mitchell, S. B. Martin, K. J. Tracey, W. Voelter, K. R. Manogue, A. Cerami, and R. Bucala. 1993. MIF is a pituitary-derived cytokine that potentiates lethal endotoxaemia. Nature 365:756-759.
- 71. Weiser, W. Y., P. A. Temple, J. S. Witek-Giannotti, H. G. Remold, S. C. Clark, and J. R. David. 1989. Molecular cloning of a cDNA encoding a human macrophage migration inhibitory factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:7522-7526.
- 72. Budarf, M., T. McDonald, B. Sellinger, C. Kozak, C. Graham, and G. Wistow. 1997. Localization of the human gene for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) to chromosome 22q11.2. Genomics 39:235-236.
- 73. Paralkar, V., and G. Wistow. 1994. Cloning the human gene for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF). Genomics 19:48-51.
- 74. Esumi, N., M. Budarf, L. Ciccarelli, B. Sellinger, C. A. Kozak, and G. Wistow. 1998. Conserved gene structure and genomic linkage for D-dopachrome tautomerase (DDT) and MIF. Mamm Genome 9:753-757.
- Roger, T., X. Ding, A. L. Chanson, P. Renner, and T. Calandra. 2007. Regulation of constitutive and microbial pathogen-induced human macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) gene expression. Eur J Immunol 37:3509-3521.
- 76. Sun, H. W., J. Bernhagen, R. Bucala, and E. Lolis. 1996. Crystal structure at 2.6-A resolution of human macrophage migration inhibitory factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:5191-5196.
- 77. Sugimoto, H., M. Suzuki, A. Nakagawa, I. Tanaka, and J. Nishihira. 1996. Crystal structure of macrophage migration inhibitory factor from human lymphocyte at 2.1 A resolution. FEBS Lett 389:145-148.
- 78. Cooke, G., M. E. Armstrong, and S. C. Donnelly. 2009. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), enzymatic activity and the inflammatory response. Biofactors 35:165-168.
- 79. Al-Abed, Y., D. Dabideen, B. Aljabari, A. Valster, D. Messmer, M. Ochani, M. Tanovic, K. Ochani, M. Bacher, F. Nicoletti, C. Metz, V. A. Pavlov, E. J. Miller, and K. J. Tracey. 2005. ISO-1 binding to the tautomerase active site of MIF inhibits its pro-inflammatory activity and increases survival in severe sepsis. J Biol Chem 280:36541-36544.
- 80. Flieger, O., A. Engling, R. Bucala, H. Lue, W. Nickel, and J. Bernhagen. 2003. Regulated secretion of macrophage migration inhibitory factor is mediated by a non-classical pathway involving an ABC transporter. FEBS Lett 551:78-86.

- Merk, M., J. Baugh, S. Zierow, L. Leng, U. Pal, S. J. Lee, A. D. Ebert, Y. Mizue, J. O. Trent, R. Mitchell, W. Nickel, P. B. Kavathas, J. Bernhagen, and R. Bucala. 2009. The Golgiassociated protein p115 mediates the secretion of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J Immunol 182:6896-6906.
- Calandra, T., J. Bernhagen, R. A. Mitchell, and R. Bucala. 1994. The macrophage is an important and previously unrecognized source of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J Exp Med 179:1895-1902.
- Leng, L., C. N. Metz, Y. Fang, J. Xu, S. Donnelly, J. Baugh, T. Delohery, Y. Chen, R. A. Mitchell, and R. Bucala. 2003. MIF signal transduction initiated by binding to CD74. J Exp Med 197:1467-1476.
- Shi, X., L. Leng, T. Wang, W. Wang, X. Du, J. Li, C. McDonald, Z. Chen, J. W. Murphy, E. Lolis, P. Noble, W. Knudson, and R. Bucala. 2006. CD44 is the signaling component of the macrophage migration inhibitory factor-CD74 receptor complex. Immunity 25:595-606.
- Bernhagen, J., R. Krohn, H. Lue, J. L. Gregory, A. Zernecke, R. R. Koenen, M. Dewor, I. Georgiev, A. Schober, L. Leng, T. Kooistra, G. Fingerle-Rowson, P. Ghezzi, R. Kleemann, S. R. McColl, R. Bucala, M. J. Hickey, and C. Weber. 2007. MIF is a noncognate ligand of CXC chemokine receptors in inflammatory and atherogenic cell recruitment. Nat Med 13:587-596.
- Weber, C., S. Kraemer, M. Drechsler, H. Lue, R. R. Koenen, A. Kapurniotu, A. Zernecke, and J. Bernhagen. 2008. Structural determinants of MIF functions in CXCR2-mediated inflammatory and atherogenic leukocyte recruitment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:16278-16283.
- Schwartz, V., H. Lue, S. Kraemer, J. Korbiel, R. Krohn, K. Ohl, R. Bucala, C. Weber, and J. Bernhagen. 2009. A functional heteromeric MIF receptor formed by CD74 and CXCR4. FEBS Letters 583:2749 2757.
- Kleemann, R., A. Hausser, G. Geiger, R. Mischke, A. Burger-Kentischer, O. Flieger, F. J. Johannes, T. Roger, T. Calandra, A. Kapurniotu, M. Grell, D. Finkelmeier, H. Brunner, and J. Bernhagen. 2000. Intracellular action of the cytokine MIF to modulate AP-1 activity and the cell cycle through Jab1. Nature 408:211-216.
- Hudson, J. D., M. A. Shoaibi, R. Maestro, A. Carnero, G. J. Hannon, and D. H. Beach. 1999. A proinflammatory cytokine inhibits p53 tumor suppressor activity. J Exp Med 190:1375-1382.
- 90. Roger, T., J. David, M. P. Glauser, and T. Calandra. 2001. MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4. Nature 414:920-924.
- 91. Calandra, T., J. Bernhagen, C. N. Metz, L. A. Spiegel, M. Bacher, T. Donnelly, A. Cerami, and R. Bucala. 1995. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. Nature 377:68-71.
- 92. Roger, T., A. L. Chanson, M. Knaup-Reymond, and T. Calandra. 2005. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes innate immune responses by suppressing glucocorticoid-induced expression of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1. Eur J Immunol 35:3405-3413.
- 93. Oddo, M., T. Calandra, R. Bucala, and P. R. Meylan. 2005. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor reduces the growth of virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human macrophages. Infect Immun 73:3783-3786.
- 94. Koebernick, H., L. Grode, J. R. David, W. Rohde, M. S. Rolph, H. W. Mittrücker, and S. H. Kaufmann. 2002. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) plays a pivotal role in immunity against Salmonella typhimurium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13681-13686.

- 95. Emonts, M., F. C. Sweep, N. Grebenchtchikov, A. Geurts-Moespot, M. Knaup, A. L. Chanson, V. Erard, P. Renner, P. W. Hermans, J. A. Hazelzet, and T. Calandra. 2007. Association between high levels of blood macrophage migration inhibitory factor, inappropriate adrenal response, and early death in patients with severe sepsis. Clin Infect Dis 44:1321-1328.
- Calandra, T., B. Echtenacher, D. L. Roy, J. Pugin, C. N. Metz, L. Hültner, D. Heumann, D. Männel, R. Bucala, and M. P. Glauser. 2000. Protection from septic shock by neutralization of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. Nat Med 6:164-170.
- 97. Greven, D., L. Leng, and R. Bucala. 2010. Autoimmune diseases: MIF as a therapeutic target. Expert Opin Ther Targets 14:253-264.
- 98. Lue, H., R. Kleemann, T. Calandra, T. Roger, and J. Bernhagen. 2002. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF): mechanisms of action and role in disease. Microbes Infect 4:449-460.
- 99. Bucala, R., and S. C. Donnelly. 2007. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a probable link between inflammation and cancer. Immunity 26:281-285.
- 100. Lue, H., A. Kapurniotu, G. Fingerle-Rowson, T. Roger, L. Leng, M. Thiele, T. Calandra, R. Bucala, and J. Bernhagen. 2006. Rapid and transient activation of the ERK MAPK signalling pathway by macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) and dependence on JAB1/CSN5 and Src kinase activity. Cell Signal 18:688-703.
- 101. Bourguignon, L. Y., P. A. Singleton, H. Zhu, and F. Diedrich. 2003. Hyaluronan-mediated CD44 interaction with RhoGEF and Rho kinase promotes Grb2-associated binder-1 phosphorylation and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling leading to cytokine (macrophagecolony stimulating factor) production and breast tumor progression. J Biol Chem 278:29420-29434.

2 HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES TO TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR AGONISTS AND INFECTION

Thierry Roger, Jérôme Lugrin, Didier Le Roy, Geneviève Goy, Matteo Mombelli, Thibaud Koessler, Xavier C. Ding, Anne-Laure Chanson, Marlies Knaup Reymond, Isabelle Miconnet, Jacques Schrenzel, Patrice François and Thierry Calandra

Blood, January 27, 2011, Volume 117, number 4, Pages 1205-1217

2.1 Summary

Inhibitors of class I, II and IV HDACs (*i.e.* HDAC1-11) are amongst the most promising anti-cancer drugs. Several studies have suggested that inhibitors of HDAC1-11 (thereafter called HDACi) have anti-inflammatory activity. Yet, their influence on innate immune responses remains largely uncharacterized. In the present study, we investigated the effects of HDACi (trichostatin A, valproate, and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid) on host innate immune responses against TLR agonists and bacterial and fungal infections.

Strikingly, genome-wide expression studies revealed that trichostatin A acts essentially as negative regulator of basal and microbial product-induced expression of critical immune receptors and antimicrobial products expressed by macrophages. These results were confirmed in a number of settings analysing the production of cytokines or the expression of co-stimulatory molecules by mouse and human macrophages, dendritic cells, splenocytes and whole blood treated with HDACi and stimulated with a broad range of bacterial and fungal products. At the molecular level, we demonstrate that HDACi impair pro-inflammatory cytokine expression without interfering with the activation of the NF- κ B and MAP kinases signaling pathways. Most importantly, we identified a new molecular mechanism whereby HDACi stimulate the expression and the recruitment of the transcriptional repressor Mi-2 β on the promoter of pro-inflammatory genes targeted by HDACi. The relevance of the above findings was evaluated *in vivo* in experimental models of bacterial and fungal sepsis or toxic shock titrated to cause either mild or severe infections or shock. These experiments revealed that mice treated with valproate are more susceptible to non-severe bacterial and fungal infection, but are protected against toxic and septic shock. Altogether these data confirm the potent anti-inflammatory potential of HDACi *in vivo*.

Overall, these studies ascribe HDAC a pivotal role in controlling the biologic functions of innate immune cells, and identified HDACi as powerfull anti-inflammatory drugs which may increase the susceptibility to infection in immunocompromised patients. Yet, the anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive properties of HDACi may be beneficial as adjunctive therapy for septic shock.

Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair innate immune responses to Toll-like receptor agonists and to infection

Thierry Roger,¹ Jérôme Lugrin,¹ Didier Le Roy,¹ Geneviève Goy,¹ Matteo Mombelli,¹ Thibaud Koessler,² Xavier C. Ding,¹ Anne-Laure Chanson,¹ Marlies Knaup Reymond,¹ Isabelle Miconnet,³ Jacques Schrenzel,² Patrice François,² and Thierry Calandra¹

¹Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; ²Service of Infectious Diseases, Genomic Research Laboratory, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland; and ³Division of Immunology and Allergy, Department of Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Regulated by histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases (HDACs), histone acetylation is a key epigenetic mechanism controlling chromatin structure, DNA accessibility, and gene expression. HDAC inhibitors induce growth arrest, differentiation, and apoptosis of tumor cells and are used as anticancer agents. Here we describe the effects of HDAC inhibitors on microbial sensing by macrophages and dendritic cells in vitro and host defenses against infection in vivo. HDAC inhibitors down-regulated the expression of numerous host defense genes, including pattern recognition receptors, kinases, transcription regulators, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and costimulatory molecules as assessed by genome-wide microarray analyses or innate immune responses of macrophages and dendritic cells stimulated with Toll-like receptor agonists. HDAC inhibitors induced the expression of Mi- 2β and enhanced the DNA-binding activity of the Mi-2/NuRD complex that acts as a transcriptional repressor of macrophage cytokine production. In vivo, HDAC inhibitors increased the susceptibility to bacterial and fungal infections but conferred protection against toxic and septic shock. Thus, these data identify an essential role for HDAC inhibitors in the regulation of the expression of innate immune genes and host defenses against microbial pathogens. (*Blood.* 2011;117(4):1205-1217)

Introduction

The innate immune system plays an essential role in antimicrobial defenses. Detection of microbial pathogens is carried out by sentinel cells of the innate immune system that are located in tissues (macrophages and dendritic cells [DCs]) in close contact with the host's natural environment or that are rapidly recruited to the site of infection (neutrophils). Recognition of invasive pathogens by immune cells relies on their capacity to detect microbial- or pathogen-associated molecular patterns, such as endotoxin, peptidoglycan, lipopeptides, glucans or mannans, flagellin, and nucleic acids. This process involves the coordinated actions of soluble and cellular molecules composing components of the complement system, acute phase proteins, and membrane-associated or intracellular pattern-recognition molecules, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptors, retinoic acid-inducible gene I like receptors, C-type lectin receptors, and scavenger receptors. Ligand-activated receptors trigger the mitogen-activated protein kinase, nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB), and interferon-related factor (IRF) signal transduction pathways that induce the transcription and production of immune genes, including cytokines that are critical for the activation of innate and adaptive immunity.^{1,2}

Chromatin structure plays a central role in regulating gene expression. Acetylation of histones is an essential epigenetic mechanism controlling chromatin structure, DNA accessibility for transcription factors, and gene expression. The net state of acetylation of the ϵ amino groups of lysine residues of histones is regulated by the opposing actions of histone acetyltransferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs). Acetylation of histones relaxes the chromatin structure promoting gene transcription, whereas deacetylation of histones compacts the chromatin structure favoring gene silencing. HDACs have been classified into 4 subclasses based on their homology with yeast HDACs, their subcellular localization, and their enzymatic activity.³ Beside histones, nonhistones proteins (such as α -tubulin, heat shock protein 90, steroid receptors, and regulators of nuclear import) are also modified by reversible acetylation.^{4,5} Therefore, histone acetyltransferases and HDACs affect diverse biologic functions, principally cell differentiation, growth, and survival.⁶⁻⁸

HDACs are at the center of great interest for 2 major reasons. First, dysregulated HDAC expression or activity has been linked to the pathogenesis of cancer and inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Second, small-molecule inhibitors of class I, II, and IV HDACs have been shown to exhibit anticancer activity with good safety profiles notably in patients with hematologic malignancies. Thus, these drugs are among the most promising anticancer agents under development.^{6,8-10} Here we analyzed the impact of HDAC inhibitors on gene expression profiles in macrophages and DCs in vitro and on the host response to bacteria and fungi in vivo. We found that HDAC inhibitors exerted profound inhibitory effects on the host innate immune antimicrobial defense

Submitted May 10, 2010; accepted October 7, 2010. Prepublished online as *Blood* First Edition paper, October 18, 2010; DOI 10.1182/blood-2010-05-284711.

An Inside Blood analysis of this article appears at the front of this issue

The online version of this article contains a data supplement.

The publication costs of this article were defrayed in part by page charge payment. Therefore, and solely to indicate this fact, this article is hereby marked "advertisement" in accordance with 18 USC section 1734.

© 2011 by The American Society of Hematology

response, down-regulating the expression of innate immune receptors, interfering with transcriptome remodeling after stimulation with TLR agonists, and inhibiting the expression of key antimicrobial cytokines and accessory molecules in whole blood, macrophages, DCs, and splenocytes. Consistent with these immunosuppressive effects, HDAC inhibitors enhanced the susceptibility of mice to bacterial and fungal infections. Conversely, HDAC inhibitors protected mice from septic shock.

Methods

Ethics statement

All animal procedures were approved by the Office Vétérinaire du Canton de Vaud (authorizations 876.5, 876.6, and 877.5) and performed according to the institution guidelines for animal experiments.

Mice, cells, and reagents

Eight- to 12-week-old female BALB/c mice (Charles River Laboratories) were housed under specific pathogen–free conditions. Bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs), thioglycollate-elicited peritoneal macrophages, and RAW 264.7 macrophages (ATCC TIB-71) were cultured as previously described.¹¹ Bone marrow–derived DCs (BMDCs) were obtained by culturing bone marrow cells in Iscove modified Dulbecco medium containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS; Sigma-Aldrich), 50μ M 2-mercaptoethanol, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Splenocytes were cultured in RPMI medium containing 2mM L-glutamine and 10% FCS and 50μ M 2-mercaptoethanol. Human myeloid DCs (moDCs) were produced as described previously.¹² Human whole blood assay was performed as described previously.¹³

Cells were exposed to *Salmonella minnesota* ultra pure lipopolysaccharide (LPS; List Biologicals Laboratories), Pam₃CSK₄ (EMC Microcollections), CpG oligonucleotide (CpG ODN; Invivogen), toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (Toxin Technology), staphylococcal enterotoxin B, concanavalin A (Sigma-Aldrich), or heat-inactivated *Escherichia coli* O18 (*E coli*), *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Candida albicans*. Trichostatin A (TSA), suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), and valproic acid (VPA) were from Sigma-Aldrich. The concentrations of TSA and VPA used in vitro did not affect the viability of BMDMs (> 85% cell recovery after 18 hours). Orfiril (Desitin Pharmaceuticals), a commercial injectable solution of sodium valproate, was used for in vivo experiments.

Microarray analysis and quantitative real-time PCR

For each experimental condition, 2 independent samples were processed in parallel. Low RNA input fluorescent linear amplification kit (Agilent Technologies) was used for cDNA synthesis and cRNA amplification. Experimental samples were labeled with cyanine 5-CTP, whereas a control Universal mouse RNA mixture (Stratagene) was labeled using cyanine 3-CTP (PerkinElmer). Labeled cRNA was hybridized onto high-density oligonucleotide microarrays containing approximately 20 000 60-mer (Mouse Development Oligo Microarray Kit, reference G4120A, and Mouse Oligo Microarray Kit, V2, reference G4121B, Agilent Technologies). Slides were scanned using a Microarray Scanner G2565AA system (Agilent Technologies) at a resolution of 5 µm. For data analysis, local backgroundsubtracted signals were calculated using Feature Extraction software (Agilent Technologies, Version A6.1.1). To ensure spot quality, features and their respective background, which were not uniform in pixel fluorescence intensity distribution in both channels, were flagged (nonuniformity outlier flagging algorithm). Data were imported in GeneSpring, Version 7.0 (Agilent Technologies) and then normalized using both per spot (signal channel divided by the corresponding control channel and generation of log₁₀ ratio) and per chip (to the 50th percentile). The microarray dataset has been deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus database (GEO; National Center for Biotechnology Information; accession numbers GPL7291, GSE22409).

Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was performed with a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System using the Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) and primer pairs (supplemental Table 4, available on the *Blood* Web site; see the Supplemental Materials link at the top of the online article).¹⁴ Samples were tested in triplicates. A standard made of successive dilutions of a reference cDNA was processed in parallel. Gene-specific expression levels were assessed relative to the expression of *glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH)* and *Hprt* and reported in arbitrary units. In selected experiments, standards consisted of serial dilutions of a plasmid containing the target gene.

Cytokine measurements

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) concentrations were measured by bioassay,¹⁵ IL-12p40, and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA; BD Biosciences), and a broad screening of cytokines and chemokines production was performed using the Luminex technology (Luminex Corporation).¹⁴

Proliferation

Splenocytes (1.5×10^5) were cultured for 48 hours in 96-well culture plates. Proliferation was monitored by measuring ³H-thymidine incorporation over 18 hours.

Flow cytometry

BMDCs were incubated with 2.4G2 monoclonal antibody (mAb) and mAbs (BD Biosciences) specific for mouse major histocompatibility class II (14-4-4S-fluorescein isothiocyanate), CD11c (HL3-phycoerythrin [PE]), and CD40 (3/23-biotin revealed with CyChrome-conjugated streptavidin; BD Biosciences). moDCs were incubated with the lineage Cocktail 1 (fluorescein isothiocyanate–conjugated mAbs specific for CD3, CD14, CD16, CD19, CD20, and CD56) and mAbs specific for human CD11c (B-ly6-PE-Cy5), HLA-DR (L243-APC) and CD40 (5C3-PE), CD80 (L307.4-PE), CD86 (FUN-1-PE), or CC-chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7; 3D12-PE).¹² Data were analyzed using FlowJo Version 8.5.3 software (TreeStar).

Electrophoretic mobility shift assay

A total of 2 μ g of nuclear extracts was incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature with a radiolabeled consensus NF- κ B probe (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and analyzed by electrophoretic mobility shift assay.¹⁶

Western blot analyses

Cell lysates were electrophoresed through polyacrylamide gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes.¹⁴ Membranes were incubated with antibodies specific for phosphorylated (phospho)-extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK)1/2, total-ERK1/2, phospho-p38, total-p38, phospho-IRF3, (Cell Signaling Technology), c-jun, Mi2b (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), SNF2 β /BRG1 (Millipore), IRF7 (Invitrogen), phospho-signaltransducer and activator of transcription protein (STAT1; BD Biosciences), and α -tubulin (Sigma-Aldrich), and then revealed with secondary horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat antirabbit IgG and the ECL Western blotting analyses system (GE Healthcare). Acid-soluble proteins were extracted and analyzed by Western blotting using antiacetylated histone H3 and H4 antibodies (Cell Signaling Technology).¹³

Chromatin immunoprecipitation

Chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis was performed using the ChIP assay kit (Millipore) using antiacetylated histone H4 (06-866, Upstate Biotechnology) or Mi2b (sc-11378X, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) rabbit polyclonal antisera and normal rabbit IgG (sc-2027, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) as described previously.¹³ Immunoprecipitated DNA was amplified by PCR using primers described in supplemental Table 4.

siRNA silencing in RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages

RAW 264.7 macrophages (6×10^4 cells per well) were seeded in 24-well plates and transfected the next day with 187.5 ng of Mi-2b or Brg1 siRNA

duplexes or negative control (sequences available in supplemental Table 4) and HiPerFect transfection reagent (QIAGEN) according to manufacturer's instruction. After 3 days, cells were stimulated for 4 hours with 0 to 10 ng/mL LPS. Gene expression was analyzed by real-time PCR. Mi-2b and Brg1 mRNA levels were decreased by 60% in cells transfected with the specific siRNAs.

In vivo models

Klebsiella pneumonia *sepsis.* A total of 10 CFU of a clinical isolate of *K pneumoniae* was injected intranasally into mice treated 15 minutes earlier with a single dose of valproate (Orfiril, 200 mg/kg intraperitoneally).¹⁷

Systemic candidiasis. Mice were challenged through the tail vein with 1.2×10^5 CFU of a clinical isolate of *C albicans*. Valproate treatment (200 mg/kg intraperitoneally) was administrated 15 minutes before *C albicans* challenge and repeated daily during 24 days.

 Pam_3CSK_{4} -induced shock. Mice were injected with D-galactosamine (2 g/kg intraperitoneally) followed immediately after by Pam_3CSK_4 (1.6 mg/kg intraperitoneally).¹¹ Valproate injections (200 mg/kg intraperitoneally every 12 hours) were started 2 days before D-galactosamine injection and discontinued 48 hours after Pam_3CSK_4 challenge.

CLP. Animals were pretreated intraperitoneally 1 hour before cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) with valproate (200 mg/kg) and injected subcutaneously every 12 hours with gentamicin (10 mg/kg), clindamycin (30 mg/kg), and buprenorphine (0.1 mg/kg).

Doses of valproate were selected based on previous publications and adjusted to the specific conditions of the sepsis models.

Statistical analysis

Comparisons among treatment groups were performed using the Fisher exact test for categorical data and the Mann-Whitney tests for continuous variables. The Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival, and differences were analyzed by the log-rank sum test. The analyses were performed using Prism software Version 5.03 (GraphPad). All reported P values are 2-sided, and values less than .05 were considered to indicate statistical significance. For microarray analyses, statistical significance of differentially expressed genes (2-fold changes) was evaluated by analysis of variance using the Benjamini and Hochberg false discovery rate correction (5%).

Results

Inhibition of HDACs down-regulates the expression of innate immune genes in macrophages

Transcriptome analyses. The transcriptome of BMDMs was examined using the Agilent high-density Mouse Development Oligoarrays, which contained 20 280 unique 60-mer corresponding predominantly to expressed sequence tags and with the Mouse Oligo Microarray Kit (V2) containing 20 156 indexed gene probes. At baseline, TSA (t = 4 hours of incubation), a prototypical broad-spectrum inhibitor of class I, II, and IV HDACs, modified the expression of 1594 macrophage genes (7.7% of the transcriptome), of which 772 (3.6%) were found to be down-regulated and 822 (4.1%) up-regulated. HDAC inhibitors significantly reduced the expression of numerous pattern recognition molecules and immune receptors involved in the sensing of a broad range of microbial products, including bacterial lipopeptides, lipoteichoic acid, peptidoglycan, endotoxin, flagellin, viral nucleic acids, and fungal β -glucan (supplemental Table 1). We then performed time-course analyses of gene expression profiles of BMDMs preincubated for 1 hour with TSA before stimulation for 1, 2, 4, and 20 hours with TLR1/TLR2 (Pam3CSK4 lipopeptide) or with TLR4 (LPS) agonists (Figure 1A-B). TSA inhibited the up-regulation of 32% to 58% and 33% to 60% of the genes induced by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄, respectively. Conversely, TSA counter-regulated the down-regulation of 60% to 73% and 51% to 75% of the genes repressed by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄. In contrast, TSA potentiated the effects of LPS and Pam₃CSK₄ on only a small proportion of genes (2%-16%). The genes modulated by TSA included signal transduction, immunoregulation, cytoskeleton and cell structure, metabolism and cell cycle, growth, and apoptosis (complete listing of the genes: Figure 1C-D, supplemental Tables 2-3).

We then focused our analyses on innate immune gene families known to play a critical role in the host antimicrobial defense response. TSA exerted prominent inhibitory effects on LPS- or Pam₃CSK₄-induced genes (Figure 1C-D). Indeed, TSA inhibited LPS- and/or Pam₃CSK₄-induced up-regulation of genes encoding for molecules involved in the sensing of microbial compounds, such as Tlrs, Cd14, Md-2, scavenger receptors (Scarb2), cytosolic microbial sensors (Aim1, Mda-5, Nlrp3, Nod1, Nod2, Eif2ak2/Pkr, Pycard/Asc, Mevf/Pyrin, and RIG-I), c-type lectins (Clecs and Msr1), formyl peptide receptors (Fprs), IgE and IgG Fc receptors, complement and complement receptors (C1qa, C1r, and Cfb/H2-Bf), and adhesion molecules (Icam1, integrins, and Vcam1; Table 1). The effect of TSA on the expression of Tlrs, Cd14, Cd36, and Md-2 was confirmed by real-time PCR (Figure 1E). TSA also inhibited the expression of adaptor molecules (MyD88 and Ticam2), kinases (Iraks, Jaks, Lck, Map3ks, Ripk2, Syk, Tank, Tbk1, and Traf1), phosphatases, and transcription modulators (Atfs, Cebps, Irfs, Junb, Nfkbs, Spic, Stats, and Socs1; Table 1). In addition, TSA down-regulated a wide range of LPS- and/or Pam₃CSK₄-stimulated mediators involved in chemotaxis, inflammation, tissue repair, and antigen processing and presentation. This list of genes included cytokines (II1a, II1rn, II6, II12a, II12b, II15, II18, Il23a, Il27, Ltb, Tnf, Tnfaip3, Tnfsf4, and Tnfsf9), chemokines (Ccl4, Ccl7-9, Ccl12, Ccl17, Ccl22, Ccl24, Cklfsf3, Cklfsf6, Cklfsf7, Cxcl2, Cxcl5, Cxcl12, Cxcl16, and Cx3cl1), growth factors (Csf2, Edn1, and Tmpo), and their receptors (Il1rl1, Il2rg, Il4ra, Il10rb, Il13ra1, Crlf3, Cxcl12, Cxcl16, Pdfrl, Tnfrsf1a, Tnfrsf14, Ifnar1, Ifnar2, Ifngr2, Csf3r, and Ednrb), cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (Calmp), matrix metalloproteinases, ubiquitins, proteasome subunits and molecules involved in autophagy (Atg161), antigen transport (Tap1 and Tap2), and peptide presentation (H-2D, H-2E, and H-2Q; Table 1). Therefore, TSA strongly affected transcriptome remodeling of BMDMs stimulated with microbial products exerting predominantly inhibitory effects, indicating that acetylation of histones or nonhistone proteins is required for optimal transcription of a large number of macrophage genes involved in microbial sensing and host defenses.

Cytokine production. To validate the observations generated from microarray profiling, we quantified the production of cytokines (ie, TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40) in BMDMs exposed to LPS, Pam₃CSK₄, *E coli*, or *S aureus*. Real-time PCR analyses (Figure 2A), bioassay, and ELISA measurements (Figure 2B-C) confirmed that TSA strongly inhibited TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 production in a time- and dose-dependent manner. Yet, TSA did not inhibit LPS-induced Tnf mRNA and protein (Figure 2A-B). Similar results were obtained in thioglycolate-elicited peritoneal macrophages (data not shown).

To confirm the findings obtained with TSA, we tested the effects of 2 other HDAC inhibitors: SAHA, a hydroxamate, and VPA, a short chain fatty acid. Like TSA, SAHA and VPA used at clinically relevant concentrations (4-100nM and 4-100 μ M) dose-dependently inhibited TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 production in BMDMs stimulated with Pam₃CSK₄ (Figure 2D). VPA also markedly reduced (up to 50-fold) the production of 13 of 15 mediators induced by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ in whole blood (Figure 2 E-F).



Figure 1. Trichostatin A inhibits the expression of innate immune genes in macrophages. BMDMs were preincubated for 1 hour with or without TSA (100nM) before exposure (C-D, 4 hours) to LPS (100 ng/mL) or Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL). Transcriptome was analyzed with Agilent Mouse Development Oligoarrays (A-B) or Mouse Oligo Microarray Kit V2 (C-D). (A) Number of genes either up-regulated or down-regulated by LPS and Pam₃CSK₄ without preincubation with TSA (fold change > 2 vs medium). (B) Effect of 1-hour preincubation with TSA on genes (expressed in percentage) either up-regulated or down-regulated by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ (fold change > 2 vs medium). White represents no change; red, inhibition; and green, increase by TSA compared with stimulation with LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ alone. (C) Heat map of selected pattern recognition molecules (medium, TSA, LPS and Pam₃CSK₄: 4 hours of incubation, LPS + TSA and Pam₃CSK₄ + TSA; 1-hour preincubation with TSA followed by 4-hour incubation with LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ alone) on a selection of genes up-regulated by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ and grouped into various categories based on their biologic functions (microbial sensing and killing; adhesion; cytokine, growth factor and receptors; signaling; antigen processing and presentation). White represents no change; red, inhibition; and green, increase by TSA compared with stimulation with LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ alone) on a selection of genes up-regulated by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ and grouped into various categories based on their biologic functions (microbial sensing and killing; adhesion; cytokine, growth factor and receptors; signaling; antigen processing and presentation). White represents no change; red, inhibition; and green, increase by TSA compared with stimulation with LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ alone. (E) TIr1-9, Md-2, Cd14, and Cd36 mRNA copy number was determined by RT-PCR and expressed relative to that of GAPDH. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments.

Table 1. Selection of genes whose up-regulation by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ is inhibited by TSA in BMDMs

Adhesion molecule	Innate receptor	Signal transduction	Phosphatase	Transcription regulator	Cytokine, chemokine, and growth factor	Cytokine, chemokine, and growth factor receptor	Antigen processing and presentation	Ubiquiti- nation	Others
Alcam	Aim1	Csnk1a1	Dusp1 (Mkp-1)	Atf3	Ccl4	Ccrl2	Atg16l	Ubc	Calmp
Cd47	Birc (cIAP2)	Irak2	Dusp4	Atf4	Ccl7	Crlf3	Ctsz	Ube1l	C1qa
lcam1	Card4 (Nod1)	Irak3	Dusp16	Atf5	Ccl8	Csf3r	H2-DMb1	Ube2c	C1r
ltga4	Carc15 (Nod2)	Jak1	Ptpn6	Batf	Ccl9	Ednrb	H2-Ea	Ube2d3	H2-Bf
ltga5	Cd14	Jak2	Ptpn9	Bcl3	Ccl12	lfnar1	H2-Eb1	Ube2e2	F10
Itgal	Cias1 (NIrp3)	Lck	Ptpn12	Bcl7c	Ccl17	lfnar2	H2-M3	Ube2j1	Mmp9
Itgax	Clec2d	Map3k7ip2		Bcl10	Ccl22	Ifngr2	H2-Q10	Ube2j2	Mmp14
ltgb3	Clec4a2	Map3k8 (Tpl2)		Cebpb	Ccl24	ll1rl1	H2-Q7	Ube2l6	Mmp25
Vcam1	Clec4d	Mapkapk2		Cebpd	Ccrl2	ll2rg	Psma3	Ube2m	Nos2
	Clec4e	Myd88		Cited2	Csf2	ll4ra	Psma4	Ube2r2	Pde4b
	Eif2ak2 (Pkr)	Pias1		Hmgb2	Cklfsf3	ll10rb	Psma5	Ube2v1	Pld2
	Fcer1q	Prkr		lkbke	Cksfs6	ll13ra1	Psma6	UbI3	Ptger4
	Fcgr2b	Ptk2		Irf1	Cklfsf7	Pdfrl	Psmb7	Ubtd1	Ptges
	Frp1	Ripk2		Irf2	Cxcl2	Ptafr	Psmb8	Ufm1	Ptair
	Fpr-rs2	Socs1		Irf5	Cxcl5	Tnfrsf1a	Psmb9	Usp12	Ptgs2
	lfih1 (Mda5)	Stk19		Irf7	Cxcl12	Tnfrsf14	Psmb10	Usp18	Sod2
	Lv96 (Md-2)	Svk		Junb	Cxcl16		Psme1	Usp24	Txn1
	Mefv (Pyrin)	Tank		Klf6	Cx3cl1		Psme2b	Usp42	Tnfrsf5 (Cd40)
	Msr1	Tbk1		Nfkb1	Edn1		Tap1		
	Pycard	Ticam2		Nfkb2	ll1a		Tap2		
	Scarb2	Traft		Nfkbib	ll1m		Tapbp		
	Ddx58 (RIG-I)	Trim30		Nfkbie	116		Tapbpl		
	Tlr1			Nfkbiz	ll12a				
	Tlr2			Pias1	ll12b				
	TIr3			Rel	ll13ra1				
	TIr6			Rela	ll15				
	Tlr7			Relb	1118				
	TIr9			Spic	1123a				
				Stat3	1127				
				Stat5a	Inhba				
					Ltb				
					Pbef1				
					Tnf				
					Ттро				
					Tnfaip3 (A20)				
					Tnfsf4 (OX-40L)				
					Tnfsf9 (4-1BBL)				

HDAC inhibitors down-regulated the production of IL-1ra and IL-10, suggesting that the reduced expression of proinflammatory cytokines was not the result of an increased expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines.

Expression of IFNs and IFN-dependent genes. Together with cytokines and chemokines, type I interferons (IFN- α and IFN- β) are central mediators of innate and adaptive immune responses against viral and bacterial infections.^{18,19} In response to LPS stimulation, macrophages produce copious amounts of IFN-B that stimulates the transcription of Ifna, Ccl2, Ccl8, Ccl12, Cxcl10, and Nos2 (encoding for iNOS), Irf7, and Irf8.20,21 LPS, but not Pam₃CSK₄, induced rapid (1 hour) Ifnb mRNA expression and sustained IFN-B secretion by BMDMs, whereas LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ induced early (2 hours and 4 hours, LPS) or late (8 hours and 24 hours, Pam₃CSK₄) Ifna4 mRNA up-regulation (Figure 3A-C). Interestingly, TSA up-regulated and markedly prolonged (up to 24 hours) IFN-B mRNA and protein expression after LPS exposure (Figure 3A-B), confirming microarray data (supplemental Table 2). In contrast, it completely inhibited the up-regulation of Ifna4 mRNA (Figure 3C). TSA also inhibited the expression of LPS-induced Ccl8, Ccl12, Cxcl10, Nos2, and Irf7 mRNA (Figure 3D) and of numerous other LPS-induced IFN-β-dependent genes (supplemental Figure 1). Yet, TSA did not reduce LPS-induced Ccl2 and Irf8 mRNA and late (24 hours) IFN- β -independent Ifna4 mRNA (Pam₃CSK₄) and Ccl5 mRNA (LPS and Pam₃CSK₄). Thus, the massive accumulation of IFN- β induced by TSA in BMDMs did not overcome its inhibition of IFN- β -dependent gene expression. Of interest, TSA dose-dependently suppressed the proliferation of splenocytes induced by LPS, Pam₃CSK₄, CpG ODN, or *E coli* (Figure 3E). It also inhibited the release of IFN- γ by splenocytes exposed to staphylococcal enterotoxin B, toxic shock syndrome toxin-1, or concanavalin A (Figure 3F).

HDAC inhibitors impair the response of DCs

We then examined the effects of HDAC inhibitors on innate immune responses of mouse BMDCs and human moDCs. TSA inhibited the production of cytokines (IL-6 and IL-12p40) and the up-regulation of CD40 by BMDCs stimulated with LPS, Pam₃CSK₄, CpG ODN, *E coli*, *S aureus*, or *C albicans* (Figure 4A-D). Similarly, TSA and VPA inhibited proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines (TNF, IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-1ra, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p40, and IL-12p70), chemokines (IP-10/CXCL10, MIP-1 β / CCL4, MCP-1/CCL2, and RANTES/CCL5), IFN- γ , G-CSF, and



Figure 2. HDAC inhibitors inhibit cytokine release by macrophages exposed to microbial products and bacteria. BMDMs were preincubated for 1 hour with or without TSA (100nM unless specified) before exposure to LPS (100 ng/mL), Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL), and heat-killed *E coli* or *S aureus* (10^7 CFU/mL). (A-C) TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 mRNA (A) and protein (B-C) production by BMDMs. TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 mRNA levels were analyzed by RT-PCR, and results are expressed as the ratio of cytokines to GAPDH mRNA levels. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments. Cytokine were quantified in cell culture supernatants collected after 8 hours (TNF) and 18 hours (IL-6 and IL-12p40). Data are mean ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment representative of 3 independent experiments. A.U. indicates arbitrary units. (D) BMDMs were preincubated for 1 hour with or without SAHA (4, 20, and 100nM) or VPA (4, 20, and 100µM) before exposure to Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL). TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 were quantified in cell culture supernatants collected after 8 hours (TNF) and 18 hours (IL-6 and IL-12p40). Data are mean ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment representative of 3 independent experiments. Close the representative of 3 independent experiments. Close are mean ± SD of triplicate samples from 1 hour with or VPA (4, 20, and 100µM) before exposure to Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL). TNF, IL-6, and IL-12p40 were quantified in cell culture supernatants collected after 8 hours (TNF) and 18 hours (IL-6 and IL-12p40). Data are mean ± SD of triplicate samples from 1 experiment representative of 3 independent experiments. (E-F) Human whole blood was incubated for 1 hours with VPA (E, 100µM) or TSA together with either LPS (10 ng/mL) or Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL). Cytokine and chemokine production was assessed by the Luminex technology ("Cytokine measurements"), and LPS/LPS + VPA ratios were calculated (E). TNF was quantified by bioassay. Data are mean ± SD of triplicate samples from one donor and are representative of



Figure 3. HDAC inhibition enhances the production of IFN- β . (A-D) RNA and cell culture supernatants were collected from BMDMs preincubated for 1 hour with (+) or without (-) TSA (100nM) before exposure to LPS (100 ng/mL) or Pan₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL). (A-B) IFN- β mRNA and protein expression was quantified by RT-PCR and ELISA. Results are expressed as the ratio of lfnb mRNA level to that of GAPDH. Data are mean \pm SD of triplicate samples from 1 experiment representative of 2 experiments. (C-D) Ifna4 (C), Ccl2, Ccl5, Ccl8, Ccl12, Cxcl10, Nos2, Irf7, and Irf8 (D) mRNA contents were quantified by RT-PCR. Results are expressed as the ratio of mRNA level to that of GAPDH. Data are mean \pm SD of triplicate samples from 1 experiment representative of 2 experiments. (C-D) Ifna4 (C), Ccl2, Ccl5, Ccl8, Ccl12, Cxcl10, Nos2, Irf7, and Irf8 (D) mRNA contents were quantified by RT-PCR. Results are expressed as the ratio of mRNA level of the gene of interest to that of GAPDH. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments. A.U. indicates arbitrary units. (E-F) Splenocytes were incubated with TSA and LPS (5 µg/mL), Pam₃CSK₄ (5 µg/mL), CpG ODN (CpG, 0.5µM), *E coli* (5 × 10⁷ CFU/mL), staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB, 1-5 µg/mL), toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1, 0.4-2.0 µg/mL), and concanavalin A (5 µg/mL). (E) Proliferation was measured by ³H-thymidine incorporation. Data are mean \pm SD of triplicate samples and are representative of 2 independent experiments. (F) IFN- γ production was quantified by ELISA in cell culture supernatants collected after 48 hours. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments.

TGF- α production by moDCs in response to LPS stimulation (Figure 4E-F). TSA and VPA also inhibited the up-regulation induced by LPS of the costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 and of CCR7 (Figure 4G). These results suggested that HDAC inhibitors affect biologic activities of DCs, playing a central role in orchestrating the innate and adaptive responses to infection.

HDAC inhibitors increase the expression and the DNA binding of the transcriptional repressor Mi-2 β

We then examined whether HDAC inhibitors affected signal transduction pathways in the macrophage (Figure 5). Neither

ERK1/2 or p38 phosphorylation nor NF-κB, c-jun, IRF3, or IRF7 nuclear translocation was inhibited by TSA, VPA, or SAHA in BMDMs, peritoneal macrophages, or RAW 264.7 macrophages (Figure 5A-C; and data not shown). Consistent with the fact that it enhanced LPS-induced IFN-β expression (Figure 3B), TSA markedly prolonged STAT1α/β phosphorylation (Figure 5D). Thus, HDAC inhibitors did not inhibit mitogen-activated protein kinases, NF-κB, IRFs, and STAT1 signal transduction pathways induced by microbial products in macrophages.

Given that histone acetylation is associated with active gene transcription, we then analyzed by chromatin immunoprecipitation



Figure 4. HDAC inhibitors inhibit the response of DCs to microbial stimulation. (A-C) BMDCs were preincubated for 1 hour with TSA before stimulation for 18 hours or the indicated time with LPS (100 ng/mL), Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL), CpG oligonucleotide (CpG, 0.7 μ M), and heat-killed *C albicans, E coli*, or *S aureus* (10⁷ CFU/mL). (A-B) IL-6 and IL-12p40 production. Data are mean \pm SD of triplicate samples and are representative of 4 independent experiments. (C) Cd40 mRNA expression quantified by RT-PCR. Results are expressed as the ratio of Cd40 mRNA level to that of GAPDH. Data are mean \pm SD of 1 experiment representative of 3 independent experiments. AU indicates arbitrary units. (D) CD40 mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) determined by flow cytometry. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments. (E-G) Human moDCs were preincubated for 1 hour with TSA (E-F, 100nM) or VPA (E-F, 100 μ M) before exposure to LPS (30 ng/mL) for 18 hours. (E) TNF and IL-6 production. Data are mean \pm SD of triplicate samples and are representative of 2 independent experiments preduction by 2 independent preparations of moDCs. Mediators were analyzed using the Luminex technology ("Cytokine measurements"). + indicates inhibition (fold change > 2); and -, no effect. (G) CD40, CD80, CD86, and CCR7 expression analyzed by flow cytometry. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments.

the extent of histone H4 acetylation of the Tnf and Il6 promoters in BMDMs stimulated with LPS or Pam_3CSK_4 (Figure 5E). TSA increased histone H4 acetylation of both promoters, suggesting that

there was no correlation between the status of histone acetylation and the observed down-regulatory effect of TSA on gene transcription (Figure 2A).



Figure 5. HDAC inhibitors increase Mi-2 β expression and recruitment to TSA-sensitive promoter. (A-I) BMDMs were preincubated for 1 hour with (+) or without (-) TSA (100nM unless specified) and exposed to LPS (100 ng/mL) or Pam₃CSK₄ (100 ng/mL) for the indicated time or 1 hour (E). NF- κ B DNA binding activity and NF- κ B p65, c-jun, phosphorylated (P-), and total ERK1/2 and p38 and P-STAT1 expression were analyzed by electrophoretic mobility shift assay (A) and Western blot (B-D) using nuclear (nuc) and cytosolic (cyto) extracts. The retarded complex detected by electrophoretic mobility shift assay was dose-dependently inhibited by cold wild-type but not mutant NF- κ B oligonucleotide, and supershifted using anti-p65 antibody (data not shown). Acetylation of histone H4 (E) and Mi-2 β recruitment (I) to Tnf and II6 promoters were analyzed by chromatin immunoprecipitation. Mi-2 β and BRG1 mRNA and protein levels were quantified by real-time PCR (F) and Western blot (G) with densitometric analyses (H). Data are representative of 2 to 5 independent experiments. (J) RAW 264.7 macrophages transfected with control (CtI), Mi-2 β (Mi), or BRG1 (Br) siRNAs. After 3 days, cells were analyzed by RT-PCR and results expressed as the ratio of cytokine to GAPDH mRNA levels. Data are representative of triplicate determinations from 1 experiment.

The Mi-2/NuRD and SWI/SNF (also called BAF in mammals) ATP-dependent remodeling complexes play a central role in regulating gene expression.²² Mi-2 β (CHD4) acts as a transcriptional repressor, whereas BRG1 (SMARCA4, the catalytic subunit of the BAF complex) acts as a transcriptional activator of secondary LPS-induced genes in J77.4 macrophages.²³ Given that HDAC inhibitors impaired the expression of secondary (ie, *Il6*) but not primary (ie, *Tnf*) LPS-induced genes in BMDMs, we hypothesized that TSA mediated its effects by affecting the expression of the Mi-2 β and BRG1 dyad. Interestingly, TSA markedly upregulated the expression of Mi-2 β mRNA in BMDMs exposed to LPS and Pam₃CSK₄ (Figure 5F). In constrast, TSA had a modest

inhibitory effect on the expression of BRG1. In line with these findings, TSA increased basal and LPS-induced Mi-2 β protein expression (Figure 5G-H). Chromatin immunoprecipitation studies revealed that TSA strongly increased Mi-2 β recruitment to the II6 promoter in BMDMs exposed to LPS, whereas it reduced the binding of Mi-2 β to the Tnf promoter (Figure 5I). siRNA-mediated silencing of Mi-2 β in RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages greatly enhanced LPS-induced II6 mRNA expression without a significant effect on Tnf mRNA levels (Figure 5J). Conversely, BRG1 silencing only had a very modest effect on both II6 and Tnf mRNA expression. Altogether, these data suggest that TSA may inhibit cytokine production via an increased expression of the transcriptional repressor Mi-2 β in macrophages.



HDAC inhibitors impair innate immune responses in vivo

We next investigated the effects of HDAC inhibitors in experimental models of bacterial and fungal sepsis or toxic shock titrated to cause either mild or severe infections or shock. We first verified that valproate enhanced the acetylation of histone H4 in vivo in peritoneal exudate cells and splenocytes (Figure 6A). In an otherwise nonsevere, acute K pneumoniae pneumonia model, valproate increased the proportion (53% vs 80%) and magnitude of bloodstream infections (Figure 6B; P = .04) and mortality (from 6% to 60%, P = .0004; Figure 6C). Consistent with valproateinduced impaired cytokine production by Calbicans-infected BMDMs and BMDCs (Figure 4; and data not shown), valproate treatment was associated with accelerated (mean time to death: 21.5 days vs > 40 days) and increased mortality (44% vs 75%, P = .02) in a model of chronic *Candida* infection (Figure 6D). Thus, inhibition of HDACs impairs host defenses in vivo, increasing the susceptibility to and mortality of bacterial and fungal sepsis.

Severe sepsis and septic shock are characterized by an early overwhelming inflammatory response to microbial invasion, and inhibition of proinflammatory mediators confers protection in sepsis models.^{24,25} We therefore tested whether valproate might exert protective effects in models of fulminant toxic shock induced by Pam₃CSK₄ or CLP. Administration of valproate caused a 2- to 3-fold reduction of IL-6 and IL-12p40 circulating levels (Figure 7A) and a notable increase in survival (0%-64%, P < .001) in the Pam₃CSK₄ toxic shock model (Figure 7B). Similarly, valproate treatment increased survival from 17% to 42% (P = .04) in the CLP model (Figure 7C).

Discussion

These studies identify an essential role for acetylation of histones and nonhistone proteins in the regulation of inflammatory and innate immune gene expression, and in host defensive responses against microbes. Genome-wide microarray analyses revealed a critical role for HDACs in the expression of host defense genes, including pattern-recognition receptors, adaptor molecules, kinases, transcription regulators, complement factors, cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors. HDAC inhibitors exert both



immunosuppressive (a predominant effect) and immunostimulatory activities. Located at the forefront of the host defenses against microbial invasion, macrophages and DCs are an important source



Figure 7. HDAC inhibition protects from lethal toxic shock and severe sepsis. (A-B) BALB/c mice were injected intraperitoneally with valproate (Orfiril, 200 mg/kg started 2 days before and discontinued 2 days after induction of shock) or PBS. Animals were sensitized with D-galactosamine and injected intraperitoneally with Pam₃CSK₄. (A) Plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-12p40 were determined 1 hour and 3 hours after challenge with Pam₃CSK₄. Data are mean \pm SD of 8 mice per treatment group. **P* < .001 for valproate versus PBS. (B) Survival of BALB/c mice subjected to Pam₃CSK₄-induced shock (n = 11 mice per treatment group; *P* = .001). (C) Survival of BALB/c mice subjected to CLP and treated with either valproate or PBS (every 12 hours, starting 30 minutes after surgery; n = 16-18 mice per treatment group). *P* = .04.

of cytokines. Inhibition of HDACs caused a marked reduction of cytokine and chemokine production induced by both cell types after exposure to TLR agonists. Of note, HDAC inhibitors also suppressed the release of IFN- α and IFN- γ by macrophages and splenocytes. Likewise, TSA inhibited IFN- α -stimulated gene activation and late IFN- β induction by Sendai virus and doubled-stranded RNA, and prevented IFN- α -mediated inhibition of the cytopathic effects of vesicular stomatitis virus.^{26,27} Unexpectedly, we observed that HDAC inhibitors sustained LPS-induced IFN- β production in BMDMs. Nevertheless, the expression of numerous IFN- β /STAT1-dependent genes was strongly inhibited by TSA and VPA, indicating that the increased production of IFN- β did not overcome the potent inhibitory effects of HDAC inhibitors.

Phagocytes and professional antigen-presenting cells help bridge innate and adaptive immunity. Macrophages and DCs are key producers of IL-12 and IL-23 promoting the generation of protective Th1 and Th17 responses against intracellular and extracellular pathogens.^{28,29} HDAC inhibitors were found to be potent inhibitors of IL-12 and IL-23 production by macrophages and DCs as well as CCR7, which is critical for the migration of DCs to secondary lymphoid organs (present data).³⁰⁻³² TSA inhibited the expression of several genes involved in antigen processing and presentation. Moreover, HDAC inhibitors have been reported to inhibit DC-stimulated allogeneic T-cell proliferation and Th1-cell activation³²⁻³⁴ and to block the differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells.³⁵ Thus, inhibition of HDACs impacts on several key macrophages and DCs functions likely to affect the production of critical cytokines and the mounting of protective Th1 and Th17 immune responses. Of note, TSA did not inhibit TNF production by BMDMs and peritoneal macrophages stimulated with LPS. In contrast, TSA exerted potent inhibitory effects on whole blood, DCs, and BMDMs stimulated with microbial products other than LPS (Pam₃CSK₄, E coli, and S aureus). Similar results were obtained using SAHA and VPA. These observations suggest that HDAC inhibitors differentially affect gene expression according to the cell type or the stimulus studied. This could account for the discrepant effects of HDAC inhibitors on TNF production reported in the literature.^{30-33,36} Indeed, delaying TSA treatment until 1 hour after the addition of Pam₃CSK₄ to BMDMs, or inhibiting protein synthesis at the time of preincubation with TSA, abrogated TSA-mediated inhibition of Pam₃CSK₄-induced TNF production. Thus, inhibition of stimulus-induced Tnf mRNA expression by TSA requires de novo protein synthesis, which cannot overcome a rapid induction of gene expression in BMDMs stimulated with LPS.

HDAC inhibitors have been reported to interfere with the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases, IRFs, STAT1, AP-1, or NF-κB signal transduction pathways. However, these findings have been inconsistent and controversial.^{26,30,31,36,37} In BMDMs, we did not observe any impact of 3 HDAC inhibitors (TSA, VPA, and SAHA) on ERK1/2 or p38 phosphorylation or on NF-κB, c-jun, IRF3, or IRF7 nuclear translocation induced by LPS or Pam₃CSK₄. Yet, we found that TSA markedly inhibited the recruitment of NF-κB p65 and of RNA polymerase to the II6 promoter (data not shown). This finding is consistent with the notion that acetylation of the NF-κB signal transduction pathway controls the extent, potency, and duration of NF-κB–mediated transcriptional activity.³⁸

Transcriptional repression mediated by HDAC inhibitors may also rely on acetylation-dependent recruitment of transcriptional corepressors or changes in chromatin architecture.³⁸ In line with this hypothesis, we have previously shown that TSA inhibits the expression of the proinflammatory cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor via a local deacetylation of chromatin impairing the recruitment of the basal transcriptional machinery to the macrophage migration inhibitory factor promoter.^{13,39} In the present study, we provide data suggesting that HDAC inhibitors induce the expression of Mi-2 β and the activity of the Mi-2/NuRD complex, which acts as a transcriptional repressor of secondary LPS-induced cytokines, such as IL-6. Although little is known about the in vivo function of Mi-2 β , mice deficient in metastasis-associated protein 2, a component of the Mi-2/NuRD complex, develop a lupus-like syndrome characterized by the hypersecretion of cytokines.⁴⁰

A main finding of our study is the fact that HDAC inhibitors impair the host natural defenses against microbial pathogens. Administration of valproate increased the susceptibility of mice to bacterial and fungal infections converting a nonsevere bacterial pneumonia into a highly lethal infection and markedly increasing the mortality of invasive candidiasis. Moreover, we have also observed that HDAC inhibitors reduced the expression of phagocytic receptors and phagocytosis and killing of bacteria by macrophages (M.M., J.L., T.C., T.R., manuscript in preparation). These results clearly demonstrate that the inhibitory effects of HDAC inhibitors on innate immune cells in vitro translate into robust immunosuppressive effects in vivo that negatively impact on the susceptibility to and outcome of infections. Several arguments led us to believe that these observations may have clinical implications. A vast amount of data indicate that interfering with critical mediators of innate or adaptive immunity (eg, TNF or IL-1) increases the risk of infections.⁴¹ Indeed, treatment of patients with TNF antagonists has been associated with an overall increased risk of bacterial (tuberculosis, nontuberculous mycobacteriosis, listeriosis, and salmonellosis) and fungal (candidiasis) infections.^{42,43} HDAC inhibitors are currently used for the treatment of hematologic malignancies and solid tumors often in combination with other cancer or immune suppressive therapies increasing the risk of infection. In phase 1 and 2 clinical trials, patients treated with valproate, SAHA, MS-275, and ITF2357 have developed severe infections, even without neutropenia, that could be the result of the immune-suppressive activities of these HDAC inhibitors.44-49 These data suggest that monitoring of infections may be warranted in clinical trials of HDAC inhibitors.

Taken advantage of their broad anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties targeting several key mediators implicated in the pathogenesis of septic shock (such as TLRs, MyD88, signal transducing molecules, and proinflammatory cytokines), we reasoned that HDAC inhibitors may prove to be beneficial as adjunctive therapy for septic shock. Consistent with this assumption, valproate exhibited remarkable protective effects in a toxic shock model induced by Pam₃CSK₄ and in the CLP peritoneal sepsis model. In a recent fascinating article, Xu et al detected histones in the circulation of septic patients and baboons and showed that these proteins played a pathogenic role in sepsis.⁵⁰ Purified histones H3 and H4 were found to be toxic for endothelial cells, to cause microvascular thrombosis, and to be lethal when injected intravenously into mice. Notably, antihistone H4 antibodies rescued mice from lethal shock induced by LPS, TNF, or CLP. Given that histones appear to act as noxious danger-associated endogenous molecular patterns, one may wonder whether the acetylation status of extracellular histones correlates with toxicity. If so, deacetylation of histones released by necrotic and apoptic cells could exert detoxifying and cytoprotective effects.

Taken together, the present data identify protein acetylation as a key mechanism regulating the expression of important innate immune genes critically implicated in the sensing of and host responses to microbial pathogens. Inhibition of HDACs impairs essential biologic functions of innate immune cells, reducing their capacity to induce a proinflammatory response, to engulf and kill pathogens, and to mount an adaptive response increasing the susceptibility to infection. On the other hand, the broad antiinflammatory and immune-suppressive properties of HDAC inhibitors were found to be beneficial as adjunctive therapy for septic shock. Thus, these results suggest that the use of HDAC inhibitors as anticancer agents may increase the risk of infection and sepsis, whereas they may offer new therapeutic options for the management of patients with septic shock.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by research funding from the Swiss National Science Foundation (310000-114073/1 and 310030-132744/1, T.R.; 310030-118266, T.C.; 3100A0-112370/1, J.S.; and

References

- Ishii KJ, Koyama S, Nakagawa A, Coban C, Akira S. Host innate immune receptors and beyond: making sense of microbial infections. *Cell Host Microbe.* 2008;3(6):352-363.
- Medzhitov R. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. *Nature*. 2007; 449(7164):819-826.
- Yang XJ, Seto E. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2008;9(3):206-218.
- Glozak MA, Seto E. Histone deacetylases and cancer. Oncogene. 2007;26(37):5420-5432.
- Xu WS, Parmigiani RB, Marks PA. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: molecular mechanisms of action. *Oncogene*. 2007;26(37):5541-5552.
- Bolden JE, Peart MJ, Johnstone RW. Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2006;5(9):769-784.
- Haberland M, Montgomery RL, Olson EN. The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2009;10(1):32-42.
- Minucci S, Pelicci PG. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2006; 6(1):38-51.
- Marks PA, Breslow R. Dimethyl sulfoxide to vorinostat: development of this histone deacetylase inhibitor as an anticancer drug. *Nat Biotechnol.* 2007;25(1):84-90.
- Prince HM, Bishton MJ, Harrison SJ. Clinical studies of histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009;15(12):3958-3969.
- Roger T, Froidevaux C, Le Roy D, et al. Protection from lethal gram-negative bacterial sepsis by targeting Toll-like receptor 4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 2009;106(7):2348-2352.
- Miconnet I, Pantaleo G. A soluble hexameric form of CD40 ligand activates human dendritic cells and augments memory T cell response. *Vaccine*. 2008;26(32):4006-4014.
- Lugrin J, Ding XC, Le Roy D, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors repress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression by targeting MIF gene transcription through a local chromatin deacetylation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2009;1793(11):1749-1758.
- Delaloye J, Roger T, Steiner-Tardivel QG, et al. Innate immune sensing of modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) is mediated by TLR2-TLR6, MDA-5 and the NALP3 inflammasome. *PLoS Pathog.* 2009;5(6):e1000480.

- Roger T, David J, Glauser MP, Calandra T. MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4. *Nature*. 2001; 414(6866):920-924.
- Roger T, Chanson AL, Knaup-Reymond M, Calandra T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes innate immune responses by suppressing glucocorticoid-induced expression of mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatase-1. *Eur J Immunol.* 2005;35(12):3405-3413.
- Le Roy D, Di Padova F, Adachi Y, et al. Critical role of lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and CD14 in immune responses against gramnegative bacteria. *J Immunol.* 2001;167(5):2759-2765.
- Bogdan C, Mattner J, Schleicher U. The role of type I interferons in nonviral infections. *Immunol Rev.* 2004;202:33-48.
- Borden EC, Sen GC, Uze G, et al. Interferons at age 50: past, current and future impact on biomedicine. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2007;6(12):975-990.
- Theofilopoulos AN, Baccala R, Beutler B, Kono DH. Type I interferons (alpha/beta) in immunity and autoimmunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2005;23: 307-336.
- Thomas KE, Galligan CL, Newman RD, Fish EN, Vogel SN. Contribution of interferon-beta to the murine macrophage response to the toll-like receptor 4 agonist, lipopolysaccharide. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281(41):31119-31130.
- 22. Chi T. A BAF-centered view of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2004;4(12):965-977.
- Ramirez-Carrozzi VR, Nazarian AA, Li CC, et al. Selective and antagonistic functions of SWI/SNF and Mi-2beta nucleosome remodeling complexes during an inflammatory response. *Genes Dev.* 2006;20(3):282-296.
- van der Poll T, Opal SM. Host-pathogen interactions in sepsis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2008;8(1):32-43.
- Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Ward PA. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(10):776-787.
- Nusinzon I, Horvath CM. Interferon-stimulated transcription and innate antiviral immunity require deacetylase activity and histone deacetylase 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(25): 14742-14747.
- Nusinzon I, Horvath CM. Positive and negative regulation of the innate antiviral response and beta interferon gene expression by deacetylation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;26(8):3106-3113.

3100A0-116075, P.F.), by the Swiss Society for Infectiology (Merck Sharp & Dohme–Chibret AG Award; T.R.), and by the Leenaards Foundation (T.R., J.S.).

Authorship

Contribution: T.R. conceived and supervised the studies, performed experiments, and wrote the paper; J.L., G.G., X.C.D., M.M., A.-L.C., M.K.R., and I.M. carried out in vitro experiments; D.L.R. performed in vivo experiments; T.K., P.F., and J.S. performed microarray analyses; and T.C. discussed the study results and wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Correspondence: Thierry Roger, Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois and University of Lausanne, BH 19-111, rue du Bugnon 46, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland; e-mail: Thierry.Roger@chuv.ch.

- 28. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-17 and Th17 cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:485-517.
- Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2003;3(2):133-146.
- Bode KA, Schroder K, Hume DA, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors decrease Toll-like receptormediated activation of proinflammatory gene expression by impairing transcription factor recruitment. *Immunology*. 2007;122(4):596-606.
- Bosisio D, Vulcano M, Del PA, et al. Blocking TH17-polarizing cytokines by histone deacetylase inhibitors in vitro and in vivo. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2008; 84(6):1540-1548.
- Brogdon JL, Xu Y, Szabo SJ, et al. Histone deacetylase activities are required for innate immune cell control of Th1 but not Th2 effector cell function. *Blood.* 2007;109(3):1123-1130.
- Reddy P, Sun Y, Toubai T, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibition modulates indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase-dependent DC functions and regulates experimental graft-versus-host disease in mice. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(7):2562-2573.
- Reilly CM, Thomas M, Gogal R Jr, et al. The histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A upregulates regulatory T cells and modulates autoimmunity in NZB/W F1 mice. J Autoimmun. 2008;31(2): 123-130.
- Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, et al. Human CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17-producing cells. *Blood.* 2008; 112(6):2340-2352.
- Cao W, Bao C, Padalko E, Lowenstein CJ. Acetylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 inhibits Toll-like receptor signaling. J Exp Med. 2008;205(6):1491-1503.
- Aung HT, Schroder K, Himes SR, et al. LPS regulates proinflammatory gene expression in macrophages by altering histone deacetylase expression. *FASEB J.* 2006;20(9):1315-1327.
- Calao M, Burny A, Quivy V, Dekoninck A, Van LC. A pervasive role of histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases in an NF-kappaB-signaling code. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2008;33(7):339-349.
- Calandra T, Roger T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(10):791-800.
- Lu X, Kovalev GI, Chang H, et al. Inactivation of NuRD component Mta2 causes abnormal T cell activation and lupus-like autoimmune disease in mice. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(20):13825-13833.
- 41. Scheinecker C, Redlich K, Smolen JS. Cytokines

as therapeutic targets: advances and limitations. *Immunity*. 2008;28(4):440-444.

- Wallis RS. Tumour necrosis factor antagonists: structure, function, and tuberculosis risks. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2008;8(10):601-611.
- 43. Dixon WG, Watson K, Lunt M, et al. Rates of serious infection, including site-specific and bacterial intracellular infection, in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2006;54(8):2368-2376.
- Kelly WK, O'Connor OA, Krug LM, et al. Phase I study of an oral histone deacetylase inhibitor, suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, in patients with

advanced cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2005;23(17): 3923-3931.

- Ryan QC, Headlee D, Acharya M, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of MS-275, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, in patients with advanced and refractory solid tumors or lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(17):3912-3922.
- Candelaria M, Gallardo-Rincon D, Arce C, et al. A phase II study of epigenetic therapy with hydralazine and magnesium valproate to overcome chemotherapy resistance in refractory solid tumors. *Ann Oncol.* 2007;18(9):1529-1538.
- Gojo I, Jiemjit A, Trepel JB, et al. Phase 1 and pharmacologic study of MS-275, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, in adults with refractory and

relapsed acute leukemias. *Blood.* 2007;109(7): 2781-2790.

- Rocca A, Minucci S, Tosti G, et al. A phase I-II study of the histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid plus chemoimmunotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. *Br J Cancer*. 2009;100(1): 28-36.
- Galli M, Salmoiraghi S, Golay J, et al. A phase Il multiple dose clinical trial of histone deacetylase inhibitor ITF2357 in patients with relapsed or progressive multiple myeloma. *Ann Hematol.* 2010;89(2):185-190.
- Xu J, Zhang X, Pelayo R, et al. Extracellular histones are major mediators of death in sepsis. *Nat Med.* 2009;15(11):1318-1321.

Supplemental Tables S1, S2 and S3 are large datasets that cannot be inserted in this document for a

matter of space. However they are available online at:

http://bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org/content/suppl/2010/10/07/blood-2010-05-

284711.DC1/Document1.pdf

Table S4. Oligonucleotides used in this study

	Forward (5'->3')	Reverse (5'->3')
For RT-PCR		
Actg1	CGCAAAGACCTGTATGCCAAT	GGGCTGTGATCTCCTTCTGC
Brg1	AAGGATGTGATGCTGCTGTG	CTTTCCTCGCCTTCACTGTC
Ccl2	GGATCAGAGATACTCATGAT	GAGAAGATTACCTGAGTACA
Ccl5	CTGCCGCGGGTACCATGAAG	TACAGGGTCAGAATCAAG
Ccl8	CGAGGGATTGAGAGGACGCT	ATGAGAAAACACGCAGCCCA
Ccl12	TTGGCTGGACCAGATGCG	GGGACACTGGCTGCTTGTGA
Cd14	CCCGACCCTCCAAGTTTTAG	GCTTCAGCCCAGTGAAAGAC
Cd36	TCCCTCACTGGAGGAAACTG	TGTGATATCTGGCCTTGCTG
Cd40	AGGTTTAAAGTCCCGGATGC	CCTTTGGTTTCTTGACCACCT
Cxcl10	GGATGGCTGTCCTAGCTCTGTAC	TGGGCATGGCACATGGT
Gapdh	CTCATGACCACAGTCCATGC	CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC
Hprt	GTTGGATACAGGCCAGACTTTGTTG	GATTCAACTTGCGCTCATCTTAGGC
Ifnb	GCATTTGAAAGGTCAAAGGAA	CCCTTTATAAGAAGTGTCCAGCA
Ifna4	CCTGTGTGATGCAGGAACC	TCACCTCCCAGGCACTGA
Il6	AGCAGTAGCAGTTCCCCTGA	AGTCCCTTTGGTCCAGTGTG
Il12b	GGAAGCACGGCAGCAGAATA	AACTTGAGGGAGAAGTAGGAATGG
iNos	CTCTGACAGCCCAGAGTTCC	GAAAGGGAGAGAGGGGGAGG
Irf7	CTGGAGCCATGGGTATGCA	AAGCACAAGCCGAGACTGCT
Irf8	GATCAAGGAACCTTCTGTGG	GAAGCTGATGACCATCTGGG
Md2	CAACTCCTCCGATGCAATTA	GGCACAGAACTTCCTTACGC
Mi2b	CAGCAAACAGCGTTTCATGT	AGCCAGCAGCCAGTAATCAT
Tlr1	CAATGTGGAAACAACGTGGA	TGTAACTTTGGGGGGAAGCTG
Tlr2	AAGAGGAAGCCCAAGAAAGC	CGATGGAATCGATGATGTTG
Tlr3	CACAGGCTGAGCAGTTTGAA	TTTCGGCTTCTTTTGATGCT
Tlr4	ACCTGGCTGGTTTACACGTC	CTGCCAGAGACATTGCAGAA
Tlr5	AAGTTCCGGGGAATCTGTTT	GCATAGCCTGAGCCTGTTTC
Tlr6	CAGAACTCACCAGAGGTCCAA	CGAGTATAGCGCCTCCTTTG
Tlr7	AATCCACAGGCTCACCCATA	CAGGTACCAAGGGATGTCCT
Tlr8	GACATGGCCCCTAATTTCCT	GACCCAGAAGTCCTCATGGA
Tlr9	ACTGAGCACCCCTGCTTCTA	AGATTAGTCAGCGGCAGGAA
Tnf	CCAGGCGGTGCCTATGTCT	GGCCATTTGGGAACTTCTCAT
For ChIP		
Tnf	CAACTTTCCAAACCCTCTGC	CTGGCTAGTCCCTTGCTGTC
Il6	AGGGCTAGCCTCAAGGATGA	AACCCACAATGCTGGCTCT
Il12b	TCTGCCTCCTTCCTTTTTCC	AGCTGCCTGGTCTGATGTG
For siRNA		
Control	AGGUAGUGUAAUCGCCUUGdTdT	
Mi2b	GAAACCUCGAGACCCUAAAdTdT	
Brg1	GGUAGAGUAUGUCAUCAAAdTdT	



Figure S1. Trichostatin A inhibits the expression of LPS-induced IFN- β -dependent genes in macrophages. Bone marrow derived macrophages were pre-incubated for 1 h with or without TSA (100 nM) prior to exposure for 4 h to LPS (100 ng/mL). The expression of LPS-induced (fold-change > 2 versus medium) IFN- β -dependent genes (Thomas et al, J. Biol. Chem. 2006; 281:31119-31130) was analyzed with Agilent Mouse Oligo Microarray Kit (V2).

3 HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS IMPAIR ANTIBACTERIAL DEFENCES OF MACROPHAGES

Matteo Mombelli, Jérôme Lugrin, Ivana Rubino, Anne-Laure Chanson, Marlyse Giddey, Thierry Calandra and Thierry Roger

The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2011, in press

3.1 Abstract

Histone deacetylases (HDACs) control gene expression by deacetylating histones and non-histone proteins. HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) are powerful anticancer drugs that exert anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities. We recently reported a proof of concept study demonstrating that HDACi increase susceptibility to bacterial infections *in vivo*. Yet, still little is known about the effects of HDACi on host antimicrobial innate immune defences. Here we show that HDACi belonging to different chemical classes inhibit at multiple levels the response of macrophages to bacterial infection. HDACi reduce the phagocytosis and the killing of *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* by macrophages. In line with these findings, HDACi decrease the expression of phagocytic receptors and inhibit bacteria-induced production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species by macrophages. Consistently, HDACi impair the expression of NADPH oxidase subunits and inducible nitric oxide synthase. These data indicate that HDACi have a strong impact on critical antimicrobial defence mechanisms in macrophages.

3.2 Introduction

The innate immune system plays a crucial role in host defences against invasive microorganisms. Professional phagocytes are key sentinel cells of the innate immune system. Pathogen recognition relies on the capacity of phagocytes to sense microbial molecular motifs (e.g. lipopolysaccharide, peptidoglycan, lipopeptides, mannans, glucans, flagellin and nucleic acids) via pattern-recognition receptors comprising Toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) like receptors (RLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) and scavenger receptors (1). The engagement of phagocytic receptors, either through a direct interaction with microbial motifs or through the recognition of opsonized infectious agents, stimulates the engulfment and the delivery of the pathogen to the phagosome. Phagosome maturation by fission and fusion with endosomes and lysosomes generates the phagolysosome which provides a powerful microbicidal microenvironment usually resulting in efficient microbial killing (2, 3). The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines during the course of an infection stimulates the production of powerful phagocyte activating molecules like interferon γ (IFNγ).

Reversible acetylation of the ε amino groups of lysine residues from histones and non-histone proteins (such as α -tubulin, steroid receptors, HSP90 and regulators of nuclear import and transcription) is controlled by histone acetyltransferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs). Generally, acetylated histones are associated with active gene transcription, whereas deacetylated histones are associated with transcription repression (4-6). The eighteen mammal HDACs have been classified into class I (HDAC1-3 and 8), class IIa (HDAC4, 5, 7 and 9), class IIb (HDAC6 and 10), class III (SIRT1-7) and class IV (HDAC11) HDACs (4, 7). Small molecule inhibitors of class I, II and IV HDACs were originally identified for their potential to induce cellular differentiation, growth arrest and apoptosis of transformed cells. HDACi targeting class I and II HDACs have been reported to counteract cancer development by reducing tumor angiogenesis, metastasis and invasion and antitumor immunity (4-6). Beside their anti-cancer properties, HDACi exert immunomodulatory activities that have been exploited for the treatment of inflammatory and auto-immune disease (8). Recently, we reported that HDACi interfere with the response of innate immune cells stimulated with TLR agonists and increase the mortality of mice to microbial sepsis (9). Yet, whether HDACi impair the phagocytosis and the killing of bacteria by phagocytes remains unknown. To more deeply characterize the influence of HDACi on innate immune responses, we investigated whether HDACi have an impact on key antibacterial defence mechanisms of macrophages. We report that HDACi reduce the expression of phagocytic and opsonophagocytic receptors and inhibit the phagocytosis of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), two of the most common infectious agents, by macrophages. Moreover, HDACi impair the generation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species by macrophages infected with bacteria, resulting in a marked reduction of bacterial killing.

3.3 Material and Methods

3.3.1 Cells and reagents

Animal procedures were approved by the Office Vétérinaire du Canton de Vaud (authorizations n° 876.6) and performed according to institution guidelines for animal experiments. Eight to ten-week-old female BALB/c mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (L'Arbresle, France). Mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) and thioglycollate-elicited macrophages were obtained as previously described (10, 11). RAW 264.7 macrophages were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium containing 2 mM glutamine and 10% FCS (12). E. coli O18:K1:H7 (E. coli) and S. aureus AW7 (S. aureus) are clinical isolates obtained from septic patients hospitalized at the Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (Lausanne, Switzerland). Trichostatin A (TSA) and valproic acid (VPA) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO), Salmonella minnesota Ultra Pure LPS from List Biologicals Laboratories (Campbell, CA) and IFNy from R&D Systems (Abingdon, UK). The concentrations of TSA (dissolved in ethanol) and VPA (dissolved in PBS) used in this study were selected based on previous publications (13-18) and did not affect the viability (Trypan blue staining and MTT Cell Proliferation and Viability Assay) of BMDMs (> 85 % cell recovery after 18 h of culture with 20-40 nM TSA and 1-2 mM VPA with or without bacteria. n = 6-9 determinations. P >0.5 for all conditions). Ethanol and PBS vehicle controls were performed in each experiment. For simplicity only one set of data is presented in each figure.

3.3.2 Assay for bacterial uptake and bacterial killing

E. coli and *S. aureus* were grown overnight at 37°C in tryptic soy broth (BD Biosciences, Erembodegem, Belgium), washed in PBS and adjusted to 10^7 CFU/ml in RPMI medium containing 10% FCS. BMDMs (4 x 10^5 cells in 24-well cell-culture plates, Costar, Cambridge, MA) were treated with TSA or VPA for 18 h. Medium was changed and cells were incubated for 1 h with bacteria at a multiplicity of infection of 20 bacteria per macrophage. Non-adherent bacteria were removed by washing with PBS. Extracellular bacteria were killed by a 30-min exposure to either 100 mg/ml of gentamicin (*E. coli*) or to 10 mg/ml of lysostaphin (*S. aureus*). BMDMs were washed and lysed. Serial dilutions of cell lysates were plated on agar plates and colonies enumerated to calculate the number of phagocytosed bacteria. In parallel wells, BMDMs were treated as above except that, after 30 min of incubation with antibiotics, cells were washed and incubated for a further 24 h in culture medium containing 20 mg/ml gentamicin or 10 mg/ml lysostaphin. Bacteria were enumerated and results expressed as percent changes in bacterial counts using the following formula: (count after 24 h / count after 1 h) x 100. Of note, neither TSA nor VPA at the concentrations used in the above assays were toxic for bacteria.

3.3.3 RNA analysis by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RNA was isolated using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Hombrechtikon, Switzerland). Reverse transcription was carried out using the ImProm II RT System kit (Promega, Dübendorf, Switzerland). Quantitative real-time PCR was performed with a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System using the Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) and primer pairs (**Supplementary Table 1**) as previously described (19). Samples were tested in triplicates. For each measurement, a standard made of successive dilutions of a reference cDNA was processed in parallel. The relative expression levels of NADPH oxidase subunits and iNOS were reported to the relative expression of Gapdh and expressed in arbitrary units (A.U.). The expression of phagocytic receptors and TLRs was calculated with the Comparative Ct Method ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct method). The expression of the target gene was first normalized to the endogenous control (Gapdh) and then to that of a calibrator (i.e. data obtained from cells cultured with vehicle set at 1). Importantly, the Ct values of Gapdh were not affected by TSA or VPA (19.24±0.13, 19.10±0.03, 19.30±0.48, 19.21±0.06 and 19.10±0.15 in BMDMs cultured for 18 hours with medium, 20 nM TSA, 40 nM TSA, 1 mM VPA and 2 mM VPA, respectively. *n* = 6 determinations. *P* > 0.05 for all conditions compared to cells cultured in medium). In selected experiments, results were validated using *Hprt* as an endogenous control.

3.3.4 Flow cytometric analysis

BMDMs cultured for 18 h with TSA (40 nM) and VPA (2 mM) were incubated 30 min at 4°C in PBS containing 5% FCS, 5 mM EDTA, 2.4G2 mAb and mAbs specific for macrophage scavenger receptor 1 (Msr1/CD204), CD11c, CD14 and MHC-II (20). Acquisition and analysis were performed using a FACSCaliburTM (BD Biosciences) and FlowJo 8.5.3 software (FlowJow, Ashland, OR).

3.3.5 Analysis of oxidative burst using the dichlorofluorescein diacetate fluorescence assay

BMDMs (4 x 10^5 cells in 24-well cell-culture plates) were cultured as previously described (21) and incubated for 18 h with TSA and VPA. Dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA) (20 mM, Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the cultures followed 15 min later by bacteria (5 x 10^8 CFU/ml). After 30 min, cell fluorescence was measured by flow cytometry.

3.3.6 Western blot analysis

Cell-lysates were electrophoresed through polyacrylamide gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes as previously described (12). Membranes were incubated with antibodies directed against iNOS (BD Biosciences), p47^{phox} (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA) and tubulin (Sigma). After washing, membranes were incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (Pierce). Signals were revealed using the ECL Western blotting Analysis System (GE Healthcare).

3.3.7 Nitrite/nitrate measurements

BMDMs (10^5 cells in 96-well cell-culture plates) were pre-incubated for 1 h with TSA and VPA and stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml), IFN γ (100 U/ml), *E. coli* and *S. aureus* (10^8 CFU/ml). Cell culture supernatants were collected after 24 h. The concentrations of nitrite/nitrate were measured using the Griess reagent.

3.3.8 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using PRISM (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Comparisons between the different groups were performed by analysis of variance using ANOVA and appropriate post-hoc analyses. *P* values are two-sided and values of less than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 HDACi inhibit bacterial phagocytosis by macrophages

We recently reported that HDACi impair host defenses to bacterial infection *in vivo* (9). Whether HDACi impact on the phagocytosis and the killing of bacteria is currently unknown. To fill in this gap, we first analyzed the phagocytosis of Gram-negative (*E. coli*) and Gram-positive (*S. aureus*) bacteria by bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) pretreated with two chemically unrelated HDACi: trichostatin A (TSA), a hydroxamate widely used as a prototypical broad spectrum HDACi, and valproic acid (VPA), a clinically relevant short fatty acid. The dose and duration of treatment with TSA and VPA were in the range of those used in cancer preclinical studies or measured in patients enrolled in cancer clinical trials (VPA) (see for example (13-18)). Phagocytosis was evaluated after 1 h of contact between bacteria and macrophages. As shown in **Figure 3.1**, HDACi dose dependently reduced the number of *E. coli* (2 to 4-fold; *P* < 0.05) and *S. aureus* (1.5 to 2-fold; *P* < 0.05) phagocytosed by BMDMs.

Figure 3.1. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair the phagocytosis of E. coli (A) and S. aureus (B). BMDMs were incubated for 18 h with increasing concentrations of TSA and VPA before the addition of 10⁷ CFU of E. coli or $1.5 \ge 10^7$ CFU of S. aureus. The number of bacteria ingested by BMDMs was determined 1 h later. Data are means \pm SD of quadruplicate samples from one experiment representative of two to three experiments. *, 0.05 < P < 0.005; **, P < 0.005.



3.4.2 HDACi impair the expression of phagocytic receptors

Macrophages express phagocytic scavenger receptors, including macrophage scavenger receptor 1 (Msr1/SR-AI/CD204), CD14 and CD36 and C-type lectins such as Dectin-1 (encoded by

Cle7a) which mediate the recognition of microbial ligands expressed at the surface of pathogens and initiate phagocytosis. Macrophages also express opsonic phagocytic receptors of the integrin family (integrin_{ax}/Itgax/CD11c, integrin_{B2}/Itgb2/CD18, integrin_{a5}/Itga5/CD49e) that facilitate the uptake of microorganisms coated with opsonins like the mannose binding lectin, complement sub-components, growth arrest specific 6, ficolins and pentraxins (2, 22). TSA and VPA reduced 2-10-fold Msr1, CD14, Dectin-1 and Itgax mRNA levels in BMDMs (**Figure 3.2A**). TSA inhibited Itgb2 expression more efficiently than VPA (2.4-fold with 40 nM TSA versus 1.4-fold with 2 mM VPA), whereas HDACi did not affect CD36, Itga5 and Itga6 expression. Flow cytometry analyses confirmed that TSA and VPA inhibited the expression of Msr1, CD11c and CD14 by BMDMs (**Figure 3.2B**). As a control of non-specific broad inhibitory effects of HDACi, MHC-II expression was not affected by HDACi. Altogether, these data suggest that reduced expression of phagocytic receptors may contribute to impair the phagocytosis of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* in macrophages treated with HDACi.

Figure 3.2. Histone deacetylase inhibitors inhibit the expression of phagocytic and Tolllike receptors. (A) Real-time PCR analysis of Msr1, CD14, CD36, Clec7a, Itgax, Itgb2, Itga5 and Itga6 mRNA expression in BMDMs incubated for 8 h with increasing concentrations of TSA and VPA. Data are means ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment and are representative of two independent experiments. (B) Flow cytometry analysis of Msr1, CD14, CD11c and MHC-II expression by BMDMs incubated for 18 h with medium (grey area), TSA (dashed line) and VPA (solid line). Results are representative of two independent experiments. (C) Real-time PCR analysis of TLRs in BMDMs incubated for 8 h with increasing concentrations of TSA and VPA. Data are means \pm SD of triplicate samples from one experiment and are representative of two independent experiments. A.U.: arbitrary units. *, 0.05 < *P* < 0.005; **, *P* < 0.005.



Figure 3.2 (continued). Histone deacetylase inhibitors inhibit the expression of phagocytic and Toll-like receptors.



3.4.3 HDACi inhibit bacterial killing

TLRs play a crucial role in the sensing of invasive microorganisms and in transmitting signals involved in the maturation of phagosomes (23). Interestingly, we observed that HDACi strongly reduced baseline expression of TLR1-7 and TLR9 in BMDMs (**Figure 3.2C**). Pathogen delivery to phagolysosomes usually results in effective microbial killing (2, 24). In agreement, less than 5% of *E. coli* and 25% of *S. aureus* phagocytosed by BMDMs were recovered 24 h later in macrophages (P <0.001) (**Figure 3.3**). TSA and VPA reduced 5-fold and 3-fold *E. coli* and *S. aureus* killing respectively (*i.e.* increasing bacteria recovery to 25% and 75% of the ingested inoculum; P < 0.05). Thus, HDACi inhibit both the phagocytosis and the killing of bacteria by macrophages, in agreement with the observation that HDACi increased the susceptibility of mice to microbial infection (9).

Figure 3.3. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair the killing of *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. BMDMs were cultured for 18 h with increasing concentrations of TSA and VPA before the addition of 10^7 CFU of *E. coli* or 1.5×10^7 CFU of *S. aureus*. The number of bacteria recovered from macrophages after 24 h was divided by to the number of bacteria recovered after 1h and expressed in percentage using the formula (i.e. (count after 24 h / count after 1 h) x 100). Data are means \pm SD of quadruplicate samples from one experiment representative of two to three experiments. *, 0.05 < P < 0.005; **, P < 0.005.



3.4.4 HDACi interfere with the generation of reactive oxygen species

In response to microbial challenge, macrophages produce highly toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS), which contribute to pathogen destruction (25). The generation of ROS in BMDMs was analyzed by flow cytometry using the cell permeable non-fluorescent dye DCFDA that is transformed upon oxidation into the highly fluorescent DCF. *E. coli* and *S. aureus* strongly increased DCF fluorescence in BMDMs, which was inhibited 2- to 3-fold by TSA or VPA (**Figure 3.4A** and **3.4B**). HDACi also inhibited the production of ROS in BMDMs stimulated with phorbol myristate acetate (> 10-fold reduction, data not shown) indicating that HDACi inhibit the oxidative burst induced by microbial and non-microbial stimuli.

Figure 3.4. Histone deacetylase inhibitors interfere with the generation of reactive oxygen species. BMDMs were incubated with TSA (40 nM) and VPA (2 mM) and exposed to E. coli or S. aureus as described in and Methods. Material (A) The generation of ROS was quantified by flow cytometry by measuring dichlorofluorescein (DCF) diacetate oxidation into fluorescent DCF. (B) Data are means ± SD of two independent determinations. P = 0.03 and 0.08 for E. coli and S. aureus versus control. *, P =0.05; *, 0.05 < P < 0.005 versus *E. coli* and S. aureus treated cells.



In macrophages, ROS are generated during the respiratory burst through the action of the phagocytic NADPH oxidase, an enzymatic complex composed of two membrane associated subunits, $gp91^{phox}/NOX2$ and $p22^{phox}$, three cytosolic subunits, $p47^{phox}$, $p40^{phox}$ and $p67^{phox}$, and the Rac2

regulatory subunit (26, 27). Cytokines, particularly IFN γ , and microbial products released during the course of an infection prime and amplify macrophage respiratory burst through the induction of NADPH oxidase subunits (21). Real-time PCR and Western blot analyses revealed that TSA and VPA dose-dependently inhibited baseline expression of NADPH oxidase subunits and potently inhibited the up-regulation of the catalytic gp91^{*phox*} and regulatory p47^{*phox*} subunits in LPS+IFN γ -stimulated macrophages (**Figure 3.5**). Altogether, these data provide compiling evidence that HDACi inhibit ROS production in macrophages.



Figure 3.5. Histone deacetylase inhibitors inhibit NADPH oxidase subunits expression. (A) Real-time PCR analysis of gp91, p22, p47, p67, p40 and Rac2 mRNA expression in BMDMs cultured for 8 h with TSA and VPA. Results are expressed as the ratio of the gene of interest to that of Gapdh. Real-time PCR (B) and Western blot (C) analyses of gp91 and p47 expression in BMDMs cultured for 1 h with TSA and VPA and then stimulated for 6 h with LPS+IFN γ (100 ng/ml and 100 U/ml). Data are means ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment and are representative of two independent experiments (A, B). *, *P* < 0.005 versus control (A) and LPS+IFN γ (B). A.U.: arbitrary units.

3.4.5 HDACi inhibit nitric oxide production and iNos gene expression

Nitric oxide (NO) is produced during the nitrosative burst by iNOS and represents an important antimicrobial effector mechanism (25, 27). TSA and VPA dose-dependently inhibited the production of NO by BMDMs stimulated with LPS+IFN γ (50-80% reduction; *P* < 0.05), in line with

previous work showing that HDACi inhibit cytokine-induced NO release (28, 29). More relevant for microbial infection, TSA and to a lesser extend VPA inhibited NO production induced by *E. coli* and *S. aureus* (50-60% reduction using 20 and 40 nM TSA and 30-35% reduction using 2 mM VPA; P < 0.05) (Figure 3.6A). In agreement with these findings, real-time PCR and Western blot analyses demonstrated that TSA and VPA inhibited iNOS mRNA and protein expression in BMDMs (Figure 6B and 6C). Similar results were obtained using thioglycollate-elicited peritoneal and RAW 264.7 macrophages (data not shown). Taken together, these results suggest that HDACi impair NO production by BMDMs in response to bacterial challenge by interfering with iNOS expression.

Figure Histone deacetylase 3.6. inhibitors impair nitric oxide production and iNos gene expression. BMDMs were cultured for 1 h with TSA and VPA and then stimulated with LPS+IFNy (100 ng/ml and 100 U/ml), E. coli and S. aureus (10⁸ CFU/ml) for 24 h (A) or 8 h (B-C). (A) Nitrite/nitrate concentration in cell culture supernatants was measured using the Griess reagent. Data are means ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment and are representative of four independent experiments. Real-time PCR (B) and Western blot (C) analyses of iNOS expression. Results are expressed as the ratio of iNos mRNA levels to that of Gapdh. Data are means ± SD of triplicate samples from one experiment and are representative of three independent experiments. A.U.: arbitrary units. *, 0.05 < *P* < 0.005; **, *P* < 0.005.



3.5 Discussion

In the present study, we report for the first time that HDACi inhibit the phagocytosis and the killing of bacteria, the expression of phagocytic receptors and the generation of oxidative and nitrosative bursts induced by bacteria in macrophages. These data extend our previous work demonstrating that HDACi interfere with cytokine production by macrophages and impair host defenses to bacterial infection (9).

The inhibition of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* phagocytosis by HDACi was associated with a reduced expression of phagocytic receptors, among which Msr1 (scavenger receptor A1). Mrs1 binds a wide range of microbial ligands and mediates non-opsonic phagocytosis of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* (30). Moreover, $Msr1^{-/-}$ mice are more susceptible than wild-type mice to *S. aureus* infection (31). Thus, HDACi-mediated inhibition of Msr1 expression may well contribute to impair bacterial phagocytosis, although HDACi may target other phagocytic receptors such as the mannose receptor, MARCO or CD14. Of note, HDACi decreased Dectin-1 expression in BMDMs. Considering that Dectin-1 is a major receptor involved in the recognition of β -glucan, we speculate that HDACi may affect the phagocytosis of yeast. In line with this hypothesis, we observed that VPA increases mortality of mice infected with *Candida albicans* (9).

The αx and $\beta 2$ integrin subunits contribute to the structure of complement receptor (CR) 3 and CR4 which mediate the recognition of opsonized microorganisms by phagocytes. $\beta 2$ integrins play an important role in anti-microbial defences as suggested by the observation that patient with leukocyte adhesion deficiency type I (LADI) syndrome (i.e. patients deficient in functional $\beta 2$ integrin) have defects in phagocytosis and are prone to bacterial infections (32). Altogether, inhibition of the expression of αx and $\beta 2$ integrins and scavenger and lectin receptors by HDACi support the contention that HDACi interfere with bacterial opsonic and non-opsonic phagocytosis.

HDACi powerfully inhibited the killing of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* by macrophages. This observation is congruent with the fact that VPA treatment increased the proportion and the magnitude of bloodstream infections in mice infected with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (9). Reactive oxygen and
nitrogen species are among the most deleterious components produced by phagocytes and implicated in the destruction of microorganisms (2, 24). Deficiency in members of the NADPH oxidase complex or in iNOS, which control the generation of superoxide (O_2°) and nitric oxide (NO°) radicals, impair the killing of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* by innate immune cells and compromise mouse survival (33-36). Moreover, germ-line mutation in one of the components of NADPH oxidase complex results in chronic granulomatous disease characterized by recurrent bacterial and fungal infections and reduced life expectancy (25). Inhibition of NADPH oxidase subunit and iNOS expression and of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species generation by HDACi likely represents an effective mechanism by which these drugs impair the killing of bacteria.

In agreement with the notion that phagocytosis is coupled with a proinflammatory cytokine response and with the observation that HDACi inhibit TLR expression, HDACi strongly impaired the secretion of cytokines and chemokines (TNF, IL-6, IL-12p40 and MIP-2 α , data not shown) by macrophages infected with *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. These data expand on recent studies showing that HDACi inhibit cytokine production induced by cytokines and purified microbial products in innate immune cells (14, 15, 28, 37, 38). Considering that proinflammatory mediators released during the course of an infection coordinate the development of innate and adaptive immunity, one may anticipate that HDACi interfere with the generation of pathogen-specific adaptive immune response.

HDACi have been reported to interfere with signaling pathways controlling the expression of genes particularly relevant for the present study. Indeed, HDACi down-regulate the expression of PU.1 transcription factor (37, 39), which regulates constitutive expression of HDACi-target genes encoding for integrins, scavenger receptors, TLR4, CD14 and p40, p47 and p67 NADPH oxidase subunits (20, 40). Moreover, HDACi have been reported to interfere with the activation of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs), NF- κ B and AP-1 which control inflammatory and antimicrobial host responses (15, 41). Albeit less well characterized, HDACi also impair gene expression through chromatin modifications or aceytlation-dependent recruitment of transcriptional repressors. For example, TSA inhibits the expression of the proinflammatory cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) through a local deacetylation of MIF-promoter associated histones impairing the recruitment of the basal transcriptional machinery (42, 43). Finally, we have recently shown that TSA inhibits macrophage response to LPS stimulation by inducing the expression of Mi-2 β and the activity of the Mi-2/NuRD transcriptional repressor complex (9).

HDACi have been used to treat inflammatory diseases in mouse models (8). Abundant preclinical and clinical studies indicate that interfering with critical mediators of innate or adaptive immunity increases the risk of infections. Thus, one may question whether HDACi might affect natural host defenses in patients, as could be anticipated from the powerful immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory activities of HDACi *in vivo* (8) and the increased susceptibility to bacterial and fungal infections of mice treated with HDACi (9). Patients treated with HDACi (SAHA, MS-275, valproate and ITF2357) in phase I and II clinical trials have developed episodes of severe infection even in the absence of treatment-induced neutropenia (44-49), suggesting the need of monitoring the immune status and susceptibility to infection of patients treated with HDACi, especially immunosuppressed cancer patients (4-6, 50).

In summary, the present study demonstrates that HDACi impair the capacity of macrophages to ingest and destroy Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. The fact that HDACi impede the expression of phagocytic receptors, the generation of oxygen and nitrogen reactive species and the release of proinflammatory cytokines provide a plausible mechanism whereby HDACi negatively impact on critical antimicrobial functions of innate immune cells and increase the susceptibility of mice to bacterial and fungal infection (9).

Conflict of interest. All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Funding. This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation [grant 310000_114073 and 310030_132744 to T.R. and 310000_118266 to T.C.], a MSD award from the Swiss Society for Infectious Diseases and the Leenaards Foundation to TR.

3.6 References

- 1. Ishii,KJ, Koyama,S, Nakagawa,A, Coban,C, Akira,S. Host innate immune receptors and beyond: making sense of microbial infections. Cell Host Microbe **2008**;3:352-63.
- 2. Stuart,LM, Ezekowitz,RA. Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. Immunity 2005;22:539-50.
- 3. Flannagan, RS, Cosio, G, Grinstein, S. Antimicrobial mechanisms of phagocytes and bacterial evasion strategies. Nat Rev Microbiol **2009**;7:355-66.
- 4. Bolden, JE, Peart, MJ, Johnstone, RW. Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov **2006**;5:769-84.
- 5. Glozak, MA, Seto, E. Histone deacetylases and cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:5420-32.
- 6. Minucci,S, Pelicci,PG. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer **2006**;6:38-51.
- 7. Yang,XJ, Seto,E. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol **2008**;9:206-18.
- Haberland, M, Montgomery, RL, Olson, EN. The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:32-42.
- 9. Roger, T, Lugrin, J, Le, RD et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair innate immune responses to Toll-like receptor agonists and to infection. Blood **2011**;117:1205-17.
- 10. Roger, T, Froidevaux, C, Le, RD et al. Protection from lethal gram-negative bacterial sepsis by targeting Toll-like receptor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **2009**;106:2348-52.
- 11. Roger, T, David, J, Glauser, MP, Calandra, T. MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4. Nature **2001**;414:920-4.
- Roger, T, Chanson, AL, Knaup-Reymond, M, Calandra, T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes innate immune responses by suppressing glucocorticoid-induced expression of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1. Eur J Immunol 2005;35:3405-13.
- 13. Atmaca, A, Al-Batran, SE, Maurer, A et al. Valproic acid (VPA) in patients with refractory advanced cancer: a dose escalating phase I clinical trial. Br J Cancer **2007**;97:177-82.
- 14. Bode,KA, Schroder,K, Hume,DA et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors decrease Toll-like receptor-mediated activation of proinflammatory gene expression by impairing transcription factor recruitment. Immunology **2007**;122:596-606.
- 15. Cao,W, Bao,C, Padalko,E, Lowenstein,CJ. Acetylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 inhibits Toll-like receptor signaling. J Exp Med **2008**;205:1491-503.
- Daud,AI, Dawson,J, DeConti,RC et al. Potentiation of a topoisomerase I inhibitor, karenitecin, by the histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid in melanoma: translational and phase I/II clinical trial. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:2479-87.

- 17. Munster, P, Marchion, D, Bicaku, E et al. Phase I trial of histone deacetylase inhibition by valproic acid followed by the topoisomerase II inhibitor epirubicin in advanced solid tumors: a clinical and translational study. J Clin Oncol **2007**;25:1979-85.
- Munster, P, Marchion, D, Bicaku, E et al. Clinical and biological effects of valproic acid as a histone deacetylase inhibitor on tumor and surrogate tissues: phase I/II trial of valproic acid and epirubicin/FEC. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:2488-96.
- Delaloye, J, Roger, T, Steiner-Tardivel, QG et al. Innate immune sensing of modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) is mediated by TLR2-TLR6, MDA-5 and the NALP3 inflammasome. PLoS Pathog 2009;5:e1000480.
- 20. Roger, T, Miconnet, I, Schiesser, AL, Kai, H, Miyake, K, Calandra, T. Critical role for Ets, AP-1 and GATA-like transcription factors in regulating mouse Toll-like receptor 4 (Tlr4) gene expression. Biochem J **2005**;387:355-65.
- 21. Anrather, J, Racchumi, G, Iadecola, C. NF-kappaB regulates phagocytic NADPH oxidase by inducing the expression of gp91phox. J Biol Chem **2006**;281:5657-67.
- 22. Areschoug, T, Gordon, S. Scavenger receptors: role in innate immunity and microbial pathogenesis. Cell Microbiol **2009**
- Blander, JM. Signalling and phagocytosis in the orchestration of host defence. Cell Microbiol 2007;9:290-9.
- Underhill,DM, Ozinsky,A. Phagocytosis of microbes: complexity in action. Annu Rev Immunol 2002;20:825-52.
- 25. Fang,FC. Antimicrobial reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: concepts and controversies. Nat Rev Microbiol **2004**;2:820-32.
- 26. Bedard,K, Krause,KH. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev **2007**;87:245-313.
- Lambeth, JD. NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4:181 9.
- Leoni,F, Zaliani,A, Bertolini,G et al. The antitumor histone deacetylase inhibitor suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid exhibits antiinflammatory properties via suppression of cytokines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:2995-3000.
- 29. Reilly,CM, Mishra,N, Miller,JM et al. Modulation of renal disease in MRL/lpr mice by suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid. J Immunol **2004**;173:4171-8.
- Peiser, L, Mukhopadhyay, S, Gordon, S. Scavenger receptors in innate immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 2002;14:123-8.
- Thomas,CA, Li,Y, Kodama,T, Suzuki,H, Silverstein,SC, El,KJ. Protection from lethal grampositive infection by macrophage scavenger receptor-dependent phagocytosis. J Exp Med 2000;191:147-56.

- 32. Bunting, M, Harris, ES, McIntyre, TM, Prescott, SM, Zimmerman, GA. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency syndromes: adhesion and tethering defects involving beta 2 integrins and selectin ligands. Curr Opin Hematol **2002**;9:30-5.
- 33. Shiloh,MU, MacMicking,JD, Nicholson,S et al. Phenotype of mice and macrophages deficient in both phagocyte oxidase and inducible nitric oxide synthase. Immunity **1999**;10:29-38.
- 34. Jackson,SH, Gallin,JI, Holland,SM. The p47phox mouse knock-out model of chronic granulomatous disease. J Exp Med **1995**;182:751-8.
- Ellson,CD, Davidson,K, Ferguson,GJ, O'Connor,R, Stephens,LR, Hawkins,PT. Neutrophils from p40phox-/- mice exhibit severe defects in NADPH oxidase regulation and oxidantdependent bacterial killing. J Exp Med 2006;203:1927-37.
- 36. Sasaki, S, Miura, T, Nishikawa, S, Yamada, K, Hirasue, M, Nakane, A. Protective role of nitric oxide in Staphylococcus aureus infection in mice. Infect Immun **1998**;66:1017-22.
- Aung,HT, Schroder,K, Himes,SR et al. LPS regulates proinflammatory gene expression in macrophages by altering histone deacetylase expression. FASEB J 2006;20:1315-27.
- 38. Brogdon,JL, Xu,Y, Szabo,SJ et al. Histone deacetylase activities are required for innate immune cell control of Th1 but not Th2 effector cell function. Blood **2007**;109:1123-30.
- Laribee, RN, Klemsz, MJ. Loss of PU.1 expression following inhibition of histone deacetylases. J Immunol 2001;167:5160-6.
- 40. Gallant,S, Gilkeson,G. ETS transcription factors and regulation of immunity. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz.) **2006**;54:149-63.
- Calao,M, Burny,A, Quivy,V, Dekoninck,A, Van,LC. A pervasive role of histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases in an NF-kappaB-signaling code. Trends Biochem Sci 2008;33:339-49.
- 42. Calandra, T, Roger, T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol **2003**;3:791-800.
- 43. Lugrin, J, Ding, XC, Le, RD et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors repress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression by targeting MIF gene transcription through a local chromatin deacetylation. Biochim Biophys Acta **2009**;1793:1749-58.
- 44. Ryan,QC, Headlee,D, Acharya,M et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of MS-275, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, in patients with advanced and refractory solid tumors or lymphoma. J Clin Oncol **2005**;23:3912-22.
- Kelly,WK, O'Connor,OA, Krug,LM et al. Phase I study of an oral histone deacetylase inhibitor, suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:3923-31.
- Gojo,I, Jiemjit,A, Trepel,JB et al. Phase 1 and pharmacologic study of MS-275, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, in adults with refractory and relapsed acute leukemias. Blood 2007;109:2781-90.

- 47. Candelaria, M, Gallardo-Rincon, D, Arce, C et al. A phase II study of epigenetic therapy with hydralazine and magnesium valproate to overcome chemotherapy resistance in refractory solid tumors. Ann Oncol **2007**;18:1529-38.
- 48. Rocca, A, Minucci, S, Tosti, G et al. A phase I-II study of the histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid plus chemoimmunotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. Br J Cancer **2009**;100:28-36.
- 49. Galli,M, Salmoiraghi,S, Golay,J et al. A phase II multiple dose clinical trial of histone deacetylase inhibitor ITF2357 in patients with relapsed or progressive multiple myeloma. Ann Hematol **2010**;89:185-90.
- 50. Song,W, Tai,YT, Tian,Z et al. HDAC inhibition by LBH589 affects the phenotype and function of human myeloid dendritic cells. Leukemia **2011**;25:161-8.

Supplementary Table 1. Oligonucleotides used for real-time PCR.

Gene	Forward (5'->3')	Reverse (5'->3')
<i>Cd14</i>	CCCGACCCTCCAAGTTTTAG	GCTTCAGCCCAGTGAAAGAC
Cd36	TCCCTCACTGGAGGAAACTG	TGTGATATCTGGCCTTGCTG
Gapdh	CTCATGACCACAGTCCATGC	CACATTGGGGGTAGGAACAC
Hprt	GTTGGATACAGGCCAGACTTTGTTG	GATTCAACTTGCGCTCATCTTAGGC
iNos (Nos2)	CTCTGACAGCCCAGAGTTCC	GAAAGGGAGAGAGGGGGAGG
Itgax (Cd11c)	CTCCTGAGTGAGGCTGAAATCA	TTATACATCTCCAGCACTGTCTTCGT
Itgb2 (Cd18)	ACAATCTTGCCGCAGAGC	AAGTTGGGGCCACCTTTACT
Itga5 (Cd49e)	CTCGGCTTCTTCAAACGTTC	AAGAAGAGCTTCTCCCCAGC
Msr1 (Cd204)	AGTGTAGGCGGATCAACCC	TCACTTCATTCAGCCATATTGG
$p22^{phox}(Cyba)$	AGGGGTCCACCATGGAGCGA	GCTCAATGGGAGTCCACTGC
$p40^{phox}$ (Ncf4)	CCGCCGCTATCGCCAGTTCTAC	CCGGCAGGCTCAGGAGGTTCT
$p47^{phox}$ (Ncf1)	CTATCTGGAGCCCCTTGACA	ACAGGGACATCTCGTCCTCTT
$p67^{phox}$ (Ncf2)	CCAGAAGACCTGGAATTTGTG	AAATGCCAACTTTCCCTTTACA
gp91 ^{phox} (Cybb)	CCAACTGGGATAACGAGTTCA	GAGAGTTTCAGCCAAGGCTTC
Rac2	GACACCATCGAGAAGCTGAAG	GTGAGTGCAGAACATTCCAAGT
Tlr1	CAATGTGGAAACAACGTGGA	TGTAACTTTGGGGGGAAGCTG
Tlr2	AAGAGGAAGCCCAAGAAAGC	CGATGGAATCGATGATGTTG
Tlr3	CACAGGCTGAGCAGTTTGAA	TTTCGGCTTCTTTTGATGCT
Tlr4	ACCTGGCTGGTTTACACGTC	CTGCCAGAGACATTGCAGAA
Tlr6	CAGAACTCACCAGAGGTCCAA	CGAGTATAGCGCCTCCTTTG
Tlr7	AATCCACAGGCTCACCCATA	CAGGTACCAAGGGATGTCCT
Tlr8	GACATGGCCCCTAATTTCCT	GACCCAGAAGTCCTCATGGA
Tlr9	ACTGAGCACCCCTGCTTCTA	AGATTAGTCAGCGGCAGGAA

4 HISTONE DEACETYLASE INHIBITORS REPRESS MACROPHAGE MIGRATION INHIBITORY FACTOR (MIF) EXPRESSION BY TARGETING *MIF* GENE TRANSCRIPTION THROUGH A LOCAL CHROMATIN DEACETYLATION

Jérôme Lugrin, Xavier C. Ding, Didier Le Roy, Anne-Laure Chanson, Fred C.G.J Sweep, Thierry Calandra, and Thierry Roger

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, November 2009, Volume 1793, Issue 11, pages 1749-1758

4.1 Summary

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is an important player of inflammation and tumorigenesis. Moreover, MIF levels correlate with tumor aggressiveness and metastatic potential. Given that inhibitors of class I, II and IV HDACs (HDACi) are potent antitumor agents with antiinflammatory activity, we tested the hypothesis that MIF represents a target of HDACi. Confirming our hypothesis, PCR analysis of MIF gene expression revealed that HDACi of various chemical classes (trichostatin A, valproate and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid) strongly inhibit MIF gene expression in a broad range of cell lines including myeloid cells, epithelial cells, keratinocytes and melanoma. Moreover MIF protein expression was deacreased in human whole blood and in the circulation of mice treated with trichostatin A. Nuclear run on coupled to transient transfection with MIF promoter reporter constructs and transduction with MIF expressing adenovirus revealed that trichostatin A inhibits endogenous, but not episomal, MIF gene transcription. These results highlighted the importance of the endogenous chromatin landscape in HDACi-mediated MIF inhibition. Interestingly, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) studies showed that trichostatin A induced a local and specific deacetylation of MIF promoter-associated H3 and H4 histones. Curiously however, the local deacetylation of histones did not affect chromatin accessibility as revealed by chromatin accessibility by real-time PCR (CHART-PCR). Nonetheless, the deacetylation of the MIF promoter was associated with an impaired recruitment of RNA polymerase II and Sp1 and CREB, two transcription factors eseential to drive basal MIF gene transcription. Overal, this study describes a new molecular mechanism by which HDACi inhibit MIF gene expression, and suggests that inhibition of MIF expression by HDACi may contribute to the antitumorigenic effects of this class of drugs.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamcr

Histone deacetylase inhibitors repress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression by targeting *MIF* gene transcription through a local chromatin deacetylation

Jérôme Lugrin ^{a,1}, Xavier C. Ding ^{a,1}, Didier Le Roy ^a, Anne-Laure Chanson ^a, Fred C.G.J. Sweep ^b, Thierry Calandra ^a, Thierry Roger ^{a,*}

^a Infectious Diseases Service, Department of Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois and University of Lausanne, Rue du Bugnon 46, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland ^b Department of Chemical Endocrinology and Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 June 2009 Received in revised form 30 August 2009 Accepted 3 September 2009 Available online 10 September 2009

Keywords: Macrophage migration inhibitory factor Histone deacetylase inhibitor Trichostatin A Chromatin Transcription factor

ABSTRACT

The cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor plays a central role in inflammation, cell proliferation and tumorigenesis. Moreover, macrophage migration inhibitory factor levels correlate with tumor aggressiveness and metastatic potential. Histone deacetylase inhibitors are potent antitumor agents recently introduced in the clinic. Therefore, we hypothesized that macrophage migration inhibitory factor would represent a target of histone deacetylase inhibitors. Confirming our hypothesis, we report that histone deacetylase inhibitors of various chemical classes strongly inhibited macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in a broad range of cell lines, in primary cells and in vivo. Nuclear run on, transient transfection with macrophage migration inhibitory factor promoter reporter constructs and transduction with macrophage migration inhibitory factor expressing adenovirus demonstrated that trichostatin A (a prototypical histone deacetylase inhibitor) inhibited endogenous, but not episomal, MIF gene transcription. Interestingly, trichostatin A induced a local and specific deacetylation of macrophage migration inhibitory factor promoter-associated H3 and H4 histones which did not affect chromatin accessibility but was associated with an impaired recruitment of RNA polymerase II and Sp1 and CREB transcription factors required for basal MIF gene transcription. Altogether, this study describes a new molecular mechanism by which histone deacetylase inhibitors inhibit MIF gene expression, and suggests that macrophage migration inhibitory factor inhibition by histone deacetylase inhibitors may contribute to the antitumorigenic effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), one of the first cytokine activity identified [1,2], is a proinflammatory mediator that plays a central role in the development of inflammation and innate and adaptive immune responses [3]. MIF has been implicated in the pathogenesis of acute and chronic infectious, inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. In addition, recent studies strongly support an important role for MIF in the control of cell growth and tumorigenesis at multiple levels. MIF stimulates cell proliferation through a sustained activation of the ERK1/2 MAPKs [4] and the induction of cyclin D1 (CCND1) [5] and promotes cell survival by inhibiting the p53 and retinoblastoma/E2F tumor suppressor pathways [6–8] and by activating the phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)/ Akt survival pathway [9]. Moreover, MIF promotes tumor-associated neovascularization [10] and inhibits antitumor natural killer (NK) and

cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses [11–14]. MIF also plays a role in the control of the response to DNA damage [15] and regulates tumor cell motility and invasion in a Rac1-dependent cell manner [16]. Finally, human cancer tissues, such as prostate, breast, colon, brain, skin and lung-derived tumors, have been shown to overexpress MIF [17,18]. Altogether, an accumulating body of evidence indicates that MIF have a crucial role in the development of inflammatory diseases and neoplasia.

The structure of chromatin is influenced by covalent modifications of amino-terminal tails of histones, particularly acetylation at lysine residues [19–21]. Acetylation is regulated by the opposing actions of histone acteyl transferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs). Increased histone acetylation has been linked to gene overexpression [22]. Transcription coactivators like p300/CBP and PCAF display acetyltransferase activity whereas transcription co-repressor complexes contain HDAC activity [23,24]. The current view is that histone acetylation induces chromatin scaffolding to assume a more relaxed, open structure increasing the accessibility of regulatory factors to DNA and favoring active gene transcription. Yet, several observations have challenged this traditional view. First, genome-wide expression

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +41 21 314 10 38; fax: +41 21 314 10 36.

E-mail address: Thierry.Roger@chuv.ch (T. Roger).

¹ Contributed equally to this work.

^{0167-4889/\$ –} see front matter 0 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.09.007

studies have revealed that HDAC inhibitors (HDIs) affect the expression of a small subset of cellular genes with similar proportions of genes down-regulated and up-regulated [25–28]. Second, an increasing number of non-histone proteins among which transcription regulators have been shown to be modified by acetylation [21].

An abundant literature indicates that deregulation of acetylation contributes to abnormal gene expression observed in many forms of cancer. Therefore, HDACs are considered among the most promising targets for intervention expected to reverse abnormal epigenetic status in cancer cells [19–21]. In agreement, HDIs have shown encouraging therapeutical results in preclinical studies [29] and the broad spectrum HDI suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma [30]. The powerful and specific anticancer activities of HDIs result, to a great extent, from their capacity to induce differentiation, growth arrest and/or apoptosis of transformed cells. HDIs may also affect cancer development by modifying tumor angiogenesis, metastasis and invasion and antitumor immunity [19–21].

Considering that MIF is overexpressed in malignant cells and the role played by MIF in tumorigenesis, we hypothesized that MIF could be a target of HDIs. Here we report that HDIs strongly inhibit MIF expression in various cell lines, primary cells and *in vivo*. Moreover, we describe a new molecular mechanism by which TSA, a broad spectrum HDI, inhibits *MIF* expression through a local and specific deacetylation of histones associated with the proximal MIF promoter. Altogether this study expands our comprehension of the mechanisms by which HDIs inhibit gene expression and suggests that MIF is a target of the antitumorigenic effects of HDIs.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Cells, mice and reagents

Human HeLa cervix epithelial cells and HaCat keratinocytes and mouse B16-10 melanoma were cultured in DMEM containing 4.5 g/ l glucose and 10% glutamax (Invitrogen). Human HL-60 promyelocytic, U-937 promonocytic and THP-1 monocytic cell lines, KG1a promyeloblasts and A549 airway epithelial cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium containing 2 mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen). All media contained 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Seromed).

Animal procedures were approved by the Office Vétérinaire du Canton de Vaud (authorizations no. 876.5 and 876.6) and performed according to institution guidelines for animal experiments. Eight to ten-week-old female BALB/c mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (L'Arbresle, France). Mouse bone-marrow-derived macrophages were obtained as previously described [31]. Mice (3 animals per group) were injected intraperitoneally with TSA (10 mg/kg) or an equal volume of diluent every 24 h. After 2 days, blood was collected. MIF in plasma (8 μ l) was analyzed by Western blotting.

TSA and valproic acid (VPA) and mithramycin A were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and SAHA from ALEXIS Biochemicals. Recombinant MIF and anti-human MIF antibodies isolated from the sera of MIF-immunized New Zealand White rabbits were obtained as previously described [32]. HeLa cells were transduced with the empty control and MIF-expressing adenoviruses [16,33] at a multiplicity of infection of 100. The medium was replaced by fresh medium 1 h after viral infection, and incubation prolonged for 18 h before the addition of TSA.

2.2. mRNA analysis

Total RNA was isolated using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen). MIF and $p21^{WAF1/CIP1}$ (p21 or cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A, CDKN1A) mRNA steady state levels were assessed by Northern blotting using PCR amplified DNA probes (primers are listed in

Table 1). Quantification of specific signals was performed using an Instant Imager 2024 (Packard). Total RNA was reverse transcribed using the ImProm-II Reverse Transcription System (Promega). MIF and hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 (HPRT) mRNA expression was analyzed by PCR. Quantitative PCR was performed with a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System using the Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) as previously described [34]. MIF mRNA expression was expressed relative to HPRT mRNA expression in arbitrary units.

2.3. Western blot and co-immunoprecipitation analyses

Cells were lysed in Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (Pierce). To detect histones, acid-soluble proteins were extracted as previously described [35]. Cell-lysates and acid-insoluble proteins were electrophoresed through polyacrylamide gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were incubated with antihuman MIF, α -tubulin (T 5168, Sigma-Aldrich) and acetylated histones H3 and H4 antibodies (06-755 and 05-858, Millipore), washed and incubated with horse radish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies. Signals were revealed using the ECL Western blotting analysis system (GE Healthcare).

For co-immunoprecipitation studies, total cell extracts were obtained by incubating 10^7 HeLa cells in a lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 2.5 mM Na₄P₂O₇, 1 mM β -glycerophosphate, 4 mM Na3VO4 and 1 μ g/ml leupeptin. 200 μ g of proteins were pre-absorbed with Protein G-Sepharose TM 4FF beads (Amersham). Supernatants were incubated overnight at 4 °C with acetylated-Lysine antibody (9441S, Cell Signaling Technology) and then with Protein G-SepharoseTM 4FF beads for an additional 3 h. The beads were washed and heated 3 min at 100 °C in electrophoresis sample buffer. Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting using anti-Sp1 (sc-59x, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and HRP-conjugated immunopure rabbit antigoat IgG antibody (31402, Pierce).

MIF protein decay was measured in HeLa cells pre-incubated for 1 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) and then cultured with or without cycloheximide (CHI, 10 μ g/ml, Sigma-Aldrich). Protein extracts were collected at intervals and analyzed by Western blotting as described above.

Table 1

	Oligonucleotide	5' -> 3' sequence
Probe synthesis	MIF S	CACGCTCGCAGTCTCTC
	MIF AS	GAGGCTCAAAGAACAGC
	p21 (CDKN1A) S	GACACCACTGGAGGGTGACT
	p21 (CDKN1A) AS	GGATTAGGGCTTCCTCTTGG
Nuclear run-on	MIF NRO S	CCGGACAGGGTCTACATCAA
	MIF NRO AS	AATTCTCCCCACCAGAAGGT
	ACTB NRO S	TAAGGAGAAGCTGTGCTAGG
	ACTB NRO AS	TTGCTGATCCACATCTGCTG
EMSA	Sp1 ^p wt	GCCTCGCGGGGGGGGGGGCCTGGCC
	Sp1 ^p mt	GCCTCGCGGGTAGAGGGCCTGGCG
	CRE wt	GCGGTGGCGTCACAAAAGGCGG
	CRE mt	GCCGGCGGTGGATACACAAAAGG
PCR	MIF S	GGTCTCCTGGTCCTTCTGC
	MIF AS	TGCACCGCGATGTACTGG
	Ad-MIF S	GCCAGAGGGGTTTCTGTC
	Ad-MIF AS	GTTCGTGCCGCTAAAAGTCA
	HPRT S	GAACGTCTTGCTCGAGATGTG
	HPRT AS	CCAGCAGGTCAGCAAAGAATT
ChIP and CHART	MIF S3	TCCCAGCATCCTATCCTCTT
	MIF S8	CGGTGACTTCCCCACTCG
	MIF AS1	GGCACGTTGGTGTTGTTTACGAT
	MIF AS3	TGGGGATGCGGCGGTGAACC

Base substitutions are underlined.

S: sense; AS: antisense; wt: wild-type; mt: mutant.

2.4. Whole blood MIF secretion assay

Whole blood (200 μ l) from healthy donors was diluted one in five in RPMI medium with or without TSA and incubated 20 h at 37 °C in a humidified incubator containing 5% CO₂. Samples were centrifuged at 3000×g for 3 min. MIF levels in supernatants were measured by ELISA as previously described [36].

2.5. Nuclear run-on

Nuclei isolation and *in vitro* transcription using biotin-16-UTP (Roche) were performed as described [37]. RNA was isolated using TRIzol® (Invitrogen), extracted with chloroform, precipitated with isopropanol and resuspended in 50 μ l sterile water. Total RNA (10 μ l) was conserved to monitor RNA input. Purification of biotinylated RNA transcripts was performed using the μ MACS Streptavidin Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec). Input RNA and biotinylated RNA were used for cDNA synthesis with random hexamer primers. The level of MIF and β -actin cDNA in the preparations was determined by PCR using specific oligonucleotides (Table 1). The PCR conditions were as follows: 95 °C 15 min, followed by 40 cycles consisting of 95 °C 30 s, 56 °C 30 s and 72 °C 1 min. PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis through agarose gels.

2.6. Transient transfection

The MIF promoter driven luciferase vectors have been described in details [38]. HeLa cells (5×10^4) were platted in 24-well culture plates. The following day, cells were transiently transfected using FugeneTM 6 transfection reagent (Roche Diagnostics) and 100 ng of luciferase reporter vectors [39]. Six hours later, transfected cells were exposed to the drugs. After 18 h, cells were harvested. Luciferase activity was measured using the Dual-LuciferaseTM Reporter Assay System (Promega).

2.7. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

Cells were treated with 1% formaldehyde for 30 min at 37 °C, harvested, washed twice with cold PBS containing 1 mM PMSF and 0.9 µg/ml aprotinin, lysed in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% SDS, 1 mM PMSF and 0.9 μ g/ml aprotinin (200 μ l per 10⁶ cells) and sonicated using a Soniprep 150 (MSE) sonicator (5 \times 30 s, amplitude 14). Cleared lysates (200 µl) were diluted 10-fold in 1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH8.0, 2 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1 mM PMSF and 0.9 µg/ml aprotinin. Twenty microliters were kept for controls (input DNA). The rest of the preparation was incubated overnight at 4 °C with 2.5 µg of control antibody (sc-2027, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or anti-acetylated histones H3 and H4 (06-599 and 06-866, Upstate), anti-phosphorylated CREB (9198, Cell Signaling Technology), anti-Sp1 (07-645, Upstate) and anti-RNA polymerase II (sc-9001x, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) antibody. One hundred microliters of Protein A Sepharose slurry (GE healthcare) were added to the lysates and the mixtures were incubated 2 h at 4 °C. Beads were extensively washed and immune complexes were eluted in 450 µl 1% SDS and 100 mM NaHCO₃. Input DNA and immunoprecipitated DNA were reverse-crosslinked, purified by phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol extraction, precipitated with ethanol and resuspended in 50 µl of water. MIF promoter sequence was detected by PCR using the S8 and AS1 primers (Table 1). The PCR conditions were as for nuclear run-on. p21 promoter sequence was detected as previously described [40]. Signals were quantified using an Eagle eye video imaging system (Stratagene).

2.8. HDAC activity assay

HDAC activity in $50 \,\mu g$ of nuclear proteins was measured using the HDAC assay kit (Millipore and BioVision) according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

2.9. Chromatin accessibility by real-time PCR (CHART-PCR)

Cells were incubated 10 min on ice in 15 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris pH 7.4, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM EGTA, 50 mM KCl, 0.15 mM spermine, 0.5 mM spermidine, 0.2% NP40 and 5% sucrose. The suspension was layered on a 10% sucrose cushion. After centrifugation, the nuclei were recovered in 15 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris pH 7.4, 50 mM KCl, 0.15 mM spermine, 0.5 mM spermidine and 8.5% sucrose. Nuclei from 10⁶ cells were diluted in the recommended $1 \times$ restriction enzyme dilution buffer and 1 U/ul of DraI or NotI. The reaction mixture was incubated 1 h at 37 °C. A non-digested control was included in the assay as well as a purified DNA positive control. Genomic DNA was isolated using the DNeasy Tissue kit (Qiagen), eluted in water, digested to completion with XmaI and used in real-time PCR. Quantitative PCR was performed with a Light Cycler (Roche) using the SYBR®-Green PCR assay (Qiagen) and primer pairs S3/AS3 and S8/AS1 (Table 1) overlapping the region of DNA targeted by restriction enzymes (Fig. 6). PCR conditions were as for nuclear run-on. Results of restriction digest were normalized to the intact region and expressed as percentage of non-digested DNA.

3. Results

3.1. HDIs down-regulates MIF expression

We used TSA, a broad spectrum prototypical HDI [19], to examine whether HDIs affect MIF expression. Analyses of MIF mRNA steady state levels in HeLa epithelial cells revealed that TSA decreased MIF expression in a time- and dose-dependent manner (Fig. 1A and B). Of note, other HDIs such as SAHA and valproic acid (VPA) inhibited MIF mRNA expression in HeLa cells (Fig. 1C). TSA strongly reduced MIF mRNA expression also in HaCat keratinocytes, HL-60, KG1a and U-937 leukemic cell lines, THP-1 monocytic cells, A549 airway epithelial cells and B16 melanoma (Fig. 1D and data not shown). Conversely, TSA was shown to reactivate the expression of p21 (CDKN1A) in all cell lines (Fig. 1A and D), indicating that the effect on MIF mRNA expression was specific. In line with a strong inhibition of MIF mRNA expression, TSA decreased intracellular MIF protein content in U-937, HaCat and A549 cells in a time-dependent manner (Fig. 1E and data not shown). TSA also strongly decreased MIF mRNA level in mouse bone-marrowderived macrophages (Fig. 1F) and MIF release in human whole blood (Fig. 1G). Strengthening these in vitro observations, injection of TSA in mice (10 mg/kg intraperitoneally q24 h for 2 days) reduced MIF blood levels two-fold (Fig. 1H). Overall, these data demonstrated that HDIs inhibit MIF mRNA and protein expression in cells lines, primary cells and in vivo.

3.2. TSA decreases MIF gene transcription

Nuclear run-on assays were used to determine whether TSA inhibited MIF mRNA expression via a transcriptional mechanism. Nuclei of U-937 cells cultured with or without TSA were isolated and subjected to *in vitro* transcription using biotinylated UTP. Neosynthesized biotinylated messengers were isolated, reversed transcribed and amplified by PCR using MIF and β -actin specific oligonuleotides. The level of nascent MIF, but not β -actin, mRNA was substantially reduced upon treatment with TSA (Fig. 2). These data definitively indicated that TSA decreased MIF mRNA expression by inhibiting the transcription of the *MIF* gene.

3.3. TSA targets endogenous MIF gene expression, but not ectopically expressed MIF

To test whether TSA impaired *MIF* transcription by interfering with MIF promoter activity, we first thought to analyze the transcriptional activity of MIF promoter (-858/+129, -308/+129,



Fig. 1. TSA down-regulates MIF expression. (A, B) Northern blot analysis of MIF and p21 (CDKN1A) mRNA expression in HeLa cells cultured for 18 h with increasing concentrations of TSA (A) or cultured for increasing time with 1 μ M TSA (B). Uniform RNA loading was verified by ethidium bromide (EtBr) staining of 28S and 18S RNA. (C) MIF mRNA expression in HeLa cells cultured 18 h with TSA (1 μ M), SAHA (1 μ M) and valproic acid (VPA, 1 mM) analyzed by real time–PCR. Results are expressed as the ratio of MIF to HPRT mRNA levels. Data are means \pm S.D. of triplicate samples from one experiment (*p*<0.005 for HDIs versus medium by two-tailed paired Student's t-test). (D) MIF and p21 mRNA expression in HaCat, HeLa, HL60, KG1a and U-937 cells cultured for 18 h with or without TSA (1 μ M). (E) Western blot analysis of intracellular MIF in U-937 cells treated for 0, 2, 4 and 8 h with TSA. (I μ M). Recombinant MIF (rMIF) was used as a standard. (F) MIF mRNA expression in mouse bone-marrow-derived macrophages cultured for 24 h with increasing concentrations of TSA. Results are representative of at least two independent experiments (A-F). (G) Whole blood was incubated for 24 h with TSA. MIF secretion was measured by ELISA. Data are means \pm S.D. of triplicate samples from one experiment (*p*=0.02 and 0.005 for 4 and 100 nM TSA compared to medium by two-tailed paired Student's t-test). (H) BALB/c mice (*n*=3) were injected with TSA (10 mg/kg i.p. q24h) or diluent (control) for 2 days. Blood was collected and a fixed volume of plasma was used to analyze MIF expression by Western blotting.

-157/+129, -81/+129 and +44/+129) luciferase reporter vectors in HeLa cells. In agreement with high MIF mRNA expression in resting HeLa cells, all but one construct (+44/+129) drove strong luciferase activity (Fig. 3A). In contrast to expectations, TSA treatment strongly increased luciferase activity driven by all MIF promoter reporter



Fig. 2. TSA inhibits *MIF* gene transcription. Nuclei were isolated from U-937 cells treated for 8 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) and subjected to *in vitro* transcription analysis. MIF and β -actin mRNA levels in elongated and initiated transcripts (nascent) and in total nuclear transcripts (input) were amplified by RT-PCR (see Materials and methods). PCR products were analyzed by gel electrophoresis.

constructs active at baseline. The proximal region of the MIF promoter contains several DNA-binding sites among which are one c-Myb, two Sp1 (Sp1^p and Sp1^d) and two cAMP response element (CRE^p and CRE^d) sites (Fig. 3B). We previously reported that Sp1 and CREB bind to the Sp1^p and CRE^p sites to positively regulate MIF promoter activity [38]. To analyze their involvement in TSA-induced transcriptional activity of MIF promoter, the c-Myb, Sp1 and CRE sites were disrupted in -157/+129 construct (Fig. 3B). Mutation of the cMyb and CRE sites did not impact on TSA-induced MIF promoter activity. In contrast, disruption of the Sp1^p site and, to a lesser extent, of the Sp1^d site reduced MIF promoter induction by TSA. Furthermore, mithramycin A, an antibiotic that interferes with Sp1 binding to DNA, abrogated TSA-mediated increased activity of wild-type but not the Sp1^p mutant MIF promoter (Fig. 3C), confirming that TSA increased episomal MIF promoter activity through Sp1 DNA binding. Overall, the effect of TSA on ectopically expressed MIF promoters did not recapitulate the inhibitory effect observed on endogenous MIF gene,



Fig. 3. TSA increases episomal MIF promoter activity. (A-C) HeLa cells were transfected with an empty pGL3 vector, human MIF promoter deletion constructs (-858/+129, -508/+129, -157/+129, -81/+129 and +44/+129) or the -157/+129 promoter construct with mutations (mt) in c-Myb, CRE^d, Sp1^p, and CRE^p DNA-binding sites. Of note, the Sp1 and CRE DNA-binding sites that control constitutive transcriptional activity of the *MIF* gene are deleted from construct +44/+129. After 6 h, cells were treated with or without TSA (1 μ M) and mithramycin A (100 nM). Luciferase activity was determined 18 h latter (right panel). Data are means \pm S.D. of six determinations from one experiment representative of two experiments. p<0.01 for medium versus TSA by two-tailed paired Student's t-test for -858/+129, -308/+129, -157/+129 and -81/+129 and for Sp1^p mt versus the -157/+129.

which probably relies on the fundamental differences that exist between episomal reporter constructs and endogenous chromosomal genes.

To further demonstrate that TSA specifically inhibited endogenous MIF expression, we transduced HeLa cells with an adenoviral vector encoding MIF under the control of the CMV promoter. A PCR discriminating between endogenous MIF mRNA and adenoviralderived MIF mRNA was used to evaluate the effect of TSA. As previously observed (Fig. 1), TSA dose-dependently inhibited the endogenous MIF mRNA steady state level (Fig. 4A). In contrast, TSA did not affect adenoviral-derived MIF mRNA expression. In agreement with these observations, TSA reduced MIF protein expression two-fold in cells transduced with the control adenovirus, whereas it slightly

increased MIF protein level in cells transduced with the MIF-encoding adenovirus (Fig. 4B). Altogether, these data argued in favor of a direct inhibitory effect of TSA on endogenous MIF gene transcription.

3.4. TSA deacetylates the proximal MIF promoter

Because the association of trans-regulatory elements with promoters occurs in the context of chromatin, we tested whether TSA affected the acetylation status of histones H3 and H4 associated with the proximal MIF promoter using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) (Fig. 5A and B). Interestingly, TSA markedly reduced (two- to three-fold) the level of acetylated histones H3 and H4 associated with the MIF promoter in both U-937 and HeLa cells exposed to TSA. The



Fig. 4. TSA does not inhibit ectopically expressed MIF. HeLa cells were transduced with an empty control (Ct) or MIF-expressing adenovirus (Ad) and treated 18 h later with TSA (0.5 μ M unless specified). RNA and proteins were recovered after 18 h. (A) Endogenous MIF, adenovirus (Ad)-derived MIF and HPRT mRNA expression levels were assessed by PCR. (B) MIF and tubulin expression was analyzed by Western blotting. Recombinant MIF (rMIF) was processed in parallel to estimate MIF content in HeLa cells. Results are representative of two independent experiments.

effect was specific of MIF promoter-associated histones since TSA increased the acetylation of histones H3 and H4 related to the p21 promoter (Fig. 5C). Moreover, as positive controls, we confirmed that TSA dose-dependently inhibited HDAC activity (Fig. 5D) at concentrations shown to inhibit MIF mRNA expression (Fig. 1) and raised global acetylation of histones H3 and H4 (5.2- and 8.3-fold for histones H3 and H4, Fig. 5E) in TSA-treated cells. Therefore, deacetylation of the histones H3 and H4 associated with the MIF promoter was an MIF-specific HDI effect.

To determine whether TSA-induced inhibition of MIF mRNA expression and MIF promoter histone acetylation required newly synthesized factors, U-937 cells were pretreated for 1 h with cycloheximide before exposure to TSA. Cycloheximide given alone gradually decreased MIF mRNA levels over time, indicating that MIF mRNA expression required protein synthesis. TSA alone decreased MIF mRNA levels similarly to CHI. The combination of cycloheximide plus TSA increased MIF mRNA levels at an early time point (1.6-fold increase after 2 h of treatment) but decreased MIF mRNA levels after 8 and 16 h as observed with cycloheximide or TSA (Fig. 6A). Cycloheximide did not modify the acetylation of MIF promoterassociated histones H3 and H4, whereas it counter-acted TSAmediated inhibition of histone acetylation (Fig. 6B). Thus, TSA decreased MIF promoter histone acetylation and MIF mRNA expression through a molecular mechanism requiring de novo protein synthesis.

3.5. TSA does not modify chromatin accessibility to the proximal MIF promoter

The proximal region of the MIF promoter contains several DNAbinding sites among which are one Sp1 (at -42 bp) and one cAMP response element (CRE, at -20 bp) sites that we previously reported to bind Sp1 and CREB to positively regulate MIF promoter activity [38]. We therefore developed a chromatin accessibility by real-time PCR (CHART-PCR) assay to test whether hypoacetylation of MIF- associated histones rendered the MIF promoter less accessible to Sp1 and CREB. Nuclei were isolated and incubated with *Dra*I and *Not*I that recognize sequences present in the distal and proximal regions of the MIF promoter (at nucleotide -528 and +41, respectively, Fig. 7A). Genomic DNA was subjected to real-time PCR amplification using primer pairs surrounding the *Dra*I and *Not*I restriction sites. The amount of material amplified was inversely proportional to the



Fig. 5. TSA deacetylates the histones associated with the proximal region of the MIF promoter. (A–C) U-937 and HeLa cells were treated for 10 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) and analyzed by ChIP assay using anti-acetylated (ac) H3 and anti-acH4 antibodies. Input and immunoprecipitated DNA were subjected to PCR amplification using primers specific of the promoter region of the *MIF* (A, B) and *p21* (C) genes. PCR were analyzed by gel electrophoresis (A) and signals quantified by densitometry (B, C). Results are representative of two independent experiments. (D) HDAC activity in nuclear extracts from HeLa and U-937 cells treated for 10 h with increasing concentrations of TSA (0–1 μ M). Data are means \pm S.D. of duplicate samples from one experiment. (E) Histones were extracted from U-937 cells treated for 10 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) and subjected to Western blot analysis using anti-acH3 and anti-acH4 antibodies. The gel was colored with Ponceau Red to visualize total histones. Results are representative of three independent experiments.



Fig. 6. TSA decreases MIF promoter histone acetylation through a molecular mechanism requiring de novo protein synthesis. Quantification of MIF mRNA expression determined by Northern blotting (A) and ChIP assay of acH3 and acH4 histones associated with the proximal MIF promoter (B) in U-937 cells cultured for 1 h with or without cycloheximide (CHI, 10 µg/ml) and then incubated for 10 h with or without TSA (1 µM). Results are representative of two independent experiments.

restriction digestion of DNA, and therefore to the accessibility of the chromatin. In agreement with the localization of important transcriptional regulatory elements in the vicinity of the *MIF* transcriptional start site, the proximal region of the MIF promoter (examined by *Not*I digestion) was highly accessible in both U-937 and HeLa cells. Conversely, the distal region (examined by *Dra*I digestion) was much less accessible (Fig. 7B and C). When cells were incubated with TSA, the accessibility to the proximal region of the MIF promoter slightly increased in U-937 cells, whereas it was not modified in HeLa cells (right panels in Fig. 7B and C). Finally, the accessibility to the distal region of the MIF promoter slightly increased in U-937 cells, whereas it was not modified in HeLa cells (right panels in Fig. 7B and C). Finally, the accessibility to the distal region of the MIF promoter was not affected by TSA (left panels in Fig. 7B and C). Thus, remodeling of chromatin accessibility by TSA was not a major mechanism whereby TSA inhibited *MIF* gene transcription.

3.6. TSA decreases the recruitment of regulatory proteins to the proximal MIF promoter

The hypoacetylation of the MIF proximal promoter induced by TSA could potentially affect the binding of transcription regulatory factors essential for basal MIF expression such as Sp1 and CREB [38] and thereby prevent efficient RNA polymerase II recruitment. To address this question, we analyzed by ChIP the level of Sp1, CREB and RNA polymerase II interacting with the proximal MIF promoter (Fig. 8A and B). Whereas Sp1, CREB and RNA polymerase II were shown to be bound to the MIF promoter in resting U-937 cells, TSA strongly reduced their binding to DNA, which provided a molecular mechanism by which TSA inhibited MIF gene transcription. Of note, Western blot analyses demonstrated that TSA did not reduce the quantity of nuclear Sp1 and CREB (Fig. 8C and D). Moreover, co-immunoprecipitation analyses confirmed that TSA increased Sp1 acetylation (Fig. 8D), which has been associated with Sp1 transcriptional activity [41]. Altogether, these results ruled out the possibility that TSA decreased Sp1 and CREB binding to the endogenous MIF promoter by affecting their expression level or Sp1 acetylation status.

4. Discussion

We report that HDIs down-regulate the expression of the proinflammatory and protumorigenic cytokine MIF through a new molecular mechanism involving a local deacetylation of MIF promoter-associated histones which does not modify chromatin accessibility but impairs the recruitment of the basal transcriptional machinery to the proximal MIF promoter. Although the relative contribution of specific HDACs in these process has not been determined, the observation that chemically unrelated HDIs inhibited MIF expression argues for an important contribution of HDAC in regulating MIF expression.

Histone acetylation has been traditionally seen as a positive marker for transcription. It is generally admitted that elevated histone acetylation level induces a more open, transcriptionally more active chromatin state. This notion is, however, hardly reconcilable with the fact that HDIs, albeit strongly raising global histone acetylation, induce transcriptional changes of only 2–10% of the transcriptome. Interestingly, comparison of the transcriptome of different cancer cell lines treated with HDIs has identified common subsets of genes being



Fig. 7. TSA does not impair the accessibility to the chromatin associated with the MIF promoter. (A) Schematic representation of the MIF promoter showing MIF exon I (grey box), the translational start site (upper arrow), the Sp1 and CRE DNA-binding sites that regulate basal MIF promoter transcriptional activity, the *Dra*I and *Not*I restriction sites (nucleotide localization is relative to the transcriptional start site) and the relative localization of S3/AS3 and S8/AS1 primer pairs used to amplify by real-time PCR the DNA region surrounding the *Dra*I and *Not*I sites. (B, C) Nuclei isolated from U-937 cells (B) and HeLa cells (C) treated for 10 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) were subjected to digestion with *Dra*I and *Not*I and analyzed by chromatin accessibility by real-time PCR. A non-digested control as well as a purified DNA positive control was included in the assays (data not shown). Data from restriction digests were normalized to those obtained without digestion set at 1. Data are means \pm S.D. of three independent determinations. Similar results were obtained using cells incubated for 4, 10 and 24 h with TSA (data not shown).

1756



Fig. 8. TSA decreases the binding of Sp1, CREB and RNA polymerase II to the proximal region of the MIF promoter. HeLa cells were treated for 10 h with or without TSA (1 μ M) and analyzed by ChIP assay using anti-Sp1, anti-phospho-CREB (pCREB) and anti-RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) antibodies. (A) The immunoprecipitated DNA was subjected to PCR amplification using primers specific for the proximal region of the MIF promoter. (B) Densitometric quantification of the gels shown in panel A. (C–E) Western blot analysis of Sp1 and phosphorylated CREB (pCREB) nuclear content (C, D) and co-immunoprecipitation study of acetylated Sp1 expression (D) in HeLa cells treated with TSA (1 μ M in C, E) for the indicated time (C, E) or 10 h (D). Similar results were obtained in two independent experiments.

either activated or repressed, primarily genes encoding for proteins involved in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, signaling and regulation of transcription [25–28]. The basis for this selectivity remains largely unknown and probably involves multiple components as HDIs modify the acetylation status of an increasing list of non-histone substrates including transcription factors and signal transduction mediators.

We found that MIF expression was strongly repressed by HDIs in a broad range of cell lines, including myeloid cells, epithelial cells, keratinocytes and melanoma. Considering that MIF is overexpressed in multiple kinds of tumors and that MIF expression levels have been associated with tumor aggressiveness and metastatic potential [12,42,43], MIF may represent a common target of the anticancer effects of HDIs.

While numerous studies have dissected the molecular mechanisms by which HDIs relieve gene expression, very little is known about how these drugs repress gene expression, particularly constitutive expression. Whereas TSA inhibited *MIF* gene transcription, it vigorously activated ectopically expressed MIF promoters concomitantly with an increased Sp1 acetylation. This effect was lost when the proximal Sp1 DNA binding site was mutated in MIF promoter reporter constructs, which is in fact in agreement with the observation that Sp1 acetylation increases its transcriptional activity [41]. Yet, of importance, these observations definitely illustrate the fundamental differences that exist between episomal reporter constructs and endogenous chromosomal genes and the risk of drawing conclusions from the analysis of transfected reporter gene exposed to chromatin remodeling agents [44].

In the context of HDAC inhibition, Sp1 regulatory elements, which we previously demonstrated to regulate MIF promoter activity [38], may have a dual role on ectopically expressed promoters. Indeed, Sp1 sites both increased (inhibitor of Cdk4, HMG-CoA synthase, CDKN1A and EC-SOD) [45–48] and inhibited (BCL2 and TGF β type II receptor) [49,50] promoter activity upon TSA treatment. The dual role of Sp1 sites might reflect differences in promoter specific sequences allowing the recruitment of additional transcriptional co-regulators (activators or repressors), acetylation-dependent modifications of Sp1 activity, changes in chromatin architecture or even the cell type considered.

Considering that TSA strongly increased overall histone acetylation, it was unanticipated to detect a local deacetylation of histones associated with the proximal MIF promoter in cells exposed to TSA. MIF is one of the very rare examples of promoter deacetylation by HDIs, with that of *high-mobility-group A2* (*HMGA2*) in NIH-3T3 cells [51] and of *BCL2* in human lymphoma [49]. The local deacetylation of these promoters, while in apparent contradiction with the proacetylation properties of HDIs, is actually concordant with the fact that HDIs repressed *MIF*, *HMGA2* and *BCL2* gene expression. Genome-wide ChIP experiments (ChiP on Chip) combined with transcriptome analyses will be required to have a comprehensive view of the reciprocal influence of HDIs on histone acetylation and gene expression.

Transcriptome analyses have revealed that inhibition of protein synthesis by CHI prevents most of the effects of HDIs on gene expression [52]. In line with this observation, CHI prevented histone deacetylation by TSA. Co-treatment with TSA and CHI up-regulated MIF mRNA expression early on, whereas TSA-mediated repression of MIF mRNA expression required several hours. These data suggest that inhibition of MIF mRNA synthesis by TSA is not a direct effect but presumably belongs to a secondary response determined by *de novo* synthesis of transcriptional repressors that remain to be identified. Of note, we observed that TSA reduced MIF protein half-life from more than 18 h in HeLa cells cultured with CHI with or without preincubation for 1 h with TSA, to 4.5 h in cells cultured with TSA alone. Therefore, TSA not only affected *MIF* transcription, but also stimulated MIF protein degradation through a process requiring protein synthesis.

Considering that TSA reduced MIF promoter histone acetylation, we speculated that this DNA region would be less accessible to Sp1 and CREB which positively regulate constitutive *MIF* gene expression [38]. Whereas our ChIP experiments confirmed that TSA reduced the binding of Sp1, CREB and RNA polymerase II to the MIF promoter, analysis of chromatin accessibility by real-time PCR clearly demonstrated that the accessibility to the proximal region of the MIF promoter was not affected by TSA. This unique situation challenges the concept that hypoacetylated chromatin forms a compact structure [24]. Since TSA did not impact on Sp1 and CREB expression levels, further work will be required to test whether TSA displaces the binding of Sp1 and CREB from the MIF promoter through a direct modification of these proteins affecting their DNA binding capacity or through the recruitment of a transcriptional repressor competing with, or disrupting, Sp1 and CREB DNA binding.

MIF promotes cell proliferation and survival through activation of the PI3K/Akt survival pathway and through inhibition of the p53/ CDKN1A and retinoblastoma/E2F tumor suppressor pathways [6–8]. Conversely, HDIs have been reported to induce tumor cell apoptosis by inhibiting Akt signaling which is constitutively activated in many types of cancer [53–55]. Moreover, HDIs most invariably increase tumor expression of CDKN1A in either a p53-dependent or a p53independent manner. Therefore, it is tempting to speculate that inhibition of MIF expression by HDIs is a significant contributor of the pro-apoptotic effects of HDIs.

The inflammatory cells and mediators in the tumor microenvironment participate in neoplastic processes, orchestrating survival, proliferation and migration of malignant cells, promoting angiogenesis and altering antitumor adaptive immune responses and response to cancer therapy [56,57]. Besides its effect on cell proliferation and survival, MIF has been reported to promote tumor-associated angiogenesis [10] and to inhibit antitumor NK and CTL responses [11–14]. Following these observations and considering the wellestablished central role played by MIF in acute and chronic inflammatory responses [3], inhibition of MIF-mediated inflammation by HDIs may represent an important facet by which HDIs interfere with tumorigenesis.

Recent studies converge to attribute MIF an important role in tumor development. Transplantation of neuroblastoma, ovarian cancer and melanoma cell lines engineered to express reduced levels of MIF resulted in delayed or reduced tumor establishment, progression and metastasis and improved animal survival [14,58–60]. Similarly, the development of chemically induced fibrosarcoma and muscle invasion of bladder cancer was impaired in MIF^{-/-} compared to wild-type mice [61,62]. Considering that TSA reduced MIF blood levels in mice (Fig. 1H), it will be of interest to analyze whether the anticancer activity of HDIs is associated with decreased MIF expression *in vivo*.

In conclusion, we report that HDIs inhibit *MIF* gene expression through a local deacetylation of MIF promoter-associated histones that affects the recruitment of the basal transcription machinery. MIF has a unique spectrum of biological activities, which positions MIF as a central mediator of inflammation and innate immunity and as an important contributor to cell proliferation, malignant transformation and angiogenesis. Bringing together the observations that MIF expression levels correlate with tumor aggressiveness and metastatic potential, that altered expression of HDACs contributes to tumor development and that HDIs powerfully inhibit MIF expression, we propose that MIF could represent a candidate for potential targeted or adjunctive anticancer therapy.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation (310000-114073/1), the Leenaards Foundation and Merck Sharp & Dohme-Chibret AG to TR and grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation (3100-066972.01), the Bristol-Myers Squibb Foundation, the Leenaards Foundation and the Santos-Suarez Foundation for Medical Research to TC.

References

- B.R. Bloom, B. Bennett, Mechanism of a reaction in vitro associated with delayedtype hypersensitivity, Science 153 (1966) 80–82.
- [2] J.R. David, Delayed hypersensitivity in vitro: its mediation by cell-free substances formed by lymphoid cell-antigen interaction, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 56 (1966) 72–77.
- [3] T. Calandra, T. Roger, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3 (2003) 791–800.
- [4] R.A. Mitchell, C.N. Metz, T. Peng, R. Bucala, Sustained mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and cytoplasmic phospholipase A2 activation by macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF). Regulatory role in cell proliferation and glucocorticoid action, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 18100–18106.
- [5] J.D. Swant, B.E. Rendon, M. Symons, R.A. Mitchell, Rho GTPase-dependent signaling is required for macrophage migration inhibitory factor-mediated expression of cyclin D1, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 23066–23072.
- [6] J.D. Hudson, M.A. Shoaibi, R. Maestro, A. Carnero, G.J. Hannon, D.H. Beach, A proinflammatory cytokine inhibits p53 tumor suppressor activity, J. Exp. Med. 190 (1999) 1375–1382.
- [7] O. Petrenko, G. Fingerle-Rowson, T. Peng, R.A. Mitchell, C.N. Metz, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor deficiency is associated with altered cell growth and reduced susceptibility to Ras-mediated transformation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 11078–11085.
- [8] O. Petrenko, U.M. Moll, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor MIF interferes with the Rb-E2F pathway, Mol. Cell 17 (2005) 225–236.
- [9] H. Lue, M. Thiele, J. Franz, E. Dahl, S. Speckgens, L. Leng, G. Fingerle-Rowson, R. Bucala, B. Luscher, J. Bernhagen, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) promotes cell survival by activation of the Akt pathway and role for CSN5/JAB1 in the control of autocrine MIF activity, Oncogene 26 (2007) 5046–5059.
- [10] J.M. Wilson, P.L. Coletta, R.J. Cuthbert, N. Scott, K. MacLennan, G. Hawcroft, L. Leng, J.B. Lubetsky, K.K. Jin, E. Lolis, F. Medina, J.A. Brieva, R. Poulsom, A.F. Markham, R. Bucala, M.A. Hull, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes intestinal tumorigenesis, Gastroenterology 129 (2005) 1485–1503.
- [11] R. Abe, T. Peng, J. Sailors, R. Bucala, C.N. Metz, Regulation of the CTL response by macrophage migration inhibitory factor, J. Immunol. 166 (2001) 747–753.
- [12] M. Krockenberger, Y. Dombrowski, C. Weidler, M. Ossadnik, A. Honig, S. Hausler, H. Voigt, J.C. Becker, L. Leng, A. Steinle, M. Weller, R. Bucala, J. Dietl, J. Wischhusen, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor contributes to the

immune escape of ovarian cancer by down-regulating NKG2D, J. Immunol. 180 (2008) 7338-7348.

- [13] A.C. Repp, E.S. Mayhew, S. Apte, J.Y. Niederkorn, Human uveal melanoma cells produce macrophage migration-inhibitory factor to prevent lysis by NK cells, J. Immunol. 165 (2000) 710–715.
- [14] Q. Zhou, X. Yan, J. Gershan, R.J. Orentas, B.D. Johnson, Expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor by neuroblastoma leads to the inhibition of antitumor T cell reactivity in vivo, J. Immunol. 181 (2008) 1877–1886.
- [15] A. Nemajerova, P. Mena, G. Fingerle-Rowson, U.M. Moll, O. Petrenko, Impaired DNA damage checkpoint response in MIF-deficient mice, EMBO J. 26 (2007) 987–997.
- B.E. Rendon, T. Roger, I. Teneng, M. Zhao, Y. Al-Abed, T. Calandra, R.A. Mitchell, Regulation of human lung adenocarcinoma cell migration and invasion by macrophage migration inhibitory factor, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 29910–29918.
 R. Bucala, S.C. Donnelly, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a probable link
- [17] It blean, S.C. Domitiy, Matophage Ingration Initiatory factor: a probable initiatory between inflammation and cancer, Immunity 26 (2007) 281–285.
- [18] R.A. Mitchell, Mechanisms and effectors of MIF-dependent promotion of tumourigenesis, Cell. Signal. 16 (2004) 13–19.
 [19] J.E. Bolden, M.J. Peart, R.W. Johnstone, Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase
- [19] J.E. Bolden, M.J. Peart, K.W. Johnstone, Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 5 (2006) 769–784.
- [20] M.A. Glozak, E. Seto, Histone deacetylases and cancer, Oncogene 26 (2007) 5420-5432.
- [21] S. Minucci, P.G. Pelicci, Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 6 (2006) 38–51.
- [22] T.R. Hebbes, A.W. Thorne, C. Crane-Robinson, A direct link between core histone acetylation and transcriptionally active chromatin, EMBO J. 7 (1988) 1395–1402.
 [23] M.J. Pazin, J.T. Kadonaga, What's up and down with histone deacetylation and
- transcription? Cell 89 (1997) 325–328. [24] D.E. Sterner, S.L. Berger, Acetylation of histones and transcription-related factors,
- Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64 (2000) 435–459. [25] F. Della Ragione, V. Criniti, V. Della Pietra, A. Borriello, A. Oliva, S. Indaco, T.
- [25] F. Della Ragione, V. Criniti, V. Della Pietra, A. Borriello, A. Oliva, S. Indaco, T. Yamamoto, V. Zappia, Genes modulated by histone acetylation as new effectors of butyrate activity, FEBS Lett. 499 (2001) 199–204.
- [26] J.M. Mariadason, G.A. Corner, L.H. Augenlicht, Genetic reprogramming in pathways of colonic cell maturation induced by short chain fatty acids: comparison with trichostatin A, sulindac, and curcumin and implications for chemoprevention of colon cancer, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 4561–4572.
- [27] M.J. Peart, G.K. Smyth, R.K. van Laar, D.D. Bowtell, V.M. Richon, P.A. Marks, A.J. Holloway, R.W. Johnstone, Identification and functional significance of genes regulated by structurally different histone deacetylase inhibitors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 3697–3702.
- [28] C. Van Lint, S. Emiliani, E. Verdin, The expression of a small fraction of cellular genes is changed in response to histone hyperacetylation, Gene Expr. 5 (1996) 245–253.
- [29] M. Esteller, Epigenetics in cancer, N. Engl. J. Med. 358 (2008) 1148-1159.
- [30] P.A. Marks, R. Breslow, Dimethyl sulfoxide to vorinostat: development of this histone deacetylase inhibitor as an anticancer drug, Nat. Biotechnol. 25 (2007) 84–90.
- [31] T. Roger, C. Froidevaux, D. Le Roy, M.K. Reymond, A.L. Chanson, D. Mauri, K. Burns, B.M. Riederer, S. Akira, T. Calandra, Protection from lethal gram-negative bacterial sepsis by targeting Toll-like receptor 4, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 2348–2352.
- [32] J. Bernhagen, R.A. Mitchell, T. Calandra, W. Voelter, A. Cerami, R. Bucala, Purification, bioactivity, and secondary structure analysis of mouse and human macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), Biochemistry 33 (1994) 14144–14155.
- [33] T. Roger, C. Froidevaux, C. Martin, T. Calandra, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) regulates host responses to endotoxin through modulation of Tolllike receptor 4 (TLR4), J. Endotoxin Res. 9 (2003) 119–123.
- [34] J. Delaloye, T. Roger, Q.G. Steiner-Tardivel, D. Le Roy, M. Knaup Reymond, S. Akira, V. Petrilli, C.E. Gomez, B. Perdiguero, J Tschopp, G. Pantaleo, M. Esteban, T. Calandra, Innate immune sensing of Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara (MVA) is mediated by TLR2-TLR6, MDA-5 and the NALP3 inflammasome, PLoS Pathogens 5 (2009) e1000480.
- [35] N.M. Mulholland, E. Soeth, C.L. Smith, Inhibition of MMTV transcription by HDAC inhibitors occurs independent of changes in chromatin remodeling and increased histone acetylation, Oncogene 22 (2003) 4807–4818.
- [36] T.R. Radstake, F.C. Sweep, P. Welsing, B. Franke, S.H. Vermeulen, A. Geurts-Moespot, T. Calandra, R. Donn, P.L. van Riel, Correlation of rheumatoid arthritis severity with the genetic functional variants and circulating levels of macrophage migration inhibitory factor, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (2005) 3020–3029.
- [37] G. Patrone, F. Puppo, R. Cusano, M. Scaranari, I. Ceccherini, A. Puliti, R. Ravazzolo, Nuclear run-on assay using biotin labeling, magnetic bead capture and analysis by fluorescence-based RT-PCR, Biotechniques 29 (2000) 1012–1014, 1016-1017.
- [38] T. Roger, X. Ding, A.L. Chanson, P. Renner, T. Calandra, Regulation of constitutive and microbial pathogen-induced human macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) gene expression, Eur. J. Immunol. 37 (2007) 3509–3521.
- [39] T. Roger, J. David, M.P. Glauser, T. Calandra, MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4, Nature 414 (2001) 920–924.
- [40] Y. Mitani, N. Oue, Y. Hamai, P.P. Aung, S. Matsumura, H. Nakayama, N. Kamata, W. Yasui, Histone H3 acetylation is associated with reduced p21(WAF1/CIP1) expression by gastric carcinoma, J. Pathol. 205 (2005) 65–73.
- [41] H. Ryu, J. Lee, B.A. Olofsson, A. Mwidau, A. Dedeoglu, M. Escudero, E. Flemington, J. Azizkhan-Clifford, R.J. Ferrante, R.R. Ratan, Histone deacetylase inhibitors prevent oxidative neuronal death independent of expanded polyglutamine repeats via an Sp1-dependent pathway, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 4281–4286.

- [42] K.L. Meyer-Siegler, M.A. Bellino, M. Tannenbaum, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor evaluation compared with prostate specific antigen as a biomarker in patients with prostate carcinoma, Cancer 94 (2002) 1449–1456.
- [43] C.T. Shun, J.T. Lin, S.P. Huang, M.T. Lin, M.S. Wu, Expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor is associated with enhanced angiogenesis and advanced stage in gastric carcinomas, World J. Gastroenterol. 11 (2005) 3767–3771.
- [44] C.L. Smith, G.L. Hager, Transcriptional regulation of mammalian genes in vivo. A tale of two templates, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 27493–27496.
- [45] N. Camarero, A. Nadal, M.J. Barrero, D. Haro, P.F. Marrero, Histone deacetylase inhibitors stimulate mitochondrial HMG-CoA synthase gene expression via a promoter proximal Sp1 site, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (2003) 1693–1703.
- [46] H. Xiao, T. Hasegawa, K. Isobe, Both Sp1 and Sp3 are responsible for p21waf1 promoter activity induced by histone deacetylase inhibitor in NIH3T3 cells, J. Cell Biochem. 73 (1999) 291–302.
- [47] T. Yokota, Y. Matsuzaki, K. Miyazawa, F. Zindy, M.F. Roussel, T. Sakai, Histone deacetylase inhibitors activate INK4d gene through Sp1 site in its promoter, Oncogene 23 (2004) 5340–5349.
- [48] I.N. Zelko, R.J. Folz, Sp1 and Sp3 transcription factors mediate trichostatin Ainduced and basal expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 37 (2004) 1256–1271.
- [49] H. Duan, C.A. Heckman, L.M. Boxer, Histone deacetylase inhibitors down-regulate bcl-2 expression and induce apoptosis in t(14;18) lymphomas, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 1608–1619.
- [50] W. Huang, S. Zhao, S. Ammanamanchi, M. Brattain, K. Venkatasubbarao, J.W. Freeman, Trichostatin A induces transforming growth factor beta type II receptor promoter activity and acetylation of Sp1 by recruitment of PCAF/p300 to a Sp1. NF-Y complex, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 10047–10054.
- [51] M. Ferguson, P.A. Henry, R.A. Currie, Histone deacetylase inhibition is associated with transcriptional repression of the Hmga2 gene, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (2003) 3123–3133.
- [52] G. Reid, R. Metivier, C.Y. Lin, S. Denger, D. Ibberson, T. Ivacevic, H. Brand, V. Benes, E.T. Liu, F. Gannon, Multiple mechanisms induce transcriptional silencing of a

subset of genes, including oestrogen receptor alpha, in response to deacetylase inhibition by valproic acid and trichostatin A, Oncogene 24 (2005) 4894–4907.

- [53] C.S. Chen, S.C. Weng, P.H. Tseng, H.P. Lin, C.S. Chen, Histone acetylation-independent effect of histone deacetylase inhibitors on Akt through the reshuffling of protein phosphatase 1 complexes, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 38879–38887.
- [54] J. Chen, F.M. Ghazawi, W. Bakkar, Q. Li, Valproic acid and butyrate induce apoptosis in human cancer cells through inhibition of gene expression of Akt/ protein kinase B, Mol. Cancer 5 (2006) 71.
- [55] X.D. Yu, S.Y. Wang, G.A. Chen, C.M. Hou, M. Zhao, J.A. Hong, D.M. Nguyen, D.S. Schrump, Apoptosis induced by depsipeptide FK228 coincides with inhibition of survival signaling in lung cancer cells, Cancer J. 13 (2007) 105–113.
- [56] L.M. Coussens, Z. Werb, Inflammation and cancer, Nature 420 (2002) 860-867.
- [57] A. Mantovani, P. Allavena, A. Sica, F. Balkwill, Cancer-related inflammation, Nature 454 (2008) 436–444.
- [58] W.D. Culp, P. Tsagozis, M. Burgio, P. Russell, P. Pisa, D. Garland, Interference of macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in a mouse melanoma inhibits tumor establishment by up-regulating thrombospondin-1, Mol. Cancer Res. 5 (2007) 1225–1231.
- [59] T. Hagemann, S.C. Robinson, R.G. Thompson, K. Charles, H. Kulbe, F.R. Balkwill, Ovarian cancer cell-derived migration inhibitory factor enhances tumor growth, progression, and angiogenesis, Mol. Cancer Ther. 6 (2007) 1993–2002.
- [60] Y. Ren, H.M. Chan, J. Fan, Y. Xie, Y.X. Chen, W. Li, G.P. Jiang, Q. Liu, A. Meinhardt, P.K. Tam, Inhibition of tumor growth and metastasis in vitro and in vivo by targeting macrophage migration inhibitory factor in human neuroblastoma, Oncogene 25 (2006) 3501–3508.
- [61] G. Fingerle-Rowson, O. Petrenko, C.N. Metz, T.G. Forsthuber, R. Mitchell, R. Huss, U. Moll, W. Muller, R. Bucala, The p53-dependent effects of macrophage migration inhibitory factor revealed by gene targeting, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 9354–9359.
- [62] J.A. Taylor 3rd, G.A. Kuchel, P. Hegde, O.S. Voznesensky, K. Claffey, J. Tsimikas, L. Leng, R. Bucala, C. Pilbeam, Null mutation for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) is associated with less aggressive bladder cancer in mice, BMC Cancer 7 (2007) 135.

1758

5 EPIGENETIC CONTROL OF MIF EXPRESSION

Thierry Roger, Jérôme Lugrin, Xavier C. Ding, Thierry Calandra

In *MIF Handbook*, Edited by Richard Bucala, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Lte., New Jersey, 2011. Chapter II.1

This commissioned manuscript summarizes our current knowledge about the epigenetic mechanisms involved in the control of *MIF* gene expression.

5.1 Abstract

Covalent modifications of DNA by methylation and of histones by acetylation are two main mechanisms by which epigenetics regulates gene expression under physiological and pathological situations. Inhibitors of DNA methyltransferases and histone deacetylases (HDACs) are potent anticancer drugs, displaying anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities. MIF is a proinflammatory cytokine involved in the pathogenesis of inflammatory, autoimmune and infectious diseases. Lately, MIF has been shown to promote tumorigenesis, suggesting that epigenetic mechanisms participate in the control of MIF expression. Of note, the *MIF* gene lies in a CpG island, a DNA context prone to regulation by methylation. Yet, the *MIF* promoter is hypomethylated in primary and tumor cells, and demethylating agents do not affect *MIF* expression. In contrast, HDAC inhibitors impair MIF mRNA and protein expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*. At the molecular level, HDAC inhibitors decrease the recruitment of the basal transcriptional machinery to the *MIF* promoter and thereby inhibit *MIF* transcription. These data indicate that HDACs are important regulators of *MIF* expression. Therefore, inhibitors.

5.2 Epigenetics

All cells from a given organism contain essentially the same DNA information. Developmental specification relies on qualitative and quantitative differences in gene expression, which for obvious reasons of parsimony, is primarily controlled at the level of transcription. In recent years, epigenetics, defined as all meiotically and mitotically heritable changes in gene expression that are not coded in the DNA sequence (1), has profoundly transformed our vision of how gene expression is regulated.

Epigenetics comprises three main and inter-related mechanisms: DNA methylation, small interfering RNAs and post-transcriptional modifications of histones (2). Specific panels of epigenetic modifications shape the transcriptional program in a cell-specific manner. As such, the epigenome plays a central role in conserving cell characteristics by maintaining specific patterns of gene expression during somatic cell division (3-6). Yet, the epigenome is dynamic and flexible and accommodates transcriptional changes during development. Most importantly, epigenetic modifications have been directly linked to the dysregulated gene expression characterizing numerous human diseases (7). Reflecting the great interest of biomedical research in epigenetics, ambitious projects and initiatives (NIH Roadmap Epigenomics Program, ENCODE project, AHEAD project and the Epigenomics NCBI browser) have been developed to provide highly comprehensive epigenomic maps in human stem cells and in healthy and diseased tissues (8, 9). In this chapter, we will focus our attention on DNA methylation and histone acetylation as possible mechanisms involved in the control of *MIF* gene expression, as no MIF-specific micro-RNA (miRNA) has been identified thus far.

5.3 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation is probably the most studied epigenetic modification in mammals. The reversible covalent modification of 5'-methyl cytosine residues mainly occurs in the context of CpG dinucleotides. DNA methylation is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). Around 3% of cytosines are methylated in the human genome. Repetitive genomic DNA sequences are heavily methylated whereas CpG rich regions of the genome, also known as CpG islands, are commonly unmethylated in normal cells. The CpG islands are not randomly distributed. About half of these are localized in the promoter region of genes that have a widely expressed, such as *MIF*.

DNA methylation is usually associated with repressed gene expression. The methyl groups added by DNMTs protrude from cytosines and affect gene transcription through two main mechanisms. First, they inhibit the binding of transcription factors that positively regulate transcription. Second, they recruit methyl-CpG-binding proteins and other types of proteins that are involved in histone modification, chromatin compaction and gene silencing (10, 11).

DNA hypomethylation was one of the very first epigenetic alteration reported in human cancer (12). Interestingly, dysregulated DNA methylation have also been reported in neurological disorders and autoimmune diseases (7). Yet, very little is known about the mechanisms involved in DNA demethylation (10,11). Although tumor cells have globally 20-60% less 5-methyl-cytosine methylation than normal cells, they also contain subsets of hypermethylated genes. Indeed, transcriptional silencing of tumor suppressor genes resulting from the hypermethylation of CpG island promoters is a common hallmark of tumor cells (13, 14). DNA demethylating agents have been developed to revert aberrant gene silencing in cancers. The nucleoside analog 5-Azacytidine (5-Aza-CR; azacitidine, Vidaza®) and its derivative 5-Aza-2-deoxycytidine (5-Aza-CdR, decitabine, Dacogen®) have been approved for the treatment of all subtypes of myelodysplastic syndrome (15-17).

5.4 Post-transcriptional modifications by histone deacetylases

The nucleosome, the basic repeating unit of chromatin, is composed of a 147 bp section of DNA wrapped around an histone octamer composed of two copies of each of the four core histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4. Histones are subjected to post-transcriptional covalent modifications at amino-terminal tails through acetylation, ubiquitination and sumoylation of lysine, methylation of arginine and lysine, and phosphorylation of serine and threonine. Histone acetylation usually associates with specific histone methylation marks (7). Each modification affects the structure and the function of the chromatin. The open structure of transcriptionaly active euchromatin is enriched in acetylated and trimethylated H3K4, H3K36 and H3K79 histones, whereas the transcriptionaly inactive heterochromatin is characterized by hypoacetylated and highly methylated H3K9, H3K27 and H4K20 histones.

Histone acetylation is controlled by the antagonistic action of two enzyme families: histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs). HATs catalyze the transfer of an acetyl group from acetyl-coenzyme A to an amino-group of lysine residues of histones. Conversely, HDACs catalyze the hydrolysis of acetamides resulting in histone deacetylation. The name HDAC was coined because histones were the first substrates identified for lysine deacetylases (18). However, HDACs deacetylate numerous non-histones proteins such as tubulin, heat shock proteins, steroid receptors and nuclear import and transcription regulators (19, 20). HDACs are classified into two main sub-families: HDAC1-11 and the sirtuins (21). In the following sections, we will use HDACs as a generic term referring to HDAC1-11.

Aberrant gene expression due to inactivation of HATs or overexpression of HDACs is common in cancer cells. Moreover, dysregulated recruitment of HDACs to promoters is associated with transcriptional repression, notably that of cell-cycle modifiers and tumor suppressor genes, thereby contributing to oncogenesis (14, 22-24). These observations strengthened the development of pharmacological inhibitors of HDACs as novel cancer therapeutics. Indeed, HDAC inhibitors counteract cancer development by blocking DNA synthesis and inducing growth arrest, differentiation and apoptosis of tumor cells. They also reduce tumor angiogenesis, metastasis and invasion. Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA, vorinostat, Zolinza®) and depsipeptide (romidepsin, Istodax®) have been approved for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (17) and numerous additional HDAC inhibitors are now being tested in clinical trials.

Specific patterns of histone modifications by methylation and acetylation correlate with the expression of inflammatory and immune genes. HDAC inhibitors have been recently reported to exert potent anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities *in vitro* and *in vivo*. HDAC inhibitors improved outcome in models of inflammatory and auto-immune diseases such as sepsis, rheumatoid arthritis, lupus, autoimmune encephalitis, multiple sclerosis, graft versus host disease, asthma and colitis (25-31). Therefore, HDAC inhibitors are attractive therapies not only for the treatment of oncologic disorders, but also possibly for immune-related diseases (32).

92

Numerous experimental, pre-clinical and clinical observations have ascribed a central role for MIF in the pathogenesis of inflammatory, autoimmune and neoplastic diseases (33-35). Considering that these diseases are characterized by dysregulation of epigenetic marks, we hypothesized that epigenetic mechanisms may participate in the control of *MIF* expression. Since epigenetic modifications profoundly affect gene transcription, we will first summarize our current knowledge about the various DNA binding sites and trans-acting transcription factors controlling *MIF* gene expression.

5.5 *MIF* gene structure, expression and transcriptional regulation

5.5.1 *MIF* gene structure and expression

The first sequence of a human MIF cDNA and of the *MIF* gene were reported by Weiser *et al.* in 1989 (36) and by Paralkar and Wistow in 1994 (37), respectively. A single *MIF* gene spans nucleotide positions 24236191 to 24237414 on chromosome 22 (22q11.2). This region of chromosome 22 is in syntenic conservation with part of mouse chromosome 10 containing the *Mif* gene (38). Also located on chromosome 22 (22q11.23), *D-dopachrome tautomerase* is the only potential human *MIF* paralog (39). The *MIF* gene is composed of three exons of 108, 173 and 67 bp interspaced by two introns of 189 and 95 bp (Figure 1). A single RNA initiation start site located 97 bp upstream of the methionine codon is used to transcribed a 0.8 kb mRNA (37). The 345 bp openreading frame of MIF mRNA encodes for a 115 amino acid nonglycosylated protein of 12.5 kD.

Sequence analyses of the *MIF* gene revealed that it does not contain a TATA box but numerous CpG dinucleotides forming a CpG island. A CpG island is defined as a sequence of at least 200 bp with a G+C content of 50% or more and an observed to expected CpG dinucleotide ratio greater than 0.6. The *MIF* CpG island spans approximately 1.2 kb, starting 300 bp upstream of the transcriptional start site (Figure 2). In agreement with the fact that broadly expressed genes are typically lying in CpG islands, MIF is constitutively expressed as a single mRNA species of 0.8 kb in virtually all organs and cell types (summarized in (34)).

MIF gene expression increases through the action of cytokines (tumor necrosis factor, interferon- γ , interleukin(IL)-1, IL-2) (40-44), mitogens (40-44), microbial products (40, 41, 45-47)),

glucose (48), low-density lipoproteins (49, 50), UV-B (51), hypoxia (52, 53) and hormones (glucocorticoids, corticotropin-releasing factor [CRF], human chorionic gonadotropin, angiotensin) (54, 55). Of great interest, MIF is commonly over-expressed in prostate, breast, colon, brain, skin and lung cancers (56-63). Altogether, the expression patterns of MIF, its well-characterized pro-inflammatory, pro-proliferative, pro-survival and pro-angiogenic biological activities point towards a crucial role of MIF in the pathogenesis of infectious, inflammatory, auto-immune neoplastic diseases (33-35).

5.5.2 *MIF* gene transcriptional regulation

Despite the involvement of MIF in the pathogenesis of numerous diseases, few studies have analyzed the molecular mechanisms underlying the transcriptional regulation of MIF. The MIF promoter region contains putative DNA binding sites for transcription factors such as activator protein-1 (AP-1), nuclear factor (NF)-kB, E-twenty six (Ets), GATA, cAMP-responsive element (CRE) binding protein (CREB), specificity protein 1 (Sp1), hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) and a glucocorticoid receptor (GR). The first insights about MIF gene transcriptional regulation were obtained by the analysis of the activity of mouse *Mif* promoter reporter constructs in rat anterior pituitary cells. A CRE site in the vicinity of the transcriptional start site of the mouse Mif gene (located at position -48/41) was shown to mediate forskolin- and CRF-induced Mif promoter activation (64). Subsequently, Baugh *et al.* reported that hypoxia and HIF-1 α activate human *MIF* promoter activity through a HIF responsive element (HRE located at position +25). Conversely, CREB over-expression decreased *MIF* promoter activity under hypoxic conditions, whereas disruption of a proximal (-20/-11) CRE site increased HIF-1 α -mediated *MIF* promoter activity (52). The functional role of the HRE site in response to hypoxia was recently confirmed (65). We have shown that CREB and Sp1 interact with proximal CRE (-20/-11) and Sp1 (-42/-34) sites in the human MIF promoter to positively regulate constitutive promoter transcriptional activity in human monocytic (THP-1), epithelial (HeLa and A549) and keratinocytic (HaCat) cell lines and in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). The CRE and Sp1 sites also cooperate to mediate microbial product-induced MIF gene expression in monocytic cells (66). The CRE site has also been reported to relay glucocorticoid-induced MIF gene expression in CEM-C7 T cells (54). Altogether, these studies indicate that DNA regulatory elements surrounding the transcriptional start site play a central role in controlling *MIF* gene transcription. Yet, several lines of evidence suggest that more distant regulatory elements also may have a functional role (**Figure 5.1**). For example, disruption of a distal consensus GR element (GRE at -742) completely abolished glucocorticoid-inducible *MIF* promoter activity (54). Moreover, NF-kB recruitment to putative kB sites at -2538 or -1389 trans-activates *MIF* promoter in response to IL-1b and TNF in endometrial cells (42, 43).

The *MIF* gene contains two major functional polymorphisms, a five to eight CATT tetranucleotide repeat at -794 (67) and a G/C single nucleotide polymorphism at -173 (68) (**Figure 5.1**). These polymorphisms have been reported to modulate *MIF* promoter activity, to correlate with MIF expression levels, and to be associated with the susceptibility to or the outcome of infectious, inflammatory, autoimmune and neoplastic diseases as discussed in other chapters of this book. The exact mechanisms whereby these polymorphisms affect *MIF* gene transcriptional activity remain poorly understood. The -173*C SNP creates a putative AP-4 DNA binding site (68). HMG boxcontaining protein 1 (HBP1), a known negative regulator of tumorigenesis, has recently been proposed to inhibit *MIF* gene transcription in prostate cancer cells by interacting with a sequence (-811/-792) covering five CATT repeats (69).



Figure 5.1. Structure of the *MIF* **gene and MIF mRNA.** The three *MIF* exons are represented by black boxes. The κ B, glucocorticoid response element (GRE), specificity protein 1 (Sp1), cAMP-responsive element (CRE) and hypoxia-inducible factor response element (HRE) that have been functionally characterized are depicted by grey boxes. Their localization is relative to the transcriptional start site set at +1. Vertical arrows indicate the positions of the CATT₅₋₈ tetranucleotide microsatellite and the -173*G/C single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP). The translational start codon (ATG at +98/+100) and stop codon (TAA at 346+/+348) are pinpointed in the MIF mRNA.

5.6 Epigenetic control of MIF expression

5.6.1 The MIF promoter is not methylated

The human *MIF* promoter contains numerous CpG sites typically found in the proximal promoter of housekeeping genes (**Figure 5.2**). Two CpG sites are part of the proximal Sp1 and CRE binding sequences implicated in basal *MIF* promoter activity (66). To test whether CpG methylation affects *MIF* gene expression in THP-1, HeLa, A549 and HaCat cell lines, we sequenced the proximal *MIF* promoter region using sodium bisulfite-treated genomic DNA, in which 5-methyl-cytosines are protected from bisulfite-induced conversion to uracils. These analyses focused on 34 CpG sites confined in a region extending from position -300 to +1. Only two methylated cytosines located at -211 and -121 were detected in one out of five sequences in HaCat keratinocytes and THP-1 monocytic cells. Thus, the proximal *MIF* promoter is essentially not methylated in cell lines of different origins (70). Given that hypomethylation of the *MIF* promoter could account for higher MIF mRNA expression in tumor cells compared to normal cells, we analyzed CpG methylation in primary cells by bisulfite DNA sequencing. Two methylated cytosines located at -65 and -28 were detected among 12 sequences (408 CpG sites analyzed) obtained from PBMCs isolated from three healthy subjects. Altogether, these data indicate that methylation of CpG sites within the proximal *MIF* promoter is a very rare event and does not account for increased MIF expression in tumor cell lines.



Figure 5.2. The *MIF* gene is located in a cytosine guanine dinucleotide (CpG) island. *In silico* analysis of CpG sites (vertical lines) within the human *MIF* gene. *MIF* exons are depicted by grey boxes.

5.6.2 Inhibition of DNA methyl transferases (DNMTs) does not affect *MIF* gene expression

CpG island shores that refer to regions of lower CpG density close to CpG islands are subjected to methylation (71). Moreover, methylation of CpG sites located in coding sequences or distant from transcriptional start sites have been reported to affect gene expression (72, 73). We thus explored whether methylation of CpG sites outside the proximal *MIF* promoter influences *MIF* gene expression. As illustrated in **Figure 5.3**, treatment of epithelial (A549 and HeLa), keratinocytic (HaCat) and myeloid (HL-60, KG1a, U-937, THP-1) cell lines with 5-Aza-CdR does not alter MIF mRNA expression. Similar results were obtained with bone-marrow derived macrophages (66). This groundwork argues against a role for DNA methylation as an epigenetic mechanism affecting *MIF* gene expression in tumor cell lines.



Figure 5.3. Inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs), but not of DNA methyl transferases (DNMTs), inhibits MIF mRNA expression. A549, HaCat, HeLa, HL60, KG1a, U937 and THP1 cells were cultured for 18 hours with or without 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza-CdR at 5 μ M), an inhibitor of DNA methyl transferases or trichostatin A (TSA at 1 μ M), an inhibitor of histone deacetylases (HDACs). MIF and p21 (CDKN1A) mRNA expression was analyzed by northern blotting. EtBr: ethidium bromide.

5.6.3 Inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) impairs *MIF* gene expression

Dysregulated HDAC activity contributes to abnormal gene expression in tumors. Considering that MIF is overexpressed in tumor cells and that MIF levels correlate with tumor aggressiveness and metastatic potential (59, 74, 75), HDACs were attractive candidate molecules regulating *MIF* gene expression.

Trichostatin A (TSA), a natural hydroxamic acid that has inspired the design of many synthetic HDAC inhibitors including SAHA (76), is widely used to assess the role of HDACs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Valproic acid (VPA) is a chemically unrelated HDAC inhibitor used to treat epileptic seizures and bipolar disorders. TSA, SAHA and VPA powerfully inhibited MIF mRNA expression in a time- and dose-dependent manner in a panel of tumor cell lines (A549, HeLa, HaCat, HL-60, KG1a, U-937 and THP-1), in B16 melanoma and in primary macrophages (**Figure 5.3** and (70)). The inhibitory effect of TSA on *MIF* expression was specific as TSA reactivated the expression of the *CDKNIA* gene (encoding for the p21/WAF cell-cycle inhibitor). TSA reduced MIF protein expression

in cell lines, whole blood and in the circulation of mice injected with TSA (70). Altogether, these data suggest that HDACs are important regulators of *MIF* gene expression.

Combinatorial epigenetic therapies associating DNMT inhibitors and HDAC inhibitors have been shown to exert additive and synergistic clinical effects in patients with hematologic malignancies (77-79). In HeLa, HL60 and THP-1 cells, the association of 5-Aza-CdR and TSA does not amplify TSA-mediated inhibition of MIF mRNA expression (Roger et al., unpublished data), in line with the observation that the MIF promoter is hypomethylated in tumor cells.

MIF is overexpressed in multiple types of tumors and it promotes malignancies by increasing survival, proliferation and migration of tumor cells (80-82), by promoting angiogenesis (74, 83, 84) and by altering antitumor adaptive immune responses (75, 85-87). This led us to speculate that MIF might be a common target of the anticancer activity of HDAC inhibitors. Similarly, considering that MIF is a central mediator of the pathogenesis of sepsis (45, 47, 55, 88), arthritis (89), colitis (90) and lupus (91), we propose that the benefit afforded by HDAC inhibitors in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases may be related to the inhibition of MIF expression.

5.6.4 Mechanisms by which HDAC inhibitors inhibit *MIF* gene expression

Studies initiated to unravel the molecular mechanisms by which HDAC inhibition affects *MIF* gene expression revealed several unique features. Nuclear run-on assays demonstrated that TSA inhibits *MIF* gene transcription. Surprisingly however, chromatin immunoprecipitation analyses showed that TSA deacetylates histones H3 and H4 associated with the proximal *MIF* promoter (70). This observation was unexpected given that HDAC inhibitors increased overall histone acetylation. Yet, genome-wide expression studies have established that HDAC inhibition impacts on a minority of the transcriptome (2-10%) with similar proportions of genes up-regulated and down-regulated. Moreover, local hypoacetylation following HDAC inhibition have been previously observed within the *High-mobility-group A2* and *BCL2* genes (92, 93).

Because TSA reduced the acetylation of MIF promoter-associated histones, we hypothesized that the MIF promoter was less accessible to the transcription machinery. Indeed, chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments confirmed that TSA impairs the binding of Sp1, CREB and RNA polymerase II to the proximal MIF promoter. Yet, challenging the concept that hypoacetylated chromatin forms a compact structure less accessible to transcriptional regulators, accessibility studies revealed that the proximal region of the *MIF* promoter was accessible in cells cultured either with or without TSA (70). Blocking protein synthesis with cycloheximide increased early on MIF mRNA expression without modifying the acetylation of histones associated with the *MIF* promoter in cells treated with TSA. Therefore, we assume that TSA repressed *MIF* gene transcription through *de novo* protein synthesis.

5.7 Conclusions

The biological activities ascribed to MIF over the last 20 years put this cytokine as a central mediator of cell proliferation and survival, angiogenesis and inflammatory and immune responses. In line with these observations, pre-clinical and clinical studies suggest that MIF represents a therapeutic target for the treatment of immune-related and neoplastic diseases. While our understanding of MIF biology has improved markedly in recent years, little is known about the mechanisms controlling *MIF* gene expression. Very few studies have characterized the DNA-binding elements and cognate transcription factors regulating basal and stimulus-induced *MIF* transcription. Much less is known about the role of epigenetics in regulating *MIF* expression. Most recent data suggest that HDAC activity, but not DNA methylation, strongly impacts on *MIF* transcription. We speculate that the powerful inhibition of MIF expression by HDAC inhibitors contributes, at least in part, to the antitumorigenic and anti-inflammatory activities of these drugs. Further work will be required to more deeply decipher the genetic and epigenetic mechanisms controlling MIF expression in health and diseases. Besides increasing our knowledge on the biology of MIF, these studies may help developing novel MIF-directed intervention strategies for diseases associated with dysregulated MIF expression.

Acknowledgments

The authors are supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (310000-114073, 310030-118266 and 310030-132744), the Bristol-Myers Squibb Foundation, the Leenaards Foundation and the Santos-Suarez Foundation for Medical Research.

5.8 References

- 1. Holliday R. The inheritance of epigenetic defects. *Science* 1987;238(4824):163-170.
- 2. Bonasio R, Tu S, Reinberg D. Molecular signals of epigenetic states. *Science* 2010;330(6004):612-616.
- 3. Feng S, Jacobsen SE, Reik W. Epigenetic reprogramming in plant and animal development. *Science* 2010;330(6004):622-627.
- 4. Meissner A. Epigenetic modifications in pluripotent and differentiated cells. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010;28(10):1079-1088.
- 5. Margueron R, Reinberg D. Chromatin structure and the inheritance of epigenetic information. *Nat Rev Genet* 2010;11(4):285-296.
- 6. Gibney ER, Nolan CM. Epigenetics and gene expression. *Heredity* 2010;105(1):4-13.
- 7. Portela A, Esteller M. Epigenetic modifications and human disease. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010;28(10):1057-1068.
- 8. Bernstein BE, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Costello JF et al. The NIH Roadmap Epigenomics Mapping Consortium. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010;28(10):1045-1048.
- 9. Satterlee JS, Schubeler D, Ng HH. Tackling the epigenome: challenges and opportunities for collaboration. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010;28(10):1039-1044.
- 10. Wu SC, Zhang Y. Active DNA demethylation: many roads lead to Rome. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2010;11(9):607-620.
- 11. Fazzari MJ, Greally JM. Epigenomics: beyond CpG islands. *Nat Rev Genet* 2004;5(6):446-455.
- 12. Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. *Nature* 1983;301(5895):89-92.
- 13. Esteller M. Cancer epigenomics: DNA methylomes and histone-modification maps. *Nat Rev Genet* 2007;8(4):286-298.
- 14. Esteller M. Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med 2008;358(11):1148-1159.
- 15. Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E et al. Efficacy of azacitidine compared with that of conventional care regimens in the treatment of higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: a randomised, open-label, phase III study. *Lancet Oncol* 2009;10(3):223-232.
- 16. Issa JP, Kantarjian HM. Targeting DNA methylation. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009;15(12):3938-3946.
- 17. Kelly TK, De Carvalho DD, Jones PA. Epigenetic modifications as therapeutic targets. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010;28(10):1069-1078.
- 18. Inoue A, Fujimoto D. Enzymatic deacetylation of histone. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1969;36(1):146-150.
- 19. Glozak MA, Seto E. Histone deacetylases and cancer. Oncogene 2007;26(37):5420-5432.
- 20. Xu WS, Parmigiani RB, Marks PA. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: molecular mechanisms of action. *Oncogene* 2007;26(37):5541-5552.

- 21. Yang XJ, Seto E. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2008;9(3):206-218.
- 22. Bolden JE, Peart MJ, Johnstone RW. Anticancer activities of histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2006;5(9):769-784.
- 23. Minucci S, Pelicci PG. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2006;6(1):38-51.
- 24. Glozak MA, Seto E. Histone deacetylases and cancer. Oncogene 2007;26(37):5420-5432.
- 25. Choi JH, Oh SW, Kang MS et al. Trichostatin A attenuates airway inflammation in mouse asthma model. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2005;35(1):89-96.
- 26. Glauben R, Batra A, Fedke I et al. Histone hyperacetylation is associated with amelioration of experimental colitis in mice. *J Immunol* 2006;176(8):5015-5022.
- 27. Roger T, Lugrin J, Le RD et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair innate immune responses to Toll-like receptor agonists and to infection. *Blood* 2010; in press.
- 28. Reilly CM, Mishra N, Miller JM et al. Modulation of renal disease in MRL/lpr mice by suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid. *J Immunol* 2004;173(6):4171-4178.
- 29. Nishida K, Komiyama T, Miyazawa S et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor suppression of autoantibody-mediated arthritis in mice via regulation of p16INK4a and p21(WAF1/Cip1) expression. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004;50(10):3365-3376.
- 30. Mishra N, Reilly CM, Brown DR, Ruiz P, Gilkeson GS. Histone deacetylase inhibitors modulate renal disease in the MRL-lpr/lpr mouse. *J Clin Invest* 2003;111(4):539-552.
- 31. Camelo S, Iglesias AH, Hwang D et al. Transcriptional therapy with the histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* 2005;164(1-2):10-21.
- 32. Haberland M, Montgomery RL, Olson EN. The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009;10(1):32-42.
- 33. Bucala R, Donnelly SC. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a probable link between inflammation and cancer. *Immunity* 2007;26(3):281-285.
- 34. Calandra T, Roger T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a regulator of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003;3(10):791-800.
- 35. Rendon BE, Willer SS, Zundel W, Mitchell RA. Mechanisms of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF)-dependent tumor microenvironmental adaptation. *Exp Mol Pathol* 2009;86(3):180-185.
- 36. Weiser WY, Temple PA, Witek-Giannotti JS et al. Molecular cloning of a cDNA encoding a human macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1989;86(19):7522-7526.
- 37. Paralkar V, Wistow G. Cloning the human gene for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF). *Genomics* 1994;19(1):48-51.
- 38. Kozak CA, Adamson MC, Buckler CE et al. Genomic cloning of mouse MIF (macrophage inhibitory factor) and genetic mapping of the human and mouse expressed gene and nine mouse pseudogenes. *Genomics* 1995;27(3):405-411.

- 39. Esumi N, Budarf M, Ciccarelli L et al. Conserved gene structure and genomic linkage for D-dopachrome tautomerase (DDT) and MIF. *Mamm Genome* 1998;9(9):753-757.
- 40. Bacher M, Metz CN, Calandra T et al. An essential regulatory role for macrophage migration inhibitory factor in T-cell activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996;93(15):7849-7854.
- 41. Calandra T, Bernhagen J, Mitchell RA, Bucala R. The macrophage is an important and previously unrecognized source of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *J Exp Med* 1994;179(6):1895-1902.
- 42. Cao WG, Morin M, Metz C, Maheux R, Akoum A. Stimulation of macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in endometrial stromal cells by interleukin 1, beta involving the nuclear transcription factor NFkappaB. *Biol Reprod* 2005;73(3):565-570.
- 43. Cao WG, Morin M, Sengers V et al. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha up-regulates macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in endometrial stromal cells via the nuclear transcription factor NF-kappaB. *Hum Reprod* 2006;21(2):421-428.
- 44. Hirokawa J, Sakaue S, Furuya Y et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha regulates the gene expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor through tyrosine kinase-dependent pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *J Biochem* 1998;123(4):733-739.
- 45. Bernhagen J, Calandra T, Mitchell RA et al. MIF is a pituitary-derived cytokine that potentiates lethal endotoxaemia. *Nature* 1993;365(6448):756-759.
- 46. Bacher M, Meinhardt A, Lan HY et al. Migration inhibitory factor expression in experimentally induced endotoxemia. *Am J Pathol* 1997;150(1):235-246.
- 47. Calandra T, Spiegel LA, Metz CN, Bucala R. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is a critical mediator of the activation of immune cells by exotoxins of Gram-positive bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998;95(19):11383-11388.
- 48. Waeber G, Calandra T, Roduit R et al. Insulin secretion is regulated by the glucose-dependent production of islet beta cell macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997;94(9):4782-4787.
- 49. Santini E, Lupi R, Baldi S et al. Effects of different LDL particles on inflammatory molecules in human mesangial cells. *Diabetologia* 2008;51(11):2117-2125.
- 50. Burger-Kentischer A, Goebel H, Seiler R et al. Expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor in different stages of human atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 2002;105(13):1561-1566.
- 51. Shimizu T, Abe R, Ohkawara A, Nishihira J. Ultraviolet B radiation upregulates the production of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) in human epidermal keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol* 1999;112(2):210-215.
- 52. Baugh JA, Gantier M, Li L et al. Dual regulation of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression in hypoxia by CREB and HIF-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2006;347(4):895-903.
- 53. Copple BL, Bai S, Burgoon LD, Moon JO. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha regulates the expression of genes in hypoxic hepatic stellate cells important for collagen deposition and angiogenesis. *Liver Int* 2010
- 54. Leng L, Wang W, Roger T et al. Glucocorticoid-induced MIF expression by human CEM T cells. *Cytokine* 2009;48(3):177-185.

- 55. Calandra T, Bernhagen J, Metz CN et al. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. *Nature* 1995;377(6544):68-71.
- 56. Bacher M, Schrader J, Thompson N et al. Up-regulation of macrophage migration inhibitory factor gene and protein expression in glial tumor cells during hypoxic and hypoglycemic stress indicates a critical role for angiogenesis in glioblastoma multiforme. *Am J Pathol* 2003;162(1):11-17.
- 57. Tomiyasu M, Yoshino I, Suemitsu R, Okamoto T, Sugimachi K. Quantification of macrophage migration inhibitory factor mRNA expression in non-small cell lung cancer tissues and its clinical significance. *Clin Cancer Res* 2002;8(12):3755-3760.
- 58. Munaut C, Boniver J, Foidart JM, Deprez M. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression in human glioblastomas correlates with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 2002;28(6):452-460.
- 59. Meyer-Siegler KL, Bellino MA, Tannenbaum M. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor evaluation compared with prostate specific antigen as a biomarker in patients with prostate carcinoma. *Cancer* 2002;94(5):1449-1456.
- 60. White ES, Strom SR, Wys NL, Arenberg DA. Non-small cell lung cancer cells induce monocytes to increase expression of angiogenic activity. *J Immunol* 2001;166(12):7549-7555.
- 61. Ogawa H, Nishihira J, Sato Y et al. An antibody for macrophage migration inhibitory factor suppresses tumour growth and inhibits tumour-associated angiogenesis. *Cytokine* 2000;12(4):309-314.
- 62. Shimizu T, Abe R, Nakamura H et al. High expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor in human melanoma cells and its role in tumor cell growth and angiogenesis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1999;264(3):751-758.
- 63. Chesney J, Metz C, Bacher M et al. An essential role for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) in angiogenesis and the growth of a murine lymphoma. *Mol Med* 1999;5(3):181-191.
- 64. Waeber G, Thompson N, Chautard T et al. Transcriptional activation of the macrophage migration-inhibitory factor gene by the corticotropin-releasing factor is mediated by the cyclic adenosine 3',5'- monophosphate responsive element-binding protein CREB in pituitary cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 1998;12(5):698-705.
- 65. Elsby LM, Donn R, Alourfi Z et al. Hypoxia and glucocorticoid signaling converge to regulate macrophage migration inhibitory factor gene expression. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009;60(8):2220-2231.
- 66. Roger T, Ding X, Chanson AL, Renner P, Calandra T. Regulation of constitutive and microbial pathogen-induced human macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) gene expression. *Eur J Immunol* 2007;37(12):3509-3521.
- 67. Baugh JA, Chitnis S, Donnelly SC et al. A functional promoter polymorphism in the macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) gene associated with disease severity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Genes Immun* 2002;3(3):170-176.
- 68. Donn RP, Shelley E, Ollier WE, Thomson W. A novel 5'-flanking region polymorphism of macrophage migration inhibitory factor is associated with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2001;44(8):1782-1785.

- 69. Chen YC, Zhang XW, Niu XH et al. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is a direct target of HBP1-mediated transcriptional repression that is overexpressed in prostate cancer. *Oncogene* 2010;29(21):3067-3078.
- 70. Lugrin J, Ding XC, Le RD et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors repress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression by targeting MIF gene transcription through a local chromatin deacetylation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009;1793(11):1749-1758.
- 71. Irizarry RA, Ladd-Acosta C, Wen B et al. The human colon cancer methylome shows similar hypo- and hypermethylation at conserved tissue-specific CpG island shores. *Nat Genet* 2009;41(2):178-186.
- 72. De Larco JE, Wuertz BR, Yee D, Rickert BL, Furcht LT. Atypical methylation of the interleukin-8 gene correlates strongly with the metastatic potential of breast carcinoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003;100(24):13988-13993.
- 73. Strathdee G, Davies BR, Vass JK, Siddiqui N, Brown R. Cell type-specific methylation of an intronic CpG island controls expression of the MCJ gene. *Carcinogenesis* 2004;25(5):693-701.
- 74. Shun CT, Lin JT, Huang SP, Lin MT, Wu MS. Expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor is associated with enhanced angiogenesis and advanced stage in gastric carcinomas. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11(24):3767-3771.
- 75. Krockenberger M, Dombrowski Y, Weidler C et al. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor contributes to the immune escape of ovarian cancer by down-regulating NKG2D. *J Immunol* 2008;180(11):7338-7348.
- 76. Marks PA, Breslow R. Dimethyl sulfoxide to vorinostat: development of this histone deacetylase inhibitor as an anticancer drug. *Nat Biotechnol* 2007;25(1):84-90.
- 77. Chen J, Odenike O, Rowley JD. Leukaemogenesis: more than mutant genes. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2010;10(1):23-36.
- 78. Ma X, Ezzeldin HH, Diasio RB. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: current status and overview of recent clinical trials. *Drugs* 2009;69(14):1911-1934.
- 79. Kuendgen A, Lubbert M. Current status of epigenetic treatment in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Ann Hematol* 2008;87(8):601-611.
- 80. Mitchell RA, Metz CN, Peng T, Bucala R. Sustained mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and cytoplasmic phospholipase A2 activation by macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF). Regulatory role in cell proliferation and glucocorticoid action. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274(25):18100-18106.
- 81. Swant JD, Rendon BE, Symons M, Mitchell RA. Rho GTPase-dependent signaling is required for macrophage migration inhibitory factor-mediated expression of cyclin D1. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280(24):23066-23072.
- 82. Piette C, Deprez M, Roger T et al. The dexamethasone-induced inhibition of proliferation, migration, and invasion in glioma cell lines is antagonized by macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) and can be enhanced by specific MIF inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* 2009;284(47):32483-32492.
- 83. Chesney J, Metz C, Bacher M et al. An essential role for macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) in angiogenesis and the growth of a murine lymphoma. *Mol Med* 1999;5(3):181-191.
- 84. Meyer-Siegler KL, Iczkowski KA, Leng L, Bucala R, Vera PL. Inhibition of macrophage migration inhibitory factor or its receptor (CD74) attenuates growth and invasion of DU-145 prostate cancer cells. *J Immunol* 2006;177(12):8730-8739.
- 85. Repp AC, Mayhew ES, Apte S, Niederkorn JY. Human uveal melanoma cells produce macrophage migration-inhibitory factor to prevent lysis by NK cells. *J Immunol* 2000;165(2):710-715.
- 86. Abe R, Peng T, Sailors J, Bucala R, Metz CN. Regulation of the CTL response by macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *J Immunol* 2001;166(2):747-753.
- 87. Zhou Q, Yan X, Gershan J, Orentas RJ, Johnson BD. Expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor by neuroblastoma leads to the inhibition of antitumor T cell reactivity in vivo. *J Immunol* 2008;181(3):1877-1886.
- 88. Calandra T, Echtenacher B, Roy DL et al. Protection from septic shock by neutralization of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *Nat Med* 2000;6(2):164-170.
- 89. Mikulowska A, Metz CN, Bucala R, Holmdahl R. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is involved in the pathogenesis of collagen type II-induced arthritis in mice. *J Immunol* 1997;158(11):5514-5517.
- 90. de Jong YP, Abadia-Molina AC, Satoskar AR et al. Development of chronic colitis is dependent on the cytokine MIF. *Nat Immunol* 2001;2(11):1061-1066.
- 91. Hoi AY, Hickey MJ, Hall P et al. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor deficiency attenuates macrophage recruitment, glomerulonephritis, and lethality in MRL/lpr mice. *J Immunol* 2006;177(8):5687-5696.
- 92. Ferguson M, Henry PA, Currie RA. Histone deacetylase inhibition is associated with transcriptional repression of the Hmga2 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2003;31(12):3123-3133.
- 93. Duan H, Heckman CA, Boxer LM. Histone deacetylase inhibitors down-regulate bcl-2 expression and induce apoptosis in t(14;18) lymphomas. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25(5):1608-1619.

6 CAMBINOL, AN INHIBITOR OF SIRTUIN1 AND SIRTUIN2 DEACETYLASES, INHIBITS INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES

Jérôme Lugrin, Didier Le Roy, Gaël Grandmaison, Marlies Knaup Reymond, Thierry Calandra and Thierry Roger

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Sirtuins, the class III HDACs

SIR (silent information regulator, initially described as MAR1 (mating-type regulator1) (1)) enzymes were first discovered in the late 70s and early 80s in yeast as proteins responsible for the silencing of the mating type loci and telomeres. Twenty years later five human cDNAs with homology to yeast Sir2 gene were characterized (2). Then yeast Sir2 was shown to exhibit a deacetylase activity that was dependent on oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) (3). The substrates of the reaction are NAD⁺, H₂O and an acetyl-protein that are transformed by a sirtuin into nicotinamide (NAM), 2'-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose and deacetylated protein (Figure 6.1A). Sirtuins also possess a second catalytic activity that is mono-ADP-ribosyl transferases (ART) where NAD⁺ and a protein are transformed into nicotinamide and an ADP-ribosylated protein (Figure 6.1B). Mammalian Sir2, called SIRT (sir two like proteins) or sirtuins, are classified as class III HDACs due to their deacetylase activities. SIRT1-7 are distinguished according to their sub-cellular localization as well as their enzymatic activities (Table 6.1) (4). SIRT1 and SIRT6 are predominantly found in the nucleus, SIRT2 is cytosolic, SIRT3-5 are found in the mitochondria and SIRT7 is a nucleolar protein. Moreover, SIRT1-2 are able to shuttle between cytoplasm and nucleus and SIRT3 between mitochondria and nucleus (5). All sirtuins except SIRT4 and SIRT7 possess NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase activities, and all sirtuins except SIRT5 and SIRT7 have a ART activity (6). The biological role of ART activity remains poorly understood. Like for class I, II and IV HDACs, substrates of sirtuins comprise acetylated histones. However the vast majority of their targets are non-histone proteins involved in a variety of cell functions as explained in the following chapter.



Figure 6.1. Schematic representations of sirtuin enzymatic activities. (A) Deacetylase activity transforms NAD^+ and a protein acetylated on a lysine residue into nicotinamide, which inhibits deacetylase activity, 2'-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose as a by-product and a deacetylated protein. (B) Nicotinamide can be recycled into NAD^+ by NAMPT enzyme. Mono-ADP-ribosyl-transferase activity engages NAD^+ and a protein and releases nicotinamide while ADP-ribosylating the protein. NAD^+ , oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NAMPT, nicotinamide phosphorybosyltransferase; Nic, nicotinamide.

6.1.2 Targets of sirtuins

SIRT1 is the most documented sirtuin and the list of its targets is constantly growing. SIRT1 is a *bona fide* HDAC that possesses the capacities to deacetylate histone tails on H3K9 and H4K16, to promote the recruitment of histone H1 and its deacetylation on K26 and overall to favor heterochromatin formation and gene silencing (7). The tumor suppressor p53 has been described as a target of SIRT1. Deacetylation of p53 K382 by SIRT1 decreases its transcriptional activity (8). p53 deacetylation by SIRT1 has also been shown to promote cell survival and to decrease apoptosis in response to DNA damage and oxidative stress (9). Premature cellular senescence induced by PML (promyelocytic leukemia protein)-dependent acetylation of p53 is also antagonized by SIRT1 (10). In addition, SIRT1-deficient mice exhibit a hyperacetylated form of p53 and severe developmental heart defects (11). Besides histones and p53, SIRT1 deacetylates numerous proteins involved in the regulation of metabolism such as PGC1 α , FOXO transcription factors, the nuclear liver X receptors (LXRs), Acetyl-CoA synthase 1 (AceCS1) and the transcription factors NF- κ B p65, STAT3, c-Jun and FOXP3 (12-14).

SIRT1 and SIRT2, acting in couple with CBP/p300, regulate of the acetylation of histone H3 on H3K56 (15,16). SIRT2 deacetylates H4K16 during the cell cycle and has been proposed to favor the condensation of chromatin at the G_2/M transition (17,18). SIRT2 colocalizes on microtubules and cooperates with HDAC6 to deacetylate α -tubulin on lysine 40 (19). SIRT2 was also found to

deacetylate FOXO transcription factors, thereby inhibiting the differentiation of adipocytes (20). FOXO3 α is deacetylated by SIRT2 in response to caloric restriction and oxidative stress (21).

Mitochondrial sirtuins modulate the activity of metabolic enzymes *via* their deacetylation (SIRT3 and SIRT5) and ADP-ribosylation (SIRT4) activity (22). SIRT3 deacetylates acetyl-coenzyme A synthase 2 (AceCS2) that converts acetate to acetyl-coA. AceCS2 deacetylated by SIRT3 has an increased activity and thus plays a positive role on energy production by promoting acetyl-coA synthesis, the carbon donor used in citric cycle. SIRT3 also interacts with proteins of the complex I of the electron transport chain, reducing ATP production in Sirt3^{-/-} mice. SIRT3 deacetylates H3K56 *in vivo* without affecting global acetyl-H3K56 levels. Thus, SIRT3 probably does not regulate the expression of large portions of the genome (16). SIRT4 ADP-ribosylates and inhibits the function of glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH), an enzyme responsible for the conversion of glutamate in α -ketoglutarate and ammonia. Of note, regulation of GDH is crucial for the control of insulin secretion. SIRT5 deacetylates and activates carbamoyl phosphate synthase 1 (CPS1) a rate-limiting enzyme in the urea cycle and thus indirectly plays a positive role in the amino acid catabolism (22).

SIRT6 was described as a histone H3K9 deacetylase responsible for telomeric chromatin modulation. SIRT6-depleted cells exhibit abnormal telomeric structures, leading to the proposition that SIRT6 participates in telomere maintenance during aging (23). By deacetylating H3K9 on κ B promoters, SIRT6 attenuates the occupancy of p65 and transactivation by NF- κ B. SIRT6-deficient cells have hyperacetylated H3K9 on κ B promoters and enhanced expression of NF- κ B-dependent genes (24).

Nucleolar SIRT7 associates with actively transcribed ribosomal RNA (rRNA) genes and interacts with RNA polymerase I. Overexpression of SIRT7 increases RNA polymerase I transcription whereas knockdown of SIRT7 and inactivation of SIRT7 enzymatic activity by mutation or chemical inhibition with nicotinamide decrease transcription of rRNA genes (25).

Sirtuin	Subcellular localization	Enzymatic activities	Substrates	Biological Functions	Phenotypes associated with knockout mice
SIRT1	Nucleus	Deacetylase	Histones H1(K26), H3(K9, K14), H4(K16), H2A.Z, p53, NF-κB p65, FOXOs, FOXP3, c- JUN, c-FOS, p300/CBP, PGC1-α, HIV tat	Glucose production, fatty-acid oxidation, cholesterol regulation, fatty-acid mobilization, adipokine regulation, fatty-acid oxidation, insulin secretion, neuroprotection, regulation of cellular differentiation, stress resistance, apoptosis control, mediator for caloric restriction	Perinatal death, retinal, bone and cardiac defects
SIRT2	Cytoplasm	Deacetylase, mono- ADP-ribosyl transferase	α-tubulin, H3(K14), H4(K16), p53, FOXOs	Tubulin deacetylation, cell cycle control	Developmentally normal
SIRT3	Mitochondria	Deacetylase	AceCS2, GDH, electron transport chain Complex I	Mitochondrial protein deacetylation, acetate metabolism regulation, ATP production, regulation of mitochondrial fatty-acid oxidation	Developmentally normal, change in AceCS2 activity and ATP levels, elevated mitochondrial proteins acetylation
SIRT4	Mitochondria	Mono-ADP-ribosyl transferase	GDH	Amino acid-stimulated insulin secretion	Appear healthy, increased mitochondrial GDH activity
SIRT5	Mitochondria	Deacetylase	CPS1, cytochrome c	Urea cycle regulation	Defect in the urea cycle
SIRT6	Nucleus	Deacetylase, mono- ADP-ribosyl transferase	Н3(К9), NF-кВ рб5	Base excision repair, telomeric chromatin structure, NF-κB regulation	Progeroid syndrome, profound hypoglycaemia, death at four weeks
SIRT7	Nucleus	ND	RNA polymerase I	Pol I transcription	Reduced lifespan, cardiomyopathy

 Table 6.1. Mammalian sirtuins, their subcellular localization, enzymatic activity, substrate and biological function. Adapted from Taylor *et al.* 2008 (6) and Haigis & Sinclair, 2010 (4).

6.1.3 Sirtuins, longevity and cancer and age related diseases

The NAD⁺ requirement for the enzymatic activity of sirtuins suggested that these enzymes have evolved to sense energy and redox states coupled to the metabolic status of the cell. As studies initiated in the 30s had shown that calorie restriction extend lifespan, sirtuins gained broad interest to the scientific community when Kaeberlein *et al.* demonstrated in 1999 that an extra copy of the *SIR2* gene increased lifespan of *S. cerevisiae* whereas deletion of *SIR2* conferred the opposite phenotype (26). In yeast, fly and mammals, Sir2 expression increases under caloric restriction. Remarkably, transgenic mice overexpressing SIRT1 developed a calorie restriction phenotype characterized by reduced body weight, fat mass and blood cholesterol levels (27). Altogether, these studies suggest a connection between SIRT1, calorie restriction, metabolism and longevity.

These findings generated a considerable interest in the development of SIRT1 modulators, leading to the identification by high-throughput screening of the SIRT1 activator resveratrol, a plant

polyphenol (28). Resveratrol was known to exert anticancer, cardioprotective, anti-inflammatory, antidiabetic and neuroprotective effects (29). Yet, the connection between the pharmacological effects of resveratrol and SIRT1 activation is controversial. Whether resveratrol works through regulation of sirtuin activity remains questionable. In fact, most recent work suggests that resveratrol does not directly enhance the catalytic activity of SIRT1 (30). Additional screenings identified small molecules activator of SIRT1, which improved insulin sensitivity, lowered plasma glucose and increased mitochondrial biogenesis in genetically- and diet-induced obese rodents (31). Some of these activators are currently being evaluated in phase II clinical trials in patients with metabolic diseases. Overall, SIRT1 activation is viewed as an attractive therapy for treating metabolic disorders such as obesity and type II diabetes. Beside SIRT1, SIRT2-4 have been implicated in metabolic processes (6,32-34).

It is commonly assumed that sirtuins have a positive impact on cardiac and neuronal functions. The role of sirtuins in cancer is more debatable. SIRT1 was shown to either inhibit or promote cell apoptosis by targeting p53, p73, E2F1, FOXOs and NF- κ B p65. SIRT1 can act both as a tumor promoter and a tumor suppressor, depending on the model studied. Adding a level of complexity, SIRT2, SIRT5 and SIRT7 deacetylate p53. SIRT1-3 and SIRT7 are overexpressed in tumors whereas SIRT2 and SIRT4 are down-regulated in gliomas and myeloid leukemia cells (34-37). Yet, there is up to now no direct correlation between sirtuin activity and a particular type of cancer. Recent studies suggest that SIRT2 protects the integrity of the genome during mitosis and consequently prevents cancer development (38). SIRT2 has been shown to play a role in neurodegenerative disease and its inhibition to have neuroprotective effects against anoxic injury (39). Interestingly, SIRT2 deacetylates α -tubulin, a process that may contribute to increase the efficacy of tubulin poisoning drugs.

6.1.4 Sirtuins and inflammatory disorders

Little is known on the role of sirtuins in regulating inflammatory and immune responses. A correct balance in glucose metabolism is mandatory for adequate immune responses as both hypo- and hyperglycemia are detrimental to immune-cells functions (40). Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), also called pre-B cell colony enhancing factor (PBEF) or visfatin, functions as the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of NAD. Thus, NAMPT directly

impacts on the activity of NAD-dependent enzymes such as sirtuins. NAMPT is secreted and found to be upregulated in several acute and chronic inflammatory disorders and consequently strongly links NAD metabolism to inflammation (41). Van Gool *et al.* reported that inhibition of NAMPT impairs TNF mRNA translation and TNF biosynthesis by macrophages and DCs in a SIRT6-dependent manner (42). In the same line, Bruzzone *et al.* showed that the NAMPT inhibitor FK866 causes NAD⁺ depletion in phytohemagglutinin (PHA)-activated T cells and drastically decreases cell proliferation and release of IFN γ and TNF, probably through the inactivation of SIRT6. In agreement, Sirt6^{-/-} splenocytes secrete less IFN γ in response to concanavalin A (43). FK866 exhibits beneficial effects in experimental models of autoimmune encephalomyelitis (43), collagen-induced arthritis and endotoxemia (44).

MRL/lpr mice that spontaneously develop systemic lupus displayed high levels of SIRT1 in CD4⁺ T cells. Moreover the level of anti-dsDNA antibodies and renal pathological scores are decreased in MRL/lpr mice treated with Sirt1 siRNA (45). These results clearly point towards a role of SIRT1 in the pathogenesis of lupus. Sirtinol, an inhibitor of SIRT2 and to a lesser extent SIRT1 decreases airway inflammation and hyper responsiveness in a model of ovalbumin-induced allergic airway disease through an inhibition of the SIRT1/HIF1a/VEGF axis (46). In a model of rat lung trauma-hemorrhage, sirtinol reduces TNF and IL-6 levels and attenuates tissue damage in the lung (47). SIRT1 was also shown to stimulate HIF2 α transactivation capacity by a direct interaction during hypoxia both in cultured hepatoma Hep3B cells and in living animals (48). SIRT1 downregualtion is involved in the acute metabolic decline observed in murine peripheral blood leukocytes (PBL) and liver cells of LPS-challenged mice. During the recovery phase, SIRT1 expression returns to normal levels and metabolism to homeostasis. In the liver of SIRT1^{-/-} mice, metabolism also drops following LPS-challenge, but the return to homeostasis is drastically delayed (49). High levels of NAD^+ are associated with the recruitment of SIRT1 and RelB at the TNF promoter during endotoxin tolerance, thereby favoring gene silencing (50). In addition, SIRT1 has been described as a central regulator of autophagy (51) that is known to play key roles in adaptive and innate immunity and to promote effector functions during infection (52). Finally, SIRT1 also regulates the activity of FOXO transcription factors that regulates innate immune homeostasis in *Drosophila* (53). All these studies argue in favor of a pro-inflammatory role for sirtuins and that sirtuin inhibitors may have potential for the treatment of inflammatory and immune-related disorders.

Unexpectedly however, several studies have reported an anti-inflammatory role for SIRT1. SIRT1 expression is decreased in rats exposed to cigarette smoke extracts and in smoker patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. SIRT1 expression decreases in monocyte/macrophages and is associated with an increase of both expression and acetylation of NF- κ B p65 and increased production of pro-inflammatory mediators (54-56). The reasons why sirtuins promotes both as pro- and anti-inflammatory recations are obscure and remain to be clarified. The discrepancies may originate from the different experimental settings, such as energetic status, timing or tissue and cell-type specific sirtuin expression (57). Of note, there is currently no information available on the role of sirtuins in host response to microbial infections and their possible implication in the pathophysiology of sepsis.

6.1.5 Small molecules inhibitors of Sirtuin activities

The structural differences of the active site of HDAC1-11 and sirtuins render sirtuins insensitive to the action of inhibitors of class I, II and IV HDACs. Several sirtuins inhibitors have been developed (**Table 6.2**). Sirtinol, identified by yeast cell-based phenotypic screening, is more potent towards SIRT2 (IC₅₀ 38µM) than SIRT1 (IC₅₀ 131µM), but its effects on the other human sirtuins are not known (58,59). Cambinol is a chemically stable sirtuin inhibitors related to splitomicin, a molecule inhibiting Sir2 and Sir2 homologues in yeast (60). Cambinol was identified as a sirtuin inhibitor that competes with the substrate and not with NAD⁺, thus cambinol does not interfere with other NAD⁺ binding enzymes. Cambinol inhibits SIRT1 (IC₅₀ 56 µM), SIRT2 (IC₅₀ 59 µM) and, less potently, SIRT5 (IC₅₀>300 µM) (61). Cambinol has antitumor activity in preclinical models, which results at least from an increased acetylation of p53 (62). Furthermore, cambinol-induced inhibition of SIRT1 sensitizes cells to chemotherapeutic drugs (61).

Recently specific inhibitors of SIRT1 and SIRT2 have been developed (**Table 6.2**). EX-527 was identified by high-throughput screen using bacterially expressed human SIRT1 and its activity on

mammalian cells has been confirmed *in vitro* using the Fluor-de-Lys deacetylation assay (63). EX-527 is a selective and highly potent (IC₅₀ 98 nM) SIRT1 inhibitor which promotes p53 acetylation (63). AGK2 was identified by *in vitro* screening using a fluorometric assay on a library of structural analogues of known SIRT2 inhibitors. AGK2 is a strong inhibitor of SIRT2 (IC₅₀ 3.5 μ M) that has a weak effect on SIRT1 (IC₅₀ > 50 μ M) and SIRT3 (IC₅₀ > 50 μ M) activity. In a cellular model of Parkinson's disease, AGK2 reduces α -synuclein toxicity. The protective effect is associated with increased acetylation of tubulin (64). The development of specific inhibitors will allow fine temporal inhibition of sirtuins in a variety of experimental systems and a better comprehension of sirtuin function. Unfortunately, despite great efforts, no inhibitor targeting *in vivo* only one specific sirtuin isoform has yet been obtained (58).

Table 6.2. Structure and IC_{50} of selected sirtuins inhibitors. Adapted from Cen *et al.*, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 2009 (58).

Compound	Cambinol	Sirtinol	EX-527	AGK2
	HOLONH	CH3 CH3 CH3 CH3	CI	
IC ₅₀ SIRT1	56 µM	131 µM	98 nM	$>50 \ \mu M$
IC ₅₀ SIRT2	59 µM	38 µM	Not determined	3.5 µM

6.1.6 Rational for the use of sirtuin inhibitors as anti-inflammatory agents

Depletion of NAD⁺ by FK866 has been proposed to decrease TNF and IFN γ secretion by T lymphocytes *via* an inhibition of of SIRT6 activity (43) and to reduce inflammatory parameters in rheumatoid arthritis (44). Morover, we reported in **chapter 2** that inhibition of class I and II HDACs protects animal from toxic shock and severe sepsis (65). As sirtuins share many substrates with HDAC1-11, we hypothesized that sirtuins can play a role in the modulation of innate immune responses. To verify our hypothesis, we tested whether pharmacological inhibition of SIRT1 and SIRT2 modulate innate immune responses to microbial products and infections *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

6.2 Material and Methods

6.2.1 Ethics statement

All animal procedures were approved by the Office Vétérinaire du Canton de Vaud (authorizations n°876.6 and 877.6) and performed according to our institution guidelines for animal experiments.

6.2.2 Mice, cells and reagents

Eight to 12-week-old female BALB/c mice (Charles River Laboratories) were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions and were acclimatized for at least one week before experimentation. Mouse bone marrow precursors were cultured in Iscove modified Dulbecco medium (IMDM), 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (βME) and 30% of filtered L929 cells supernatant to obtain bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs). Splenocytes were cultured in RPMI medium containing 2 mM L-glutamine and 50 µM βME. Human whole blood assay was performed as previously described (66). Human PBMCs were isolated from buffy coats of healthy blood donnors using a FicoII-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare) gradient centrifugation procedure. Mouse RAW 264.7 macrophages (ATCC TIB-71) were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium containing 2 mM L-glutamine. All media contained 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Amimed, Bioconcept), 100 UI/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin.

Trichostatin A, cambinol and DMSO were from Sigma-aldrich. Sirtinol, EX-527 and AGK2 were from Tocris Bioscience. Microbial products were: *Salmonella minnesota* ultra pure LPS (List Biologicals Laboratories), Pam₃CSK₄ lipopeptide (EMC microcollections), CpG motif containing oligonucleotide (Invivogen) and heat-inactivated *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) O18, *Klebsiella pneumonia caroli* (*K. pneumonia*), *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) and *Candida albicans* (*C. albicans*).

6.2.3 RNA analyses by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Total RNA was isolated from cells using the RNeasy kit (QIAGEN). Reverse transcription of 100 ng to 1µg was performed using the QuantiTect reverse transcription kit (QIAGEN). Relative realtime PCR was performed with a 7500 FAST Real-Time PCR System using Syber FAST mix (Applied Biosystems) and specific primer pairs (**Table 6.3**). Amplifications consisted of 40 cycles of a denaturation step at 95°C for 3s and an annealing/extension step at 60°C for 30s, with the 7500 Fast mode. Samples were tested in duplicates. mRNA expression was expressed in arbitrary units relative to mRNA expression in untreated cells and normalized with an endogenous control (*Hprt* or *Gapdh*).

Gene name	Forward	Reverse
Cd40	AGGTTTAAAGTCCCGGATGC	CCTTTGGTTTCTTGACCACCT
Gandh	CTCATGACCACAGTCCATGC	CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC
Uupun Hnrt	GTTGGATACAGGCCAGACTTTGTTG	GATTCAACTTGCGCTCATCTTAGGC
Ifna	TGAGTATTGCCAAGTTTGAGGTCA	CGCLACAGCTGGTGGAC
1jng 1116	TGAAGTTGACGGACCCCAAA	TGATGTGCTGCTGCGAGATT
1110	TTTCACTCCCAATCCATCA	
112		AUGULITUTUAUATUATUL
11120	GGAAGCACGGCAGCAGAATA	AACIIGAGGGAGAAGIAGGAAIGG
Irf8	GGGTCCAGAGCAGCTACAAG	TGTCGACCCTGTCTGTTGAG
Klf4	CCAAAGAGGGGGAAGAAGGTC	CTGTGTGAGTTCGCAGGTGT
Ly6c1	GCCAATCAGGGATCCTAACA	AGCTCAGGCTGAACAGAAGC
Maf	AAGGAGGAGGTGATCCGACT	TCTCCTGCTTGAGGTGGTCT
Mafb	CATCACCATCATCACCAAGC	AGAAGCGGTCCTCCACACTA
Md2	CAACTCCTCCGATGCAATTA	GGCACAGAACTTCCTTACGC
Nlrp3	CTTCTCTGATGAGGCCCAAG	GCAGCAAACTGGAAAGGAAG
Nos2	CTCTGACAGCCCAGAGTTCC	GAAAGGGAGAGAGGGGGAGG
Sfpi1	CTTCCAGTTCTCGTCCAAGC	TTTCTTCACCTCGCCTGTCT
Tlr1	CAATGTGGAAACAACGTGGA	TGTAACTTTGGGGGGAAGCTG
Tlr2	AAGAGGAAGCCCAAGAAAGC	CGATGGAATCGATGATGTTG
Tlr4	ACCTGGCTGGTTTACACGTC	CTGCCAGAGACATTGCAGAA
Tlr6	CAGAACTCACCAGAGGTCCAA	CGAGTATAGCGCCTCCTTTG
Tlr9	ACTGAGCACCCCTGCTTCTA	AGATTAGTCAGCGGCAGGAA
Tnf	CCAGGCGGTGCCTATGTCT	GGCCATTTGGGAACTTCTCAT

Table 6.3. Primers used in RT-PCR

6.2.4 Cytokine measurements

Cell culture supernatants or plasma were collected to measure the concentration of cytokines. Mouse TNF, IL-6, IL-1 β and IFN γ were measured using DuoSet ELISA kits (R&D Systems). For human whole blood and human PBMC/monocyte supernatants, TNF and IL-6 concentrations were measured using WEHI 164 clone 13 mouse fibrosarcoma cells (TNF) or 7TD1 mouse-mouse hybridoma cells (IL-6) bioassays (67).

6.2.5 Nitric oxide assay

Nitric oxide concentration was measured using dilutions of cell culture supernatants into Griess reagent (sulfanilamide 1%, ethylenediamine dihydrochloride N-(1-naphthyl) 0.1%, phosphoric acid (H₃PO₄) 2.5% in H₂O) and compared to serial dilutions of NaNO₂ as a standard. Dilutions of samples and standard were incubated 10 min at room temperature in a microplate and absorbance was read at 550nm using a Versamax Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices).

6.2.6 Flow cytometry

BMDMs were incubated with 2.4G2 monoclonal antibody (mAb) and CD40 monoclonal antibody (3/23-biotin revealed with CyChrome-conjugated streptavidin; BD Biosciences). Flow cytometric analyses were performed using a FACSCaliburTM flow cytometer and data analyzed using FlowJo 8.8.6 software (Tree Star, Inc.).

6.2.7 Western blot analyses

Cytoslic extracts of RAW 264.7 cells were obtained by lysis for 15 minutes on ice with Hepes 10 mM pH 7.9, KCl 10 mM, EDTA 0.1 M, EGTA 0.1 M, DTT 1 mM, PMSF 2.5 mM, NP-40 0.6%. Cells were centrifugated, supernatants contained cytosolic fraction. Pellets that contained nucleus were further rocked at 4°C in Hepes 20 mM, NaCl 0.4 mM, EDTA 1 mM, EGTA 1 mM, glycerol 10%, PMSF 1 mM, DTT 0.1 mM. Nuclear fractions were centrifuged, supernatants were enriched in nuclear proteins. Extraction buffers were completed with cOmplete Mini protease inhibitor cocktail tablets (Roche) and PhosSTOP phosphatase inhibitor cocktail tablets (Roche). Proteins were quantified using the BCA protein assay (Pierce). Cytosolic and nuclear extracts were electrophoresed through 10-12% polyacrylamide gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with antibodies specific for phosphorylated (phospho)-extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), total-ERK1/2, phospho-p38, total-p38, phospho-MEK1/2, NF-κB p65, MKP-1, acetyl-H3 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and α -tubulin (Sigma). After washing, membranes were incubated for 1 h with secondary horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG. Signals were revealed using the ECL Western blotting analyses system (GE Healthcare). To detect histones, acidsoluble proteins were extracted and analyzed by Western blotting as described previously (68) using acetylated histones H3 antibodies (06-755 Millipore).

6.2.8 Cell viability assay

Cells were cultured in duplicates or triplicates in 96-well plates in the presence or absence of drugs and stimuli for 18 h. Cell viability was indirectly assessed using the MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide)-fromazan assay (Merck).

6.2.9 In vitro microbial growth

K. pneumoniae caroli and *E. coli O18* were cultured overnight at 37°C in LB (*K. pneumoniae*) or TSB (*E. coli*) broth. *C. albicans* was cultured overnight at 30°C under agitation in YEPD broth. The following day, 40 μ l of microbial suspension were diluted in 4 ml LB broth or YEPD containing 0, 3.1, 12.5, 50 or 200 μ M cambinol and incubated at 37°C under agitation. Optical densities (OD₆₄₀) were read each hour during 6 h.

6.2.10 In vivo models

<u>Klebsiella pneumoniae sepsis:</u> 18-60 CFU of *K. pneumoniae caroli* were injected intra-nasally into mice treated with cambinol (10 mg/kg i.p. once per day for three consecutive days starting 24 h before bacterial challenge). Blood was collected 3 days after infection to quantify circulating bacteria. Body weight and survival of mice were followed at least once daily.

LPS-induced shock: Mice were injected with 350 µg LPS i.p. Cambinol (10mg/kg i.p.) was injected 1 h and 24 h after LPS challenge. Blood was collected 1 h and 6 h after LPS challenge. Body weight and survival of mice were followed at least once daily.

6.2.11 Statistical analysis

Comparisons among treatment groups were performed using the Fisher's exact test for categorical data and the Mann-Whitney tests for continuous variables. The Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival and differences were analyzed by the log-rank sum test. The analyses were performed using PRISM (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). All reported *P* values are two-sided and values of less than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Cambinol inhibits cytokine secretion by BMDMs stimulated with microbial products

To characterize the role of sirtuins in modulating innate immune responses, we first analyzed the ability of sirtuin inhibitors to interfere with the response of BMDMs stimulated with LPS and Pam₃CSK₄. We selected for these studies four inhibitors: cambinol that inhibits SIRT1 and SIRT2 with a similar efficiency, sirtinol that inhibits more efficiently SIRT2 than SIRT1, EX-527 that inhibits SIRT1, and AGK2 that inhibits SIRT2 (**Table 6.2**). BMDMs were pre-incubated for 1 h with inhibitors used at concentrations equivalent to 0.25-, 1- and 4-fold theoretical IC₅₀s and then exposed at LPS and Pam₃CSK₄. Cell culture supernatents were collected after 18 h to quantify TNF, IL-6 and IL-12p40 (**Figure 6.2** and data not shown). Cambinol strongly and dose-dependently inhibited cytokine production by BMDMs. Sirtinol inhibited cytokine production only at the highest concentrations (200 μ M). Unexpectedly, EX-527 and AGK2 exhibited marginal cytotoxicity at all concentrations tested, whereas sirtinol at 200 μ M reduced BMDM viability (measured using the MTT assay) around two-fold (data not shown). Overall, these results suggest that dual, but not single, targeting of SIRT1 and SIRT2 is required to inhibit TNF, IL-6 and IL-12p40 secretion by BMDMs.



Figure 6.2. Effect of sirtuin inhibitors on TNF and IL-6 production by BMDMs exposed to LPS and Pam₃CSK₄. BMDMs were pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol, sirtinol, EX-527 and AGK2 prior to stimulation for 18 h with LPS (10 ng/ml) (A) and Pam₃CSK₄ (10 ng/ml) (B). TNF and IL-6 concentrations in cell-culture supernatants were determined by ELISA. Results are the mean \pm SD of triplicate samples from one experiment.

To further determine wether cambinol and sirtinol at non-toxic concentrations (12.5 and 50 μ M) could interfere with the response of BMDMs to bacteria and other microbial ligands recognized through TLRs, cells were exposed to *E. coli*, *S. aureus* and to CpG ODN, a TLR9 ligand (**Figure 6.3**). Cambinol efficiently and dose-dependently inhibited TNF and IL-6 secretion triggered by all stimuli. Sirtinol inhibited TNF and IL-6 production induced by *S. aureus* and IL-6 production induced by *E. coli*. As cambinol was the most potent anti-inflammatory compound, we used cambinol in subsequent experiments analyzing the modulation of innate immune and inflammatory responses.



6.3.2 Cambinol inhibits *Tnf*, *Il6* and *Il12b* mRNA synthesis in BMDMs

To define whether cambinol inhibits cytokine production by interfering with gene transcription, *Tnf*, *Il6* and *Il12b* mRNA levels were quantified by RT-PCR in BMDMs pre-treated with cambinol for 1 h and stimulated with LPS or Pam₃CSK₄ for 1, 4 and 18 h (**Figure 6.4** and data not shown). *Tnf* mRNA increased after 1 h of exposition to LPS and Pam₃CSK₄, whereas *Il6* and *Il12b* mRNAs were detected after 4 h of stimulation. Concordant with cytokine secretion, cambinol dose-dependently inhibited LPS- and Pam₃CSK₄-induced *Tnf*, *Il6* ad *Il12b* mRNA up-regulation. These results suggest that cambinol interferes with *Tnf*, *Il6* and *Il12b* transcription.



Figure 6.4. Cambinol inhibits LPS- and Pam₃CSK₄-induced *Tnf* and *Il6* mRNA expression in BMDMs. BMDMs were pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol prior to stimulation for 1, 4 and 18 h with LPS (10 ng/ml) and Pam₃CSK₄ (10 ng/ml). *Tnf* (A) and *Il6* (B) were quantified by RT-PCR and results expressed as the ratio of cytokine to *Gapdh* mRNA levels. Data are mean \pm SD of duplicates and are representative of three independent experiments.

6.3.3 Cambinol inhibits IL-1β production by BMDMs

IL-1 β is produced through a multi-step process involving IL-1 β mRNA induction and pro-IL-1 β synthesis following TLR stimulation, and processing of pro-IL-1 β into secreted mature IL-1 β through the action of the inflammasome (69). LPS powerfully induced *Il1b* mRNA in BMDMs, a process that was substantially inhibited upon pre-incubation with cambinol (**Figure 6.5A**). To verify that this inhibition affected IL-1 β secretion, we measured IL-1 β in the cell-culture supernatants of BMDMs primed for 18 h with LPS (to accumulate the pro-form of IL-1 β), pre-incubated with or without cambinol and finally exposed for 6 h to octacalcium phosphate (OCP) crystals used as activators of NALP3 inflammasome (70). OCP induced a significant release of IL-1 β , which was severely reduced by cambinol (**Figure 6.5B**). These results confirmed the anti-inflammatory activity of cambinol in BMDMs.

Cambinol Figure 6.5. inhibits IL-1β production by BMDMs. (A) BMDMs were preincubated for 1 h with cambinol (50 µM) prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml). Il1b and Gapdh mRNA levels were quantified by RT-PCR. Data are mean \pm SD of duplicate samples. (B) BMDMs were primed overnight with LPS (100 ng/ml). Cells were washed, pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol (50 μ M) and stimulated for 6 h with octacalcium crystals (OCP, 500 µg/ml). Secreted IL-1 β was quantified by ELISA. White and grey: with and without cambinol preincubation, respectively.



6.3.4 Cambinol inhibits NO production by BMDMs

Nitric oxide (NO) is produced during the nitrosative burst through the action of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), an enzyme whose expression is induced by inflammatory stimuli. NO plays an important role in the clearing of phagocytosed bacteria and is involved in sustaining the inflammatory response (71). We assessed whether cambinol intereferes with NO production in BMDMs. Whereas LPS, Pam₃CSK₄, CpG ODN, *E. coli* and *S. aureus* promoted NO production by BMDMs primed with IFN γ , cambinol efficiently and dose-dependently decreased NO production (**Figure 6.6**).



Figure 6.6. Cambinol dose-dependently inhibits the production of nitrites/nitrates by macrophages. BMDMs were primed with IFN γ (100 U/ml, 18 h). Medium was changed and cells were pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol prior to stimulation for 18 h with LPS (10 ng/ml), Pam₃CSK₄ (10 ng/ml), CpG ODN (2 µg/ml), *E. coli* (10⁶ CFU/ml) and *S. aureus* (5x10⁶ CFU/ml). Nitrite/nitrate concentrations were determined using the Griess reagent. Data are mean ± SD of tripicate samples from one experiment.

6.3.5 Cambinol inhibits CD40 expression by BMDMs

CD40 is a co-stimulatory molecule expressed at the surface of antigen presenting cells (APCs), including macrophages, that mediates interaction with T cells. RT-PCR and flow cytometry analyses showed that *Cd40* mRNA and CD40 membrane expression was strongly up-regulated in BMDMs stimulated with LPS and Pam₃CSK₄ (**Figure 6.7**). Pre-incubation with cambinol powerfully inhibited CD40 up-regulation, suggesting that cambinol may affect APC function of macrophages.



Figure 6.7. Cambinol inhibits CD40 expression in BMDMs. BMDMs were pre-incubated for 1 h with (grey bars) or without (black bars) cambinol prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml) or Pam₃CSK₄ (10 ng/ml). (A) *Cd40* mRNA expression was quantified by RT-PCR and expressed relative to *Gapdh*. (B-C) After 18 h of stimulation, CD40 expression was analyzed by flow cytometry and expressed in mean fluorescence intensity (MFI).

6.3.6 Cambinol does not impact on the expression of macrophage differentiation markers

Conditional deletion of Sirt1 in the myeloid compartment generates macrophages with hyperacetylated NF- κ B p65 and enhanced transcription of proinflammatory genes (72). Therefore, we analyzed whether cambinol affects monocyte/macrophage differentiation by analyzing the expression of relevant transcription factors and differentiation markers: Mafb and c-Maf involved in the regulation of macrophage differentiation and inhibition of progenitor proliferation, Klf4, Sfpi1, and Irf8 that coordinate the early myeloid commitment in immature progenitors and drive monocytic differentiation, and Ly6c1 a marker of inflammatory macrophages (73). Bone-marrow cells were cultured with macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) in the presence or the absence of cambinol. Gene expression was quantified by RT-PCR at days 0, 2 and 4 of differentiation (**Figure 6.8**). Whereas *Irf8*, *Klf4*, *Spi1* and *Ly6c1* expression declined during M-CSF-induced differentiation of bone-marrow precursors, that of *Mafb* and *c-Maf* increased. Overall, cambinol had no effect on the modulation on gene expression. These preliminary results suggest that cambinol, at anti-inflammatory concentrations, does not affect monocyte/macrophage differentiation or tweak their differentiation toward a proinflammatory phenotype. Figure 6.8. Cambinol does not affect the expression of macrophage differentiation markers. Bone-marrow cells were cultured in IMDM medium containing 10% FCS and 30% L929 cells supernatant as a source of M-CSF with (white bars) or without (grey bars) cambinol (25 μ M). At day 0, 2 and 4 of culture, gene expression was quantified by RT-PCR and expressed relative to *Hprt*. Data are mean \pm SD of tripicate samples of one experiment.



6.3.7 Modulation of TLR and Nalp3 expression by cambinol

Pattern recognition molecules are essential for the sensing of microbial and danger signals. To start analyzing the molecular mechanisms whereby cambinol impairs the response of macrophages to microbial and danger products, we first quantified the expression levels of *Tlr* and *Nalp3* mRNA in BMDMs pre-incubated with cambinol and stimulated for 0, 1, 4 and 18 h with LPS. RT-PCR revealed that *Tlr1*, *Tlr2*, *Tlr6* and *Nalp3* were up-regulated in LPS-stimulated BMDMs, *Tlr9* almost not modulated and *Tlr4* transiently down-regulated (**Figure 6.9**). Whereas cambinol did not affect mRNA expression of *Tlr4* and *Tlr6*, it inhibited that of *Nalp3* early on (4 h) and that of *Tlr1* and *Tlr2* later on (18 h). Surprisingly, cambinol up-regulated *Tlr9* expression after 18 h. Therefore, the inhibition of LPS- and CpG-induced cytokine expression by cambinol (**Figure 6.2-4**) probably does not rely on a decreased TLR4 and TLR9 expression. Similarly, it is unlikely that late inhibition of *Tlr1* and *Tlr6* contributes to decrease cytokine response to Pam₃CSK₄ and *S. aureus*. Yet, we should validate these hypotheses at the protein level.



Figure 6.9. Modulation of *Tlr* **and** *Nalp3* **expression by cambinol.** BMDMs were pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol (50 μ M) prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml) for 1, 4 and 18 h. *Tlr1*, *Tlr2*, *Tlr4*, *Tlr6*, *Tlr9* (**A**) and *Nalp3* (**B**) expression was quantified by RT-PCR and results expressed relative to *Hprt* expression. Data are mean \pm SD of duplicates determinations.

Considering the above results, we decided to study the effects of cambinol on histone acetylation and signal transduction pathways elicited by microbial products in macrophages. Since these techniques require large amounts of material, we selected the mouse RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line as a model. Indeed, similar to what we observed in BMDMs, cambinol powerfully inhibited cytokine mRNA and protein expression in LPS- and Pam₃CSK₄-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages (data not shown).

6.3.8 Cambinol does not increase overall histone H3 acetylation

Inhibitors of class I and II HDACs promote global changes of histone acetylation and balance toward a net hyperacetylation of histones. To check wether global acetylation of histone H3 (acH3), a common target of class I, II and III HDACs, is modified upon cambinol treatment, we analyzed acH3 levels in RAW 264.7 macrophages pre-incubated for 1 h with cambinol and stimulated for 4 and 12 h with LPS (**Figure 6.10**). Neither cambinol nor LPS modified global histone H3 acetylation, suggesting that cambinol does not act through global reprogramming of histone acetylation. As a positive control, trichostatin A (a pan HDAC1-11 inhibitor) strongly increased acH3 levels in LPS-stimulated cells. Figure 6.10. Cambinol does not increase global acetylation of histone H3. RAW 264.7 macrophages were pre-incubated for 1 h with (+) or without (-) cambinol or TSA and exposed to LPS for 0, 4 and 12 h. Acetylated-(ac) H3 proteins were analyzed by Western blotting of acidextracted proteins. Ponceau S staining was used to control for equal loading.



6.3.9 Cambinol does not impair NF-KB p65 translocation, but inhibits MAPK phosphorylation

SIRT1- and SIRT2-dependent deacetylation of NF- κ B p65 on Lys310 has been shown to modulate the expression of NF- κ B-dependent genes (50,74,75). Since cambinol inhibits SIRT1 and SIRT2 activity, we questioned whether cambinol interferes with NF- κ B p65 nuclear translocation. RAW 264.7 macrophages were exposed to LPS for 15-240 minutes, and we analyzed cytosolic and nuclear NF- κ B p65 content by Western blotting (**Figure 6.11**). LPS promptly stimulated NF- κ B p65 nuclear translocation, a process that was not affected by cambinol pre-treatment. We will test the possibility that cambinol affects NF- κ B signaling at the DNA level (*i.e.* docking of NF- κ B to DNA and NF- κ B-mediated transcriptional activity).

Figure 6.11. Cambinol does not interfere with NF- κ B nuclear translocation. RAW 264.7 macrophages were pre-incubated for 1 h with (+) or without (-) cambinol (50 μ M) prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml). Cytosolic and nuclear NF- κ B p65 was analysed by Western blotting. Results are representative of two independent experiments.



Activation of MAPKs triggered by TLR stimulation is required for active transcription of proinflammatory genes. To test whether MAPKs were targetted by cambinol, we assessed the phosphorylation of p38, ERK1/2 and JNK in RAW 264.7 macrophages (**Figure 6.12**). Phosphorylation of p38, ERK1/2 and JNK was detected 30 minutes upon LPS stimulation and elevated up to 240 minutes. Strikingly, cambinol almost fully abrogated LPS-induced p38, ERK1/2 and JNK phosphorylation.



Figure 6.12. Cambinol inhibits MAPK phosphorylation. RAW 264.7 macrophages were pre-incubated for 1 h with (+) or without (-) cambinol (50 μ M) prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml). Expression levels of phospho (P-) and total p38, ERK1/2 and JNK were analysed by Western blotting. Results are representative of two independant experiments.

Impaired phosphorylation of MAPKs mediated by cambinol may rely on the inhibition of the upstream MAPK kinase (MAPKK) MEK1/2, or the induction/activation of MAPK phosophatases (MKPs, also known as dual-specific phosphatase or DUSP). In preliminary experiments, we focused on MKP-1 (DUSP1), which plays a key role in the feedback negative control of MAPK activation upon microbial challenge (76,77). To our surprise, cambinol neither inhibited MEK1/2 phosphorylation nor induced MKP-1 expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages (**Figure 6.13**). Thus, the mechanism by which cambinol interferes with MAPK phosphorylation remains to be identified. In preliminary experiments, we observed that cambinol potentiates the expression of several LPS-inducible DUSPs. Additional work will be required to confirm the relevance of these observations at the protein level in relation to host response to microbial stimulation.

Figure 6.13. Cambinol does not interfere with MEK1/2 activation and MKP-1 expression. RAW 264.7 macrophages were pre-incubated for 1 h with (+) or without cambinol (50 μ M) prior to stimulation with LPS (10 ng/ml). Phospho (P-) MEK1/2 and MKP-1 were analysed by Western blotting. Results are representative of two independent experiments.



6.3.10 Cambinol impairs cytokine production by splenocytes, whole blood and PBMCs

The experiments described above were performed using BMDMs and RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages. To verify that cambinol affects the response of immune cells other than macrophages, we measured the cytokine response of mouse splenocytes following polyclonal stimulation with the superantigen toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 (TSST-1) and concanavallin A (**Figure 6.14**). TSST-1

strongly induced *Il2* and *Ifng* mRNA levels in splenocytes. Pre-incubation for 1 h with cambinol at 25 μ M or above decreased *Il2* and *Ifng* mRNA expression. Moreover cambinol dose-dependently inhibited the secretion of IFN γ by splenocytes stimulated with concanavalin A. These results indicate that the anti-inflammatory effect of cambinol is not restricted to monocytes/macrophages, but is also efficient on splenocytes.



To test the effect of cambinol on cytokine production by human primary immune cells, we developed a human whole blood assay and analyzed the response of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) obtained from healthy blood donors (**Figure 6.15**). As anticipated, stimulation of whole blood and PBMCs with LPS promoted the production of great quantities of TNF and IL-6 that were dose-dependently inhibited by cambinol. Thus, cambinol reduces cytokine production induced by microbial products in both murine and human primary innate immune cells.

B





Figure 6.15. Cambinol inhibits LPS-induced TNF and IL-6 release in human whole blood and PBMCs. Whole blood (A) and PBMCs (B) were preincubated for 1 h with cambinol before stimulation for 18 h with LPS (10 ng/ml). TNF and IL-6 concentrations were measured by bioassay.

6.3.11 Cambinol protects mice from lethal endotoxemia

We developped a model of endotoxic shock to establish whether cambinol has antiinflammatory properties *in vivo*. Mice were injected intra-peritoneally (i.p.) with LPS (17.5 mg/kg). In a first series of experiments, animals were sacrified 0, 1, 4, 8 and 24 h post-innoculation to quantify *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* mRNA expression in the spleen, liver and kidney (**Figure 6.16**). In both spleen and kidney, *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* gradually decreased during the course of the analysis. On the contrary, *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* mRNA slightly increased early on in the liver (t=1-4 h for *Sirt1* and t=1 h for *Sirt2*) and then returned to basal levels after 24 h. Thus, *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* expression is modulated in a time- and tissuedependent fashion during endotoxic shock. The results argue for a possible regulatory role of situins during endotoxemia.



Figure 6.16. Expression levels of *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* mRNA in spleen, liver and kidney of endotoxic mice. BALB/c mice were injected i.p. with LPS (17.5 mg/kg). Spleen, liver and kidney were collected after 0, 1, 4, 8 and 24 h. *Sirt1* and *Sirt2* mRNA levels were quantified by RT-PCR and expressed relative to *Hprt* mRNA levels. *, 0.05 > P > 0.005, ** P < 0.005 by one-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparison test for group comparisons,

To establish whether cambinol has anti-inflammatory properties *in vivo*, cambinol (10 mg/kg) was administrated i.p. 1 h before and 24 h after LPS injection. Blood was collected 1 h after LPS administration to quantify TNF levels. Remarkably, administration of cambinol significantly

decreased TNF blood levels (P = 0.049) and increased survival from 8.3% to 46.1% (P = 0.035) (Figure 6.17).



Figure 6.17. Cambinol protects from endotoxemia. BALB/c mice were injected i.p. with LPS (17.5 mg/kg). Cambinol (10 mg/kg) or diluent (DMSO) was administrated i.p. 1 h before and 24 h after LPS challenge. (A) TNF concentrations in blood collected 1 h after LPS challenge were measured by ELISA (n=7-8 per group). (B) Survival of mice (n=12-13 per group).

6.3.12 Cambinol confers protection to severe sepsis

Next, we developped a model of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (*K. pneumoniae*) pneumonia to analyze the impact of cambinol in a model of bacterial infection. Prior performing *in vivo* experiments, we tested wether cambinol possesses any intrinsic microbicidal or microbiostatic activity. Growth curve of *K. pneumoniae* cultured with increasing concentrations of cambinol ranging from 0 to 200 μ M demonstrated that cambinol had no impact on bacterial growth *in vitro* (**Figure 6.18**). Similar results were obtained when analyzing *E. coli* and *C. albicans* (data not shown).

Figure 6.18. Cambinol does not impair the growth of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *K. pneumoniae* were seeded in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth containing 0 (black), 3.1 (green), 12.5 (blue), 50 (orange) or 200 μ M (red) cambinol and grown at 37°C under agitation. Bacterial growth was measured as the optical density read at 640 nm.



Mice were infected intranasally with 18-63 CFU *K. pneumonia* and treated with cambinol (10 mg/kg) or DMSO 24 h before, at the onset and 24 h and 48 h after infection. Blood was sampled 3 days after bacterial innoculation. Bacterial loads did not significantly differ between control and

cambinol-treated mice, albeit being 2-fold lower in cambinol treated animals (**Figure 19A**). Mice started to die 3 days post-infection in the control group. Whereas only 13.3% of mice survived infection in the control group, 60% of mice survived in the cambinol group (P = 0.015; **Figure 19B**). Thus, cambinol protects mice from lethal *K. pneumoniae* infection.



Figure 6.19. Cambinol confers protection against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* **pneumonia.** BALB/c mice (n=15 per group) were challenged intranasally with 18-63 CFU *K. pneumonia.* Cambinol (10 mg/kg) or diluent (DMSO) was administrated i.p. 24 h before, at time of challenge, 24 h and 48 h after *K. pneumonia* challenge. (A) Blood was sampled 3 days after infection to enumerate circulating bacteria. (B) Survival of mice.

6.4 Discussion

The inflammatory response can be regulated by different mechanisms that can be divided into gene-specific, signal-specific and cell-specific (78). Acetylation and deacetylation can influence the inflammatory response at these three levels. Histone modifying enzymes including HATs and HDACs have been shown to be important regulators of pro-inflammatory gene transcription in a gene-specific manner by modifying chromatin structure (79).

In the present study, we report that cambinol, an inhibitor of SIRT1 and SIRT2, inhibits the expression of cytokines, nitric oxide and CD40 induced by different microbial products in macrophages, splenocytes, whole blood and PBMCs. Moreover, cambinol reduces the expression levels of TNF and protects animals from endotoxic shock. Cambinol also increases survival rate of mice in a model of severe *K. pneumoniae* pneumonia. In line with our results, reduction of NAD bioavailability decreased TNF production in mice challenged with LPS (44).

Numerous studies have shown that acetylation modifies the structure or the activity of signal transducers and chromatin (80-83). Cambinol inhibits *Tnf*, *111b*, *116*, *1112b* and *Cd40* mRNA expression in LPS- and/or Pam₃CSK₄-stimulated macrophages, suggesting that cambinol interferes with the transcription of immune related genes. Surprisingly however, cambinol does not modify the nuclear translocation of NF- κ B, a well-known target of acetylation-dependent regulation (84,85). Yet, cambinol drastically inhibits the phosphorylation of p38, ERK1/2 and JNK without affecting the activation of the upstream MAPKK MEK1/2. At first glance, these results are surprising because NF- κ B and MAPKs pathways are usually activated concomitantly by microbial products in innate immune cells (86). Our result could be explained by a specific action of cambinol on the MAPK pathway. Supporting this assumption, SIRT1 interacts with c-Jun and reduces AP-1 transcriptional activity (80). Moreover, sirtinol induces senescence-like growth arrest and disrupts the Ras-MAPK pathway in human cancer cell lines stimulated with epidermal growth factor (87). Finally, nicotinamide inhibits the accumulation of phosphorylated ERK1/2 during the activation of primary murine B lymphocytes with LPS, anti-IgM, anti-CD40 or anti-CD38 (88). Further studies will be devoted to clarify the role of sirtuins and sirtuin inhibitors in the regulation of MAPK activity.

Although there is growing evidences that sirtuins modulate immune responses, their influence on inflammation remains poorly understood and controversial (57). Sirtuins, and primarily SIRT1, are involved in the pathogenesis of lupus, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, collagen-induced arthritis, allergic airway disease and trauma-hemorrhage (43-47). Moreover, SIRT6 is required for optimal TNF synthesis by macrophages and DCs (42) and TNF and IFN γ production by PHAstimulated peripheral blood lymphocytes (43). In line with these studies, cambinol powerfully inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines induced by microbial products and heat-killed bacteria in macrophages and splenocytes.

We observed that cambinol inhibits IL-1 β production by macrophages at least in part by decreasing *II1b* gene expression. The NALP3 inflammasome plays a key role in controlling IL-1 β secretion (69). SIRT1 has been reported to deacetylate and activate PGC-1 α , a process that in turn promotes mitochondrial activity and biogenesis (89). Interestingly, activated NALP3 inflammasome relocalizes from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to perinuclear environment and co-localize with ER and mitochondria (90). NALP3 activation is regulated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) (91) and SIRT1 promotes mitochondrial biogenesis. Thus, it would be important to analyze the effects of cambinol and SIRT1 inhibition on ROS production by mitochondria as well as NALP3 mitochondrial relocalization, as it may participate to impede IL-1 β production.

Together with ROS, reactive nitrogen species (RNS) produced by phagocytes create a hostile milieu for pathogens (71). Deficiency in inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) impairs anti-microbial host defenses (92,93). Our observation that cambinol inhibits the generation of RNS in response to LPS suggests that inhibition of sirtuins may affect bactericidal activity of phagocytes as recently shown for inhibition of class I and II HDACs (65,94).

The role of sirtuins in the differentiation of immune cells is yet obscure. One study reported that conditional deletion of SIRT1 in myeloid cells in mice favors the development of proinflammatory macrophages (72). In a model of monocyte/macrophage differentiation from bone marrow precursors, we could not detect any effect of cambinol in shaping the expression of key transcription factors or differentiation markers specific of the monocyte/macrophages lineage. The relevance of these observations will be assessed by analyzing the proportions and the phenotypes of monocytes/macrophages in mice treated with cambinol.

Several studies described anti-inflammatory properties of SIRT1, which have been associated with acetylation-dependent modulation of the activity of NF- κ B and AP-1 (80,84,85). Going well along with these observations, we observed that the SIRT1 and SIRT2 specific inhibitors EX-527 and AGK2, contrary to cambinol, increase cytokine production induced by LPS and Pam₃CSK₄ in macrophages. Moreover, sirtinol, which inhibits SIRT2 more efficiently than SIRT1, has not the same ability as cambinol to reduce cytokine secretion. Several explanations may reconcile these contradictory results.

First, sirtuins probably act in concert to control the expression of cytokine genes. The net effect on gene expression may result from a delicate balance between the opposing action of pro- and anti-inflammatory sirtuins or sirtuin-associated molecules, depending on the chromatin context. Thus highly specific sirtuin inhibitors like AGK2 and EX-527 may not act similar to more broad-spectrum inhibitors such as cambinol. Up to now, SIRT2 has not been implicated in the regulation of immune or inflammatory responses. Although catalytic inhibition of SIRT2 with AGK2 does not reduce LPS-induced TNF and IL-6 release by macrophages, targeting SIRT1 and SIRT2 using cambinol impairs *Tnf* and *Il6* gene expression. Moreover, depleting SIRT2 expression with shRNA in RAW 264.7 macrophages inhibits LPS-, Pam₃CSK₄- and CpG ODN-induced TNF release (data not shown). It is possible that SIRT2 develops anti-inflammatory in conjunction with SIRT1. In the same line, Peck *et al.* have reported that inhibition of both SIRT1 and SIRT2, and not of SIRT1 alone, induces p53 acetylation *in vivo* (95). We are currently developing a colony of Sirt2 knockout mice to be able to definitively address the role of SIRT2 in the regulation of the inflammatory and innate immune responses.

A second explanation that could account for the contradictory results reported in this study relies on the specificity of the sirtuin inhibitors, which might be broader than claimed. Although cambinol had no activity against SIRT3 and SIRT5 (61), it was not tested against other sirtuins, notably SIRT6 that was recently shown to participate to the post-transcriptional control of TNF production by dendritic cells (42). We cannot exclude a role of cambinol in inhibiting SIRT4 and SIRT7. In fact, combined treatment with of EX527 and AGK2 did not reproduce the effect of cambinol with the same efficiency (data not shown). Interestingly, cambinol showed activity when used at concentrations lower than its theoretical IC_{50} . Yet, one should also recall that the IC_{50} s of sirtuin inhibitors have been defined *in vitro* in experimental systems comprising solely sirtuins, sirtuin substrates and sirtuin inhibitors, which do not reflect the complexity of the environment of the chromatin to which sirtuins are recruited *in vivo*. Moreover, there is up to now no data on the stability, metabolism and bioavailability of sirtuin inhibitors *in vivo*.

Overall, we have demonstrated that cambinol inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokine production by innate immune cells through a mechanisms affecting gene transcription. The precise upstream mechanisms used cambinol remains to be defined. Most importantly, cambinol inhibits TNF synthesis and increases survival during endotoxic shock and augments survival to lethal *K. pneumoniae* infection, suggesting that cambinol or other drugs of this class could be used as adjunctive therapy in pathologies characterized by acute or chronic inflammatory responses and in sepsis.

6.5 References

- 1. Klar, A. J., S. Fogel, and K. Macleod. 1979. MAR1-a Regulator of the HMa and HMalpha Loci in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 93:37-50.
- 2. Frye, R. A. 1999. Characterization of five human cDNAs with homology to the yeast SIR2 gene: Sir2-like proteins (sirtuins) metabolize NAD and may have protein ADP-ribosyltransferase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 260:273-279.
- 3. Imai, S., C. M. Armstrong, M. Kaeberlein, and L. Guarente. 2000. Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature 403:795-800.
- 4. Haigis, M. C., and D. A. Sinclair. 2010. Mammalian sirtuins: biological insights and disease relevance. Annu Rev Pathol 5:253-295.
- 5. Scher, M. B., A. Vaquero, and D. Reinberg. 2007. SirT3 is a nuclear NAD+-dependent histone deacetylase that translocates to the mitochondria upon cellular stress. Genes Dev 21:920-928.
- 6. Taylor, D. M., M. M. Maxwell, R. Luthi-Carter, and A. G. Kazantsev. 2008. Biological and potential therapeutic roles of sirtuin deacetylases. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:4000-4018.
- Vaquero, A., M. Scher, D. Lee, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and D. Reinberg. 2004. Human SirT1 interacts with histone H1 and promotes formation of facultative heterochromatin. Mol Cell 16:93-105.
- Vaziri, H., S. K. Dessain, E. Ng Eaton, S. I. Imai, R. A. Frye, T. K. Pandita, L. Guarente, and R. A. Weinberg. 2001. hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell 107:149-159.
- 9. Luo, J., A. Y. Nikolaev, S. Imai, D. Chen, F. Su, A. Shiloh, L. Guarente, and W. Gu. 2001. Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell 107:137-148.
- Langley, E., M. Pearson, M. Faretta, U. M. Bauer, R. A. Frye, S. Minucci, P. G. Pelicci, and T. Kouzarides. 2002. Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence. EMBO J 21:2383-2396.
- Cheng, H. L., R. Mostoslavsky, S. Saito, J. P. Manis, Y. Gu, P. Patel, R. Bronson, E. Appella, F. W. Alt, and K. F. Chua. 2003. Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog (SIRT1)-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10794-10799.
- 12. Yu, J., and J. Auwerx. 2009. Protein deacetylation by SIRT1: An emerging key post-translational modification in metabolic regulation. Pharmacol Res .
- 13. Gao, Z., and J. Ye. 2008. Inhibition of transcriptional activity of c-JUN by SIRT1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 376:793-796.
- van Loosdregt, J., Y. Vercoulen, T. Guichelaar, Y. Y. Gent, J. M. Beekman, O. van Beekum, A. B. Brenkman, D. J. Hijnen, T. Mutis, E. Kalkhoven, B. J. Prakken, and P. J. Coffer. 2010. Regulation of Treg functionality by acetylation-mediated Foxp3 protein stabilization. Blood 115:965-974.
- Das, C., M. S. Lucia, K. C. Hansen, and J. K. Tyler. 2009. CBP/p300-mediated acetylation of histone H3 on lysine 56. Nature 459:113-117.
- Vempati, R. K., R. S. Jayani, D. Notani, A. Sengupta, S. Galande, and D. Haldar. 2010. p300mediated acetylation of histone H3 lysine 56 functions in DNA damage response in mammals. J Biol Chem 285:28553-28564.

- 17. Vaquero, A., M. B. Scher, D. H. Lee, A. Sutton, H. L. Cheng, F. W. Alt, L. Serrano, R. Sternglanz, and D. Reinberg. 2006. SirT2 is a histone deacetylase with preference for histone H4 Lys 16 during mitosis. Genes Dev 20:1256-1261.
- 18. Vaquero, A., R. Sternglanz, and D. Reinberg. 2007. NAD+-dependent deacetylation of H4 lysine 16 by class III HDACs. Oncogene 26:5505-5520.
- 19. North, B. J., B. L. Marshall, M. T. Borra, J. M. Denu, and E. Verdin. 2003. The human Sir2 ortholog, SIRT2, is an NAD+-dependent tubulin deacetylase. Mol Cell 11:437-444.
- 20. Jing, E., S. Gesta, and C. R. Kahn. 2007. SIRT2 regulates adipocyte differentiation through FoxO1 acetylation/deacetylation. Cell Metab 6:105-114.
- 21. Wang, F., M. Nguyen, F. X. Qin, and Q. Tong. 2007. SIRT2 deacetylates FOXO3a in response to oxidative stress and caloric restriction. Aging Cell 6:505-514.
- 22. Huang, J. Y., M. D. Hirschey, T. Shimazu, L. Ho, and E. Verdin. 2010. Mitochondrial sirtuins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1804:1645-1651.
- Michishita, E., R. A. McCord, E. Berber, M. Kioi, H. Padilla-Nash, M. Damian, P. Cheung, R. Kusumoto, T. L. Kawahara, J. C. Barrett, H. Y. Chang, V. A. Bohr, T. Ried, O. Gozani, and K. F. Chua. 2008. SIRT6 is a histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylase that modulates telomeric chromatin. Nature 452:492-496.
- Kawahara, T. L., E. Michishita, A. S. Adler, M. Damian, E. Berber, M. Lin, R. A. McCord, K. C. Ongaigui, L. D. Boxer, H. Y. Chang, and K. F. Chua. 2009. SIRT6 links histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylation to NF-kappaB-dependent gene expression and organismal life span. Cell 136:62-74.
- 25. Ford, E., R. Voit, G. Liszt, C. Magin, I. Grummt, and L. Guarente. 2006. Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT7 is an activator of RNA polymerase I transcription. Genes Dev 20:1075-1080.
- 26. Kaeberlein, M., M. McVey, and L. Guarente. 1999. The SIR2/3/4 complex and SIR2 alone promote longevity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by two different mechanisms. Genes Dev 13:2570-2580.
- 27. Bordone, L., D. Cohen, A. Robinson, M. C. Motta, E. van Veen, A. Czopik, A. D. Steele, H. Crowe, S. Marmor, J. Luo, W. Gu, and L. Guarente. 2007. SIRT1 transgenic mice show phenotypes resembling calorie restriction. Aging Cell 6:759-767.
- Howitz, K. T., K. J. Bitterman, H. Y. Cohen, D. W. Lamming, S. Lavu, J. G. Wood, R. E. Zipkin, P. Chung, A. Kisielewski, L. L. Zhang, B. Scherer, and D. A. Sinclair. 2003. Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. Nature 425:191-196.
- 29. Baur, J. A., and D. A. Sinclair. 2006. Therapeutic potential of resveratrol: the in vivo evidence. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:493-506.
- 30. Beher, D., J. Wu, S. Cumine, K. W. Kim, S. C. Lu, L. Atangan, and M. Wang. 2009. Resveratrol is not a direct activator of SIRT1 enzyme activity. Chem Biol Drug Des 74:619-624.
- Milne, J. C., P. D. Lambert, S. Schenk, D. P. Carney, J. J. Smith, D. J. Gagne, L. Jin, O. Boss, R. B. Perni, C. B. Vu, J. E. Bemis, R. Xie, J. S. Disch, P. Y. Ng, J. J. Nunes, A. V. Lynch, H. Yang, H. Galonek, K. Israelian, W. Choy, A. Iffland, S. Lavu, O. Medvedik, D. A. Sinclair, J. M. Olefsky, M. R. Jirousek, P. J. Elliott, and C. H. Westphal. 2007. Small molecule activators of SIRT1 as therapeutics for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Nature 450:712-716.

- 32. Bordone, L., and L. Guarente. 2005. Calorie restriction, SIRT1 and metabolism: understanding longevity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:298-305.
- 33. Finkel, T., C. X. Deng, and R. Mostoslavsky. 2009. Recent progress in the biology and physiology of sirtuins. Nature 460:587-591.
- 34. Lavu, S., O. Boss, P. J. Elliott, and P. D. Lambert. 2008. Sirtuins--novel therapeutic targets to treat age-associated diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:841-853.
- 35. Deng, C. X. 2009. SIRT1, is it a tumor promoter or tumor suppressor? Int J Biol Sci 5:147-152.
- 36. Michan, S., and D. Sinclair. 2007. Sirtuins in mammals: insights into their biological function. Biochem J 404:1-13.
- 37. Saunders, L. R., and E. Verdin. 2007. Sirtuins: critical regulators at the crossroads between cancer and aging. Oncogene 26:5489-5504.
- Inoue, T., Y. Nakayama, H. Yamada, Y. C. Li, S. Yamaguchi, M. Osaki, A. Kurimasa, M. Hiratsuka, M. Katoh, and M. Oshimura. 2009. SIRT2 downregulation confers resistance to microtubule inhibitors by prolonging chronic mitotic arrest. Cell Cycle 8:1279-1291.
- 39. Chong, Z. Z., S. H. Lin, F. Li, and K. Maiese. 2005. The sirtuin inhibitor nicotinamide enhances neuronal cell survival during acute anoxic injury through AKT, BAD, PARP, and mitochondrial associated "anti-apoptotic" pathways. Curr Neurovasc Res 2:271-285.
- 40. Calder, P. C., G. Dimitriadis, and P. Newsholme. 2007. Glucose metabolism in lymphoid and inflammatory cells and tissues. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 10:531-540.
- 41. Luk, T., Z. Malam, and J. C. Marshall. 2008. Pre-B cell colony-enhancing factor (PBEF)/visfatin: a novel mediator of innate immunity. J Leukoc Biol 83:804-816.
- Van Gool, F., M. Gallí, C. Gueydan, V. Kruys, P. P. Prevot, A. Bedalov, R. Mostoslavsky, F. W. Alt, T. De Smedt, and O. Leo. 2009. Intracellular NAD levels regulate tumor necrosis factor protein synthesis in a sirtuin-dependent manner. Nat Med 15:206-210.
- 43. Bruzzone, S., F. Fruscione, S. Morando, T. Ferrando, A. Poggi, A. Garuti, A. D'Urso, M. Selmo, F. Benvenuto, M. Cea, G. Zoppoli, E. Moran, D. Soncini, A. Ballestrero, B. Sordat, F. Patrone, R. Mostoslavsky, A. Uccelli, and A. Nencioni. 2009. Catastrophic NAD+ depletion in activated T lymphocytes through Nampt inhibition reduces demyelination and disability in EAE. PLoS One 4:e7897.
- 44. Busso, N., M. Karababa, M. Nobile, A. Rolaz, F. Van Gool, M. Galli, O. Leo, A. So, and T. De Smedt. 2008. Pharmacological inhibition of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase/visfatin enzymatic activity identifies a new inflammatory pathway linked to NAD. PLoS One 3:e2267.
- 45. Hu, N., H. Long, M. Zhao, H. Yin, and Q. Lu. 2009. Aberrant expression pattern of histone acetylation modifiers and mitigation of lupus by SIRT1-siRNA in MRL/lpr mice. Scand J Rheumatol 38:464-471.
- 46. Kim, S. R., K. S. Lee, S. J. Park, K. H. Min, Y. H. Choe, H. Moon, W. H. Yoo, H. J. Chae, M. K. Han, and Y. C. Lee. 2009. Involvement of sirtuin 1 in airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness of allergic airway disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol.
- 47. Liu, F. C., Y. J. Day, C. H. Liao, J. T. Liou, C. C. Mao, and H. P. Yu. 2009. Hemeoxygenase-1 upregulation is critical for sirtinol-mediated attenuation of lung injury after trauma-hemorrhage in a rodent model. Anesth Analg 108:1855-1861.

- 48. Dioum, E. M., R. Chen, M. S. Alexander, Q. Zhang, R. T. Hogg, R. D. Gerard, and J. A. Garcia. 2009. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stress-responsive deacetylase sirtuin 1. Science 324:1289-1293.
- 49. Zhang, Z., S. F. Lowry, L. Guarente, and B. Haimovich. 2010. Roles of Sirt1 in the Acute and Restorative Phases Following Induction of Inflammation. J Biol Chem 285:41391-41401.
- 50. Liu, T. F., B. K. Yoza, M. El Gazzar, V. T. Vachharajani, and C. E. McCall. 2011. NAD+dependent SIRT1 Deacetylase Participates in Epigenetic Reprogramming during Endotoxin Tolerance. J Biol Chem 286:9856-9864.
- 51. Lee, I. H., L. Cao, R. Mostoslavsky, D. B. Lombard, J. Liu, N. E. Bruns, M. Tsokos, F. W. Alt, and T. Finkel. 2008. A role for the NAD-dependent deacetylase Sirt1 in the regulation of autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:3374-3379.
- 52. Levine, B., N. Mizushima, and H. W. Virgin. 2011. Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. Nature 469:323-335.
- 53. Becker, T., G. Loch, M. Beyer, I. Zinke, A. C. Aschenbrenner, P. Carrera, T. Inhester, J. L. Schultze, and M. Hoch. 2010. FOXO-dependent regulation of innate immune homeostasis. Nature 463:369-373.
- 54. Yang, S. R., J. Wright, M. Bauter, K. Seweryniak, A. Kode, and I. Rahman. 2007. Sirtuin regulates cigarette smoke-induced proinflammatory mediator release via RelA/p65 NF-kappaB in macrophages in vitro and in rat lungs in vivo: implications for chronic inflammation and aging. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292:L567-L576.
- 55. Rajendrasozhan, S., S. R. Yang, V. L. Kinnula, and I. Rahman. 2008. SIRT1, an antiinflammatory and antiaging protein, is decreased in lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177:861-870.
- 56. Nakamaru, Y., C. Vuppusetty, H. Wada, J. C. Milne, M. Ito, C. Rossios, M. Elliot, J. Hogg, S. Kharitonov, H. Goto, J. E. Bemis, P. Elliott, P. J. Barnes, and K. Ito. 2009. A protein deacetylase SIRT1 is a negative regulator of metalloproteinase-9. FASEB J 23:2810-2819.
- 57. Gallí, M., F. Van Gool, and O. Leo. 2010. Sirtuins and inflammation: friends or foes? Biochem Pharmacol .
- 58. Cen, Y. 2009. Sirtuins inhibitors: The approach to affinity and selectivity. Biochim Biophys Acta .
- 59. Grozinger, C. M., E. D. Chao, H. E. Blackwell, D. Moazed, and S. L. Schreiber. 2001. Identification of a class of small molecule inhibitors of the sirtuin family of NAD-dependent deacetylases by phenotypic screening. J Biol Chem 276:38837-38843.
- 60. Posakony, J., M. Hirao, S. Stevens, J. A. Simon, and A. Bedalov. 2004. Inhibitors of Sir2: evaluation of splitomicin analogues. J Med Chem 47:2635-2644.
- 61. Heltweg, B., T. Gatbonton, A. D. Schuler, J. Posakony, H. Li, S. Goehle, R. Kollipara, R. A. Depinho, Y. Gu, J. A. Simon, and A. Bedalov. 2006. Antitumor activity of a small-molecule inhibitor of human silent information regulator 2 enzymes. Cancer Res 66:4368-4377.
- 62. Medda, F., R. J. Russell, M. Higgins, A. R. McCarthy, J. Campbell, A. M. Slawin, D. P. Lane, S. Lain, and N. J. Westwood. 2009. Novel cambinol analogs as sirtuin inhibitors: synthesis, biological evaluation, and rationalization of activity. J Med Chem 52:2673-2682.

- 63. Solomon, J. M., R. Pasupuleti, L. Xu, T. McDonagh, R. Curtis, P. S. DiStefano, and L. J. Huber. 2006. Inhibition of SIRT1 catalytic activity increases p53 acetylation but does not alter cell survival following DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 26:28-38.
- Outeiro, T. F., E. Kontopoulos, S. M. Altmann, I. Kufareva, K. E. Strathearn, A. M. Amore, C. B. Volk, M. M. Maxwell, J. C. Rochet, P. J. McLean, A. B. Young, R. Abagyan, M. B. Feany, B. T. Hyman, and A. G. Kazantsev. 2007. Sirtuin 2 inhibitors rescue alpha-synuclein-mediated toxicity in models of Parkinson's disease. Science 317:516-519.
- Roger, T., J. Lugrin, D. Le Roy, G. Goy, M. Mombelli, T. Koessler, X. C. Ding, A. L. Chanson, M. K. Reymond, I. Miconnet, J. Schrenzel, P. François, and T. Calandra. 2011. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair innate immune responses to Toll-like receptor agonists and to infection. Blood 117:1205-1217.
- 66. Lugrin, J., X. C. Ding, D. Le Roy, A. L. Chanson, F. C. Sweep, T. Calandra, and T. Roger. 2009. Histone deacetylase inhibitors repress macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) expression by targeting MIF gene transcription through a local chromatin deacetylation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793:1749-1758.
- 67. Roger, T., J. David, M. P. Glauser, and T. Calandra. 2001. MIF regulates innate immune responses through modulation of Toll-like receptor 4. Nature 414:920-924.
- 68. Mulholland, N. M., E. Soeth, and C. L. Smith. 2003. Inhibition of MMTV transcription by HDAC inhibitors occurs independent of changes in chromatin remodeling and increased histone acetylation. Oncogene 22:4807-4818.
- 69. Martinon, F., A. Mayor, and J. Tschopp. 2009. The inflammasomes: guardians of the body. Annu Rev Immunol 27:229-265.
- Pazár, B., H. K. Ea, S. Narayan, L. Kolly, N. Bagnoud, V. Chobaz, T. Roger, F. Lioté, A. So, and N. Busso. 2011. Basic calcium phosphate crystals induce monocyte/macrophage IL-1β secretion through the NLRP3 inflammasome in vitro. J Immunol 186:2495-2502.
- 71. Fang, F. C. 2004. Antimicrobial reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: concepts and controversies. Nat Rev Microbiol 2:820-832.
- 72. Schug, T. T., Q. Xu, H. Gao, A. Peres-da-Silva, D. W. Draper, M. B. Fessler, A. Purushotham, and X. Li. 2010. Myeloid deletion of SIRT1 induces inflammatory signaling in response to environmental stress. Mol Cell Biol 30:4712-4721.
- 73. Auffray, C., M. H. Sieweke, and F. Geissmann. 2009. Blood monocytes: development, heterogeneity, and relationship with dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 27:669-692.
- Yeung, F., J. E. Hoberg, C. S. Ramsey, M. D. Keller, D. R. Jones, R. A. Frye, and M. W. Mayo. 2004. Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase. EMBO J 23:2369-2380.
- Rothgiesser, K. M., S. Erener, S. Waibel, B. Lüscher, and M. O. Hottiger. 2010. SIRT2 regulates NF-κB dependent gene expression through deacetylation of p65 Lys310. J Cell Sci 123:4251-4258.
- 76. Zhao, Q., X. Wang, L. D. Nelin, Y. Yao, R. Matta, M. E. Manson, R. S. Baliga, X. Meng, C. V. Smith, J. A. Bauer, C. H. Chang, and Y. Liu. 2006. MAP kinase phosphatase 1 controls innate immune responses and suppresses endotoxic shock. J Exp Med 203:131-140.
- 77. Hammer, M., J. Mages, H. Dietrich, A. Servatius, N. Howells, A. C. Cato, and R. Lang. 2006. Dual specificity phosphatase 1 (DUSP1) regulates a subset of LPS-induced genes and protects mice from lethal endotoxin shock. J Exp Med 203:15-20.
- 78. Medzhitov, R., and T. Horng. 2009. Transcriptional control of the inflammatory response. Nat Rev Immunol 9:692-703.
- 79. Foster, S. L., and R. Medzhitov. 2009. Gene-specific control of the TLR-induced inflammatory response. Clin Immunol 130:7-15.
- Zhang, R., H. Z. Chen, J. J. Liu, Y. Y. Jia, Z. Q. Zhang, R. F. Yang, Y. Zhang, J. Xu, Y. S. Wei, D. P. Liu, and C. C. Liang. 2010. SIRT1 suppresses activator protein-1 transcriptional activity and cyclooxygenase-2 expression in macrophages. J Biol Chem 285:7097-7110.
- 81. Bäckdahl, L., A. Bushell, and S. Beck. 2009. Inflammatory signalling as mediator of epigenetic modulation in tissue-specific chronic inflammation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 41:176-184.
- 82. Adcock, I. M., L. Tsaprouni, P. Bhavsar, and K. Ito. 2007. Epigenetic regulation of airway inflammation. Curr Opin Immunol 19:694-700.
- 83. Foster, S. L., D. C. Hargreaves, and R. Medzhitov. 2007. Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. Nature 447:972-978.
- 84. Calao, M., A. Burny, V. Quivy, A. Dekoninck, and C. Van Lint. 2008. A pervasive role of histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases in an NF-kappaB-signaling code. Trends Biochem Sci 33:339-349.
- 85. Quivy, V., and C. Van Lint. 2004. Regulation at multiple levels of NF-kappaB-mediated transactivation by protein acetylation. Biochem Pharmacol 68:1221-1229.
- 86. Kumar, H., T. Kawai, and S. Akira. 2009. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 388:621-625.
- 87. Ota, H., E. Tokunaga, K. Chang, M. Hikasa, K. Iijima, M. Eto, K. Kozaki, M. Akishita, Y. Ouchi, and M. Kaneki. 2006. Sirt1 inhibitor, Sirtinol, induces senescence-like growth arrest with attenuated Ras-MAPK signaling in human cancer cells. Oncogene 25:176-185.
- 88. Daniel, J., Y. Marechal, F. Van Gool, F. Andris, and O. Leo. 2007. Nicotinamide inhibits B lymphocyte activation by disrupting MAPK signal transduction. Biochem Pharmacol 73:831-842.
- 89. Yu, J., and J. Auwerx. 2009. The role of sirtuins in the control of metabolic homeostasis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1173 Suppl 1:E10-E19.
- 90. Zhou, R., A. S. Yazdi, P. Menu, and J. Tschopp. 2010. A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Nature .
- 91. Tschopp, J. 2011. Mitochondria: Sovereign of inflammation? Eur J Immunol 41:1196-1202.
- 92. Sasaki, S., T. Miura, S. Nishikawa, K. Yamada, M. Hirasue, and A. Nakane. 1998. Protective role of nitric oxide in Staphylococcus aureus infection in mice. Infect Immun 66:1017-1022.
- 93. Shiloh, M. U., J. D. MacMicking, S. Nicholson, J. E. Brause, S. Potter, M. Marino, F. Fang, M. Dinauer, and C. Nathan. 1999. Phenotype of mice and macrophages deficient in both phagocyte oxidase and inducible nitric oxide synthase. Immunity 10:29-38.
- Mombelli, M., J. Lugrin, I. Rubino, A. -L. Chanson, M. Giddey, T. Calandra, and T. Roger. 2011. Histone deacetylase inhibitors impair bacterial phagoytosis and clearance by macrophages. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. In press.

95. Peck, B., C. Y. Chen, K. K. Ho, P. Di Fruscia, S. S. Myatt, R. C. Coombes, M. J. Fuchter, C. D. Hsiao, and E. W. Lam. 2010. SIRT inhibitors induce cell death and p53 acetylation through targeting both SIRT1 and SIRT2. Mol Cancer Ther 9:844-855.

7 CONCLUDING REMARKS & PERSPECTIVES

In contrast to our extensive knowledge of the effects of HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) in the field of cancer, much less is known about the influence of these drugs on the innate immune system. In this work, we report compelling evidences indicating that HDACi have powerful anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities *in vitro* and in *vivo*.

In **chapter 1 and 2**, we present a first comprehensive study of the effects of HDAC1-11 inhibitors (therefater called HDACi) on innate immune responses. As summarized in the illustration below, we have seen that HDACi affect numerous facets of the innate immune response. Strikingly, expression studies revealed that HDACi act essentially as negative regulators of basal and microbial product-induced expression of critical immune receptors and antimicrobial products by innate immune cells. These results strengthen the notion of a certain specificity of HDAC inhibition in altering gene expression. Indeed, a global analysis of the effects of HDACi showed that they affected the expression of only a small proportion (less than 10%) of all cellular genes in macrophages with similar proportions of genes up-regulated and down-regulated.



↓ reduced inflammation The molecular mechanisms by which HDACi interfere with gene expression are not fully understood, but are likely multiple depending on the cell type, the drug and the stimulus analyzed. In line with previous studies, HDACi did not reduce histone H4 acetylation and phosphorylation or activation of signal transduction pathways (NF- κ B, MAPKs, IRFs, STAT1, AP-1) playing a crucial role in the initiation of inflammatory and innate immune responses. We identified a new molecular mechanism by which HDACi mediate their effects through the induction of the trancriptional repressor Mi-2 β and its recruitment to the promoter region of the *Il6* gene analyzed as prototypical HDACi-targetted cytokine. Whether HDACi act preferentially or not through Mi-2 β to inhibit immune gene expression is presently unknown and will require broad scanning technology such as ChiP on chip analyses.

Treatment with VPA remarkably reduced cytokine levels and protected mice from Pam₃CSK₄induced fulminant toxic-shock. Furthermore, VPA protected animals from cecal ligation and puncture, one of the most stringent models of bacterial sepsis. Whereas major advances in antimicrobial therapy and supportive care have reduced short-term mortality from sepsis in the last twenty years, the prognosis of patients with severe infections continues to be grim. Therefore, the identification of new treatment options for septic patients remains imperative. In light of the results reported here, we propose that HDACi could represent an efficacious adjunctive therapy of severe sepsis. These drugs may have the advantage over therapies targeting a single molecule (*i.e.* antibodies) to broadly dampen pro- and anti-inflammatory reactions by reshuffling gene expression.

Histones themselves possess intrinsic pro-inflammatory properties. Histones H3 and H4 released by necrotic cells during endotoxic shock are highly toxic and promote the death of endothelial cells. It will be of interest to study the post-translational modifications of histones circulating in septic animals and to analyze whether HDACi treatment modifies the acetylation status of blood histones. Indeed, it may represent an additional mechanism by which HDACi could be beneficial by promoting detoxifying and cytoprotective effects. Furthermore, it will be of primary interest to identify the exact DAMP(s) related to circulating histones (for example histones alone or histones complexed with DNA) and the molecules or PRR(s) involved in their recognition by endothelial and immune cells.

Considering that pro-inflammatory mediators released during the course of an infection coordinate the development of innate and adaptive immunity, one may anticipate that HDACi may interfere with the generation of pathogen-specific adaptive immune responses (*i.e.* the generation of pathogen-specific T and B cells). Several studies have shown that HDACi diminish the APC function of macrophages and dendritic cells, notably through down-regulating the expression of costimulatory, adhesion and antigen presentation molecules. We have shown that microbial uptake by phagocytes is impaired by HDACi. Altogether these data suggest possible adverse effects of HDACi on the generation of adaptive response to microbes and vaccines.

VPA increased bacterial burden and mortality of mice infected with a sub-lethal inoculum of *K*. *pneumoniae*, and accelerated death rate and increased overall mortality in a model of disseminated candidiasis. These experiments definitely prove that HDACi hamper innate immune responses under pathophysiological situations, as can be expected from any treatment blocking or inhibiting the activity of innate receptors and cytokines. Although we used VPA as a model HDACi because of its low toxicity, it can be argued that VPA is employed since decades to treat epileptic patients with no major side effect. Yet, higher concentrations of VPA have been tested for cancer chemotherapy, moreover in combination with immunosuppressive therapies.

Thus, one obvious matter is to define whether HDACi affect natural host defenses in patients. Although numerous phase I and II clinical trials have been performed, no definitive answer can be given to this crucial question for several reasons. First, clinical trials testing HDACi are typically performed in patients with advanced cancer who usually have confounding underlying components and reduced life expectancy. Second, few patients have been treated for long time periods with HDACi (except VPA), so that long-term toxicity is not known. Third, whether patients were treated prophylactically with antimicrobial agents and whether episodes of infection occurred may not have been always accurately reported, as the objectives of clinical trials were to assess the bioavailability, toxicity and response of cancer to the drugs. Nonetheless, it is worthwhile to mention that patients treated with HDACi such as MS-275, VPA, SAHA and ITF2357 commonly experienced hematologic toxicity characterized by thrombocytopenia, leucopenia and neutropenia which are major risk factors

for developing severe infection. In fact, episodes of severe infection have been reported in patients treated with HDACi with or without neutropenia. Large prospective studies will be required to settle the impact of HDACi on host immune status and susceptibility to infection, especially in immunosuppressed cancer patients.

MIF is an important mediator of the inflammatory and innate immune responses, playing also a role in promoting cell proliferation and tumorigenesis. In chapter 4 and 5, we report that HDACi decrease MIF gene transcription through a local deacetylation of MIF promoter-associated histories that affects the recruitment of basal transcriptional machinery. This deacetylation is intriguing since HDACi are supposed to inhibit class I, II and IV HDACs and that these enzymes are responsible for deacetylation of histone tails. We speculate that this effect could be ascribed to the recruitment of sirtuins to the MIF promoter following treatment with HDACi. This hypothesis is relevant for two reasons. First, sirtuins are not sensitive to classical HDACi. Second, sirtuins expression is dosedependently increased by TSA in HeLa cells (results from exploratory RT-PCR analyses not shown in this manuscript) and down-regulation of MIF expression by TSA was dependent on de novo protein synthesis. To test our hypothesis, we will investigate the recruitment of sirtuins to the MIF proximal promoter in cells treated with HDACi. Another unexplored feature is that TSA did not impact on the expression levels of Sp1 and CREB, which control MIF gene basal transcription. Further work will be required to test whether TSA displaces the binding of Sp1 and CREB from the MIF promoter through a direct modification of these proteins affecting their DNA binding capacity, or through the recruitment of a transcriptional repressor competing with, or disrupting, Sp1 and CREB DNA binding.

Most interestingly, infusion of TSA reduced MIF blood levels in mice, leaving open the possibility that HDACi impair tumorigenesis by reducing MIF bioavailability. This assumption could be verfied by analyzing tumor development and MIF content in a murine model of carcinogenesis in which animals would be treated with HDACi with or without concomitent supplementation with recombinant MIF. Moreover, it would be interesting to analyze MIF production by macrophages of

the tumor microenvironment since it is well established that the proinflammatory milieu generated by macrophages sustains tumorigenesis.

Sirtuins are histone deacetylases whose role in immunity just begins to be explored. In **chapter 6**, we provide the results of experiments suggesting that inhibition of SIRT1 and SIRT2 using cambinol have strong anti-inflammatory repercussions as illustrated by reduced cytokine production. In line with these results, RAW 264.7 macrophages, in which *Sirt1* or *Sirt2* was silenced, produced lower levels of TNF and IL-6 in response to microbial products (data not shown). Having established a colony of SIRT2 knockout mice, we will be able to verify the relevance of these observations by using SIRT2 knockout cells. We will also use SIRT2 knockout animals to establish whether SIRT2 deficiency influences the differentiation of monocyte/macrophages and other immune cell types *in vivo*.

If the net anti-inflammatory effect of cambinol seems similar to the one obtained with HDACi, the mechanism underlying the action of the different drugs is probably different. Indeed, cambinol profoundly interfered with MAPK activation in macrophages stimulated with LPS, which was not the case for HDACi. As cambinol did not affect LPS-induced phosphorylation of the upstream MAPKK MEK1/2, we favor the possibility that cambinol acts through the induction of a dual-specific phosphatase (DUSP). MKP1 being excluded from a preliminary screen, we will persue by analyzing the expression of DUSPs in macrophages treated with cambinol and the effect of cambinol in macrophages in which DUSP expression will be silenced using siRNA. The binding partners of SIRT1 and/or SIRT2 in the MAPK pathway will also be explored in co-immunoprecipitation studies.

NF-κB p65 is a well-known target of SIRT1 and SIRT2. Even though we could not observe any effect of cambinol on LPS-induced NF-κB p65 nuclear translocation, it does not exclude an effect of cambinol on NF-κB p65 DNA binding or transactivating activity. These particular points will be verified in electrophoretic mobility shift assays, transfection studies using a NF-κB luciferase reporter system and chromatin immunoprecipitation of cytokine promoters. Up to now, we have analyzed the effects of cambinol on only a few aspects of innate immune responses *in vitro*. Obviously, we will have to extend our analyses on dendritic cells, and to assess the impact of sirtuin inhibition on the expression of PRRs, the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS), and the phagocytosis and the killing of pathogens by phagocytes. The effect of cambinol and SIRT1 inhibition on the production of ROS by mitochondria will be particularly scrutinized as it has recently been reported that ROS are important for NALP3 inflammasome activation and thus for the secretion of IL-1 β . Moreover, we have shown that inducible *Il1b* gene expression is reduced by cambinol.

Unfortunately, almost nothing is known on the stability, metabolism and bioavailability of sirtuin inhibitors *in vivo*. Pharmacokinetics experiments are drastically needed in order to establish efficient drug administration protocols in animal models. Nevertheless, we developped pre-clinical models demonstrating that cambinol protects mice from endotoxic shock and lethal *K. pneumoniae* infection. Although we should extend our analyses of the pathophysiological parameters in septic animals and verify that cambinol impairs host defenses to otherwise non-lethal infection, our preliminary data with cambinol miror the ones obtained using HDACi. Therefore, the same concerns about the utilization of HDACi (*i.e.* increasing susceptibility to infection particularly in immunodeficient patients) may apply to sirtuin inhibitors, especially since several sirtuin inhibitors have enterred phase II clinicals trials.

HADCi and surtuin inhibitors have very promising therapeutic potential for the treatment of a large spectrum of diseases. Our present data suggest that these drugs may increase the susceptibility to infections, especially in the immunocompromissed host. A possible way to avoid these potential adverse effects is to persue the development of new generation isoform-specific inhibitors, which may lead to the discovery of inhibitors selectively blocking the pathological action of HDACs without interfering with antimicrobial host defences.